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March 24, 2020
Dear Fellow CommScope Stockholders,

Within the industries we serve—the major cellular, cable operator, data center and enterprise networks that carry the world’s voice and data
traffic—2019 witnessed significant market headwinds that challenged us throughout much of the year. In the face of these headwinds our
team worked hard with an intense focus on execution, and we sought to maximize cash flow while driving cost and operational efficiencies
throughout the business. We remain focused on taking strategic action to ensure CommScope is positioned for continued growth in the near
and long-term.  

As part of this growth plan, we acquired ARRIS International plc (ARRIS) on April 4, 2019. CommScope and ARRIS bring together a unique
set of complementary assets and capabilities that enable end-to-end wired and wireless communication infrastructure solutions. Throughout
2019, we made notable progress regarding the ARRIS acquisition and focused on the integration of ARRIS. To encourage the success of the
ARRIS acquisition, we implemented a new approach to long-term executive compensation in 2019. You’ll read more about our approach to,
and governance of, executive compensation in our Compensation Discussion & Analysis.

Lastly, we are passionate about Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) issues and make it a priority to operate responsibly and
sustainably. Our Ethics, Compliance and Sustainability Executive Council provides senior management oversight of ESG issues and works to
ensure that CommScope addresses key stockholder ESG priorities. We focus on both short-term and long-term goals, including
environmental impact, employee safety, and workplace culture, and we invest in our workforce to attract, motivate, and retain the best talent.
You will read more about our efforts in the Corporate Responsibility, Environmental and Sustainability Highlights section in our Proxy
Summary. We ask for your voting support as we build on these investments and achievements. We invite you to share your thoughts with us
via the means described in this Proxy Statement or directly at our Annual Meeting of Stockholders. Thank you for investing in our 30,000
employees who work hard every day to earn and keep your trust.

 
Sincerely,

 

Marvin S. Edwards, Jr.
 

President and Chief Executive Officer
 

 



 

COMMSCOPE HOLDING COMPANY, INC.
1100 CommScope Place, SE
Hickory, North Carolina 28602

NOTICE OF 2020 ANNUAL MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS
 

This proxy statement and accompanying proxy (Proxy Statement) are being furnished to the stockholders of CommScope Holding Company, Inc., a Delaware corporation
(Company or CommScope), in connection with the solicitation of proxies by the Board of Directors of the Company (Board or Board of Directors) for use at the Annual Meeting
of Stockholders, and at any adjournment or postponement thereof (Annual Meeting), for the purposes set forth in this Notice of 2020 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.
 
Time, Date and Location: 1:00 p.m., local time, on Friday, May 8, 2020, WSFS Bank Center, 500 Delaware Avenue, Suite 1500, Wilmington, DE 19801
 
Who Can Vote: Only holders of our common stock, par value $0.01 per share (common stock), and shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, liquidation preference
$1,000 per share (Series A Convertible Preferred Stock) at the close of business on March 10, 2020 will be entitled to receive notice of, and to vote at, the Annual Meeting.
 
Proxy Voting: Your Vote is Important. Please vote your shares at your earliest convenience. This will ensure the presence of a quorum at the meeting. Promptly voting your
shares via the Internet, by telephone, or, if you request printed copies of the proxy materials by mail, by signing, dating and returning the enclosed proxy card or voting
instruction form will save the expenses and extra work of solicitation. If you request printed copies of the proxy materials by mail and you wish to vote by mail, we have enclosed
an envelope, postage prepaid if mailed in the United States. Submitting your proxy now will not prevent you from voting your shares at the meeting, as your proxy is revocable at
your option. You may revoke your proxy at any time before it is voted by delivering to the Company a subsequently executed proxy or a written notice of revocation or by voting
in person at the Annual Meeting.
 
Items of Business:
 
The holders of shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock will be asked:
•   To elect two directors designated by The Carlyle Group (Carlyle) for terms ending at the 2021 Annual Meeting of Stockholders or until their successors are elected and qualify

to serve.
 
The holders of shares of common stock and shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, voting together as a single class, will be asked:
•   To elect three Class I directors for terms ending at the 2023 Annual Meeting of Stockholders or until their successors are elected and qualify to serve;
•   To ratify the appointment of Ernst & Young LLP as the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm for 2020;
•   To approve, on a non-binding advisory basis, the compensation of our named executive officers (NEOs), as described in this Proxy Statement;
•   To vote, on a non-binding advisory basis, on the frequency of future advisory votes on the compensation of our NEOs;
•   To approve the issuance of common shares in connection with certain rights of holders of the Company’s Series A Convertible Preferred Stock issued in connection with the

ARRIS acquisition;
•   To approve additional shares under our 2019 Long Term Incentive Plan; and
•   To transact any other business that may properly come before the Annual Meeting.

 
Proxy Statement and Annual Report: A Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials (Notice) or this Proxy Statement are first being mailed on or about March 25, 2020.
Our 2019 Annual Report to Stockholders accompanies but is not part of these proxy materials.
 

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS,
Sincerely,

Frank B. Wyatt, II
Secretary

March 24, 2020
 

 



 

TABLE OF CONTENTS
PROXY SUMMARY 1 2019 Executive Compensation Highlights 49
   Our Pay-for-Performance Approach 51

PROXY STATEMENT 8 Executive Compensation-Related Policies and Practices 53

Questions and Answers About the Annual Meeting and Voting 8

 

II. 2019 Compensation Actions 54

III. Executive Compensation Philosophy and 61

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE MATTERS AND
COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 16

Elements  

IV. 2019 Compensation Decision-Making Process 61
Determination of Compensation Awards 61

PROPOSALS No. 1 & 2: ELECTION OF DIRECTORS
16

 
Role of the Compensation Consultant 62
Compensation Peer Group 62

Policies on Corporate Governance 24 V. Other Compensation Policies 64

Board Leadership Structure 24
Compensation Recoupment (“Clawback”) Policy
Anti-Hedging and Anti-Pledging Policies
Stock Ownership Guidelines

64
64
64The Board’s Role in Management’s Succession Planning 25

The Board’s Role in Risk Oversight 25
 

  
Director Independence 26 VI. Compensation Tables 65
Nominations for Directors 26 Summary Compensation Table for 2019 65
Director Qualifications 26  Grants of Plan-Based Awards in 2019 67
Board Composition 27

 
Narrative Supplement to Summary Compensation  

Board and Committee Evaluations 27 Table for 2019 and Grants of Plan-Based Awards  
Stockholder Communications with Board of Directors 27 in 2019 Table 68

Board Meetings, Attendance and Executive Sessions 28 Outstanding Equity Awards at December 31, 2019 69

Board Committees 28 Option Exercises and Stock Vested for 2019 70
Director Compensation 30

 
Pension Benefits for 2019 for Mr. McClelland 71

Director Compensation Table for 2019 31 Nonqualified Deferred Compensation for 2019 71

Director Options Exercised and Stock Vested for 2019 31 Potential Payments upon Termination or Change in  
   Control 74

CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED PERSON
TRANSACTIONS 32

 Equity Compensation Plan Information 81
 Compensation Committee Report 82

Investment Agreement 33  OTHER INFORMATION 83
Aircraft Agreements 34  

PROPOSAL No. 6: TO APPROVE THE ELIMINATION OF
RESTRICTIONS ON THE ISSUANCE OF COMMON SHARES
IN CONNECTION WITH THE CONVERSION OR
REDEMPTION OF THE PREFERRED SHARES OR
CARLYLE’S EXERCISE OF PARTICIPATION RIGHTS AND
ON THE VOTING OF PREFERRED SHARES 83

JP Morgan Agreements 34  
Indemnification Agreements 35  

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS 36  
BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP 38  
AUDIT MATTERS 42  
PROPOSAL No. 3: RATIFICATION OF THE APPOINTMENT OF
THE INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING
FIRM 42  

     
Audit Committee Report 44  PROPOSAL No. 7: APPROVAL OF ADDITIONAL SHARES

UNDER OUR 2019 LONG TERM INCENTIVE PLAN 87EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION 45  
PROPOSAL No. 4: ADVISORY VOTE ON EXECUTIVE
COMPENSATION 45  

 
 
Stockholders Proposals for the Company’s 2021  

 
PROPOSAL No. 5: ADVISORY VOTE ON FREQUENCY OF
ADVISORY VOTES ON EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION 46  

Annual Meeting
Available Information
Incorporation by Reference

96
97
98

Compensation Discussion and Analysis 47  APPENDIX A – RECONCILIATION OF GAAP FINANCIAL
MEASURES TO NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES A-1I. Executive Summary 48  

Say-on-Pay Results and Consideration of Stockholder Support 48

 

APPENDIX B – COMMSCOPE HOLDING COMPANY, INC.
AMENDED AND RESTATED 2019 LONG-TERM
INCENTIVE PLAN B-1Key 2019 Financial Performance Highlights 48

 

 



 
 

PROXY SUMMARY
We provide the below highlights of certain information in this Proxy Statement. As it is only a summary, please refer to the complete Proxy Statement and CommScope 2019

Annual Report before you vote.
 

 

The Annual Meeting
 
Date and Time: Friday, May 8, 2020

 1:00 pm, local time
  
Place:  WSFS Bank Center
 500 Delaware Avenue
 Suite 1500

Wilmington, DE 19801
  
Record Date:  March 10, 2020
 
Proposals Up for Vote
 
The following proposals will be voted on at the Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

 

 
Board’s

Recommendation   
Page Reference
(for more detail)

Item 1.

 

To elect two directors designated by Carlyle for terms ending at the 2021
Annual Meeting of Stockholders or until their successors are elected and
qualify to serve

✓  FOR Each
Nominee   16

 
Item 2.

 

To elect three Class I directors for terms ending at the 2023 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders or until their successors are elected and qualify
to serve

✓  FOR Each
Nominee   16

Item 3.
 

To ratify the appointment of Ernst & Young LLP as the Company’s
independent registered public accounting firm for 2020 ✓  FOR   42  

Item 4.
 

To approve, on a non-binding advisory basis, the compensation of our
NEOs, as described in this Proxy Statement ✓  FOR   45  

Item 5.
 

To vote, on a non-binding advisory basis, on the frequency of future
advisory votes on the compensation of our NEOs. ✓  EVERY YEAR   46  

Item 6.

 

To approve the issuance of common shares in connection with certain
rights of holders of the Company’s Series A Convertible Preferred Stock
issued in connection with the ARRIS acquisition

✓  FOR   83
 

Item 7.  To approve additional shares under our 2019 Long Term Incentive Plan ✓  FOR   87  
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How to Cast Your Vote
Your vote is important! Please cast your vote and play a part in the future of CommScope.
Stockholders of record, who hold shares registered in their names, can vote by:
 

Internet at calling 1-800-PROXIES mail
www.voteproxy.com toll-free from the return the signed

 United States or Canada proxy card
 

The deadline for voting online or by telephone is 11:59 p.m. EDT on May 7, 2020. If you vote by mail, your proxy card must be received
before the annual meeting.

Beneficial owners, who own shares through a bank, brokerage firm or other financial institution, can vote by returning the voting instruction
form or by following the instructions for voting via telephone or the Internet provided by their bank, broker or other organization. If you own
shares in different accounts or in more than one name, you may receive different voting instructions for each type of ownership. Please vote
all your shares.

If you are a stockholder of record or a beneficial owner who has a legal proxy to vote the shares, you may choose to vote in person at the
annual meeting. Even if you plan to attend our annual meeting in person, please cast your vote as soon as possible.

See the “Questions and Answers About the Annual Meeting and Voting” section beginning on page 8 for more details.

Board Nominees (page 17)

CommScope’s Board of Directors currently has eleven members, nine of whom are divided into three classes with staggered three-year
terms and two of whom are designees of Carlyle under the terms of the Investment Agreement with Carlyle dated November 8, 2018
(Investment Agreement) and serve one-year terms. The following table provides summary information about each director including the
nominees standing for re-election to the Board of Directors.
 
    Committees  

 Age Tenure Independent Audit Compensation

Nominating and
Corporate

Governance
Other Public

Company Boards
Carlyle Nominees        
Daniel F. Akerson 71 2019 ✓   ✓ 1
Patrick R. McCarter 45 2020 ✓  ✓  0
Class I Nominees        
Frank M. Drendel, Chairman 75 2011     0
Joanne M. Maguire 66 2016 ✓   C 2
Thomas J. Manning 64 2014 ✓ ✓   0
Continuing        
Austin A. Adams 76 2014 ✓ ✓   0
Stephen C. Gray 61 2011 ✓  C  0
L. William Krause 77 2011 ✓  ✓ ✓ 0
Marvin S. Edwards 71 2011     0
Claudius E. Watts IV 58 2011 L  ✓ ✓ 1
Timothy T. Yates 72 2013 ✓ C   0
L Lead Independent Director
C Chair
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Stockholder Outreach Highlights (page 48)

The CommScope management team regularly meets with investors to discuss a variety of business, industry and competitive dynamics.
During the course of these discussions, the Company gathers feedback on its executive compensation programs to ensure that interests are
aligned with stockholders.

In 2019, the Company received 73% support for its say-on-pay proposal. This level of support was below historical levels, and as a result, the
Board of Directors and the management team initiated proactive outreach to better understand stockholders’ concerns.

To that end, in early-2020, representatives of the Company, as requested by the Chair of the Compensation Committee, spoke with investors
representing the majority of CommScope’s stockholder base as defined by voting shares outstanding. The Compensation Committee wanted
to better understand investors’ perspectives on its executive compensation programs and governance practices. During the course of these
discussions, the Company explained the design of its executive compensation programs and how they support the long-term strategy and
stockholder value creation. In addition, the Company solicited feedback on how it can continue to enhance its future compensation programs.
The majority of stockholder input was confirmational of the Company’s current programs. That being said, the Company is deliberating
further actions based on the feedback. The Compensation Committee invites our stockholders to communicate any concerns or views on
executive pay directly to the Board of Directors.

Financial Performance Highlights (page 48)
 

(1) See reconciliation of Non-GAAP financial measures included in Appendix A.
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Executive Compensation Program Highlights (page 49)

Our executive compensation approach is straightforward and supports our pay-for-performance philosophy:

 • Significant portion of executive pay is at risk

 • Equity awards with multi-year vesting, allocated between performance and time-based awards

 • Regular stockholder engagement in connection with the annual say-on-pay vote

 • A compensation approach that does not create incentives for excessive risk taking

 • Policy prohibiting hedging and pledging of Company shares

 • “Clawback” policy to recover cash and equity award payments from executives in the event of a restatement of our financial
statements

 
The principal objectives of our NEO pay include:

 • Competitive pay – allows us to attract top talent and to retain those employees by providing substantial pay for performance
opportunity

 • Pay for performance – by rewarding outstanding results that will enhance near-term performance and drive long-term sustainable
returns

 • Alignment with stockholders – through performance goals and by setting meaningful equity ownership guidelines
 

 
Compensation that varies based on company performance and/or changes in our stock price is considered at-risk.
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Elements of our Executive Compensation Program (page 54)

The following table summarizes the primary elements of our executive compensation program for 2019. Please see our Compensation
Discussion and Analysis beginning on page 47.

Compensation Element Purpose
 
2019 Pay Outcome

Base Salary Recognize performance of job responsibilities as well as
attract and retain individuals with superior talent.

NEO base salaries were not increased in 2019.
 
 

Annual Incentive Plan (AIP) Bonus Awards Provide short-term incentives linked directly to achievement
of financial objectives.

•   60% Adjusted EBITDA
•   30% Adjusted Free Cash Flow
•   10% Corporate Revenue

We exceeded target for the Adjusted Free Cash
Flow metric and did not achieve threshold
performance for the Adjusted EBITDA and
Corporate Revenue metrics for 2019 resulting in
a 31.34% payout.

Executive Performance Option Plan (EPOP) Directly link senior management’s and stockholders’
interests by tying long-term incentive to stock price
appreciation.

•    Comprised 100% of total long-term incentive for
NEOs

•   50% of the stock options are time- based and vest in
five equal installments beginning on the first
anniversary of the grant date (Time-Vesting Options)

•   50% of the stock options are performance-based and
vest over five years based on pre-established annual
Adjusted EBITDA goals set at the inception of the
program in 2019, and include a cumulative vesting
feature (Performance-Vesting Options)

•   Potential vesting in connection with qualifying
retirement

•   10-year term

For our NEOs, the exercise price of the EPOP
options granted in 2019 was higher than the
stock price as of December 31, 2019, and we did
not meet the Adjusted EBITDA threshold for
2019. This resulted in no Performance-Vesting
Options earned in 2020.

 
Corporate Governance Highlights (page 16)

We are committed to strong corporate governance, which we believe is important to the success of our business. Our corporate governance
practices are described in greater detail in the “Corporate Governance Matters and Committees of the Board of Directors” section. Highlights
include:

 • Strong, independent Board with a Lead Independent Director
 • Risk oversight provided by both the appropriate committees and the full Board
 • Regular Board and committee self-evaluations
 • Majority voting in uncontested director elections
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Corporate Responsibility, Environmental and Sustainability Highlights
At CommScope, we believe that corporate responsibility and sustainability means making decisions that have a positive impact on our
people, planet, and bottom line. Our company-wide sustainability mission is to enable faster, smarter, and more sustainable solutions while
demonstrating the utmost respect for our human and natural resources. We are accomplishing this mission by utilizing innovative technology,
intelligent engineering, and energy efficient design to build sustainable networks that make our customers more agile, while at the same time
preserving the natural ecosystems from which we source our raw materials. While we may provide technological solutions, it is our people
who make the real difference in our communities. Their commitment to our customers, fellow employees, and the communities in which they
live and work drives them to provide creative solutions, services, and practices that are safe and sustainable for our environment and future
generations.

At CommScope, we understand how important it is to consider the larger impact of our actions beyond the balance sheet. We are proud of
CommScope’s significant standing in one of the world’s most vital and dynamic industries. We push ourselves and our thinking for the
purpose of creating a better and sustainable tomorrow. For the sake of our current and future generations, we will continue to grow as a
sustainable, environmentally conscious business that benefits the whole planet.
 
CR&S Materiality Assessment
Our combination with ARRIS in April 2019, coupled with the growing market demand for sustainability, provided a great opportunity to review
our sustainability strategy. To support this opportunity, CommScope conducted sustainability materiality assessment. Through this materiality
assessment process, CommScope took a thoughtful and comprehensive approach in determining how to focus its Corporate Responsibility
and Sustainability strategy to drive the most impactful actions for improvement while also aligning with the United Nations (UN) Sustainable
Development Goals (SDGs). The results of the materiality assessment and strategy will be available in 2020.
 
CR&S Management Structure
As a global company, CommScope is exposed to risks at many levels. We are governed by three teams to create, direct and implement our
sustainability strategy and maintain a thorough system of checks and balances designed to minimize social, environmental, physical and
ethical risks.

1. Ethics, Compliance and Sustainability Executive Council – comprising individuals of our senior management team.
2. CoRe Team – members represent Corporate Responsibility & Sustainability; Legal Affairs; Human Resources; Environment, Health and
Safety; Business Continuity; Corporate Communications and Supplier Quality.
3. Facilities Teams – cross-functional teams include roles like site director, HR manager, ethics officer, EHS specialist and supplier quality
engineer(s).

For additional information, see our Corporate Responsibility & Sustainability pages on the CommScope website:
https://www.commscope.com/About-Us/Corporate-Responsibility-and-Sustainability/.
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Corporate Responsibility and Sustainability Key Achievements

ENVIRONMENT SOCIAL ETHICS & GOVERNANCE
•  Achieved 2.73% reduction in Greenhouse Gas

(GHG) emissions for the combined Company
compared to 2018.

•  Continued to report climate-related risks and
opportunities using the CDP platform which is
committed to aligning with the Task Force on
Climate-Related Disclosures (TCFD)
recommendations.

•  Achieved 2.64% reduction in water withdrawal for
the combined Company compared to 2018.

•  Diverted 83% of non-hazardous waste from landfill.
•  More than 98% of applicable Home Network

business unit product shipments complied with the
relevant US, Canadian or EU Set-top boxes (STB)
or Small Network Equipment (SNE) energy
efficiency voluntary agreement—exceeding the 90%
target.

•  Continued to align our objectives with the Society of
Cable Telecommunication Engineers (SCTE) Energy
2020 goals in order to help our Access Network and
Edge Facility products achieve greater energy
reductions.

•  Continued to utilize life cycle thinking approach in
our product development processes.

•  Continued to ensure that our products meet global
regulations including RoHS, WEEE and REACH
regulations.

•  Our Home Networks team eliminated single-use
plastics (SUP) on all new set-top products outside of
the Americas and we extended our SUP initiative to
include Venue and Campus Networks products.

•  Continued to shift our attention towards achieving a
circular economy.

•  Maintained our environmental certification in line
with the ISO14001:2015 standard. The certification
scope now covers 83% of our manufacturing
facilities.

•  Launched a global pay equity study to
evaluate both legacy CommScope and legacy
ARRIS pay practices in preparation for
harmonizing the Company’s compensation
programs to be consistent with our pay-for-
performance compensation philosophy and
practices that support equal pay regardless of
gender or other discriminatory factors.

•  Conducted employee Pulse Surveys bi-
annually, as a follow-up to the Employee
Engagement Survey, to “take the pulse” of a large
segment of employees to see how they feel about
the Company, their work, and our improvement
progress.

•  Continued to implement uLEAD, a multi-
faceted, self-service learning program for
employees interested in developing their
business and leadership skills. Over 2,400
employees worldwide are participating in the
program with over 300 employees fully
graduated.

•  Continued our well-being program with
GuidanceResources, the Company's global
wellness resource program available to all
employees and their families worldwide.

•  Partnered with United Way to support local
charitable causes using an employer match
program in the United States and supported
charitable organizations worldwide.

•  Achieved a global injury rate of 0.35, 75%
below the United States Occupational Safety &
Health Administration (OSHA) industry rate of 1.4
and 5.4% below our 2019 target of 0.37.

•  Transitioned our safety certification from
OHSAS18001:2007 to ISO45001:2018
standard. The certification scope now covers
83% of our manufacturing facilities.

•  Achieved a Gold level Corporate Social
Responsibility (CSR) rating from EcoVadis,
a global leader in monitoring, benchmarking
and enabling sustainability in global supply
chains.

•  Continued focus on a robust ethics and
compliance program, including an
independent audit function and corporate ethics
and compliance officer, a strong Code of Ethics
and Business Conduct, policies on anti-
corruption and anti-bribery, and whistleblower
and investigation program with a strict policy
prohibiting retaliation.

•  Continued to use a consolidated training
package for Ethics and Compliance topics
targeting over 12,600 non-production
employees. 100% of the targeted group
completed this training.

•  Achieved zero “major nonconformances” in
third-party certification audits.

•  Continued to ensure that our operations
and supply chain align with global modern
slavery and human rights standards.

•  Completed 22 CSR assessments in our
manufacturing facilities, utilizing the
Responsible Business Association tool (RBA
ONLINE).

•  Conducted 240 sustainability assessments
and audits in our supply chain. These include
review of compliance and evaluation of
established labor, ethics, environmental, health
and safety practices and business continuity.

•  Expanded the Conflict Minerals campaign
scope and conducted a thorough assessment
to streamline the Reasonable Country of Origin
Inquiry (RCOI) process.
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PROXY STATEMENT
 

Annual Meeting of Stockholders

May 8, 2020

This Proxy Statement is being furnished to the stockholders of the Company in connection with the solicitation of proxies by the Board of
Directors for use at the Annual Meeting, and at any adjournment or postponement thereof, for the purposes set forth in the accompanying Notice
of 2020 Annual Meeting of Stockholders. The Annual Meeting will be held on May 8, 2020 at 1:00 p.m., local time, at WSFS Bank Center, 500
Delaware Avenue, Suite 1500, Wilmington, DE 19801.

QUESTIONS AND ANSWERS ABOUT THE ANNUAL MEETING AND VOTING

Why did I receive a Notice of Internet Availability of Proxy Materials?
You are receiving this Proxy Statement because you owned shares of CommScope common stock or Series A Convertible Preferred Stock
at the close of business on March 10, 2020 (Record Date), and that entitles you to vote at the Annual Meeting. By use of a proxy, you can
vote whether or not you attend the Annual Meeting.

We are furnishing proxy materials to our stockholders primarily via the Internet, instead of mailing printed copies of those materials to each
stockholder. On or about March 25, 2020, we mailed a Notice to our stockholders. The Notice contains instructions about how to access our proxy
materials and vote via the Internet or telephone. If you would like to receive a paper copy of our proxy materials, please follow the instructions
included in the Notice. If you previously chose to receive our proxy materials electronically, you will continue to receive access to these materials via
e-mail unless you elect otherwise.

Who is entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting?
Holders of our common stock and/or our Series A Convertible Preferred Stock outstanding at the close of business on the Record Date are
entitled to vote their shares at the Annual Meeting. As of the Record Date, 195,284,390 shares of our common stock were issued and
outstanding. Each share of our common stock is entitled to one vote on each matter properly brought before the Annual Meeting and on
which holders of common stock are entitled to vote.

Each record holder of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock will have a number of votes equal to the largest number of whole shares of
common stock into which such shares are convertible on the Record Date on each matter that is properly brought before the Annual Meeting
and on which holders of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock are entitled to vote together with common stock as a single class. In addition,
each holder of record of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock will have one vote for each share of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock on
each matter that is properly brought before the Annual Meeting and on which holders of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock are entitled to
vote separately, as a class. As of the
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Record Date, there were 1,000,000 shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock outstanding, which were convertible into 36,363,636
shares of common stock.

The presence at the Annual Meeting in person or by proxy of the holders of record of a majority in voting power of the shares entitled to vote
at the Annual Meeting will constitute a quorum for the transaction of business at the Annual Meeting.

What will I be voting on at the Annual Meeting and how does the Board recommend that I vote?

The holders of shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock are being asked to vote on:

 • Proposal No. 1—Election of two directors designated by Carlyle to serve until the 2021 Annual Meeting of Stockholders or until
their successors are elected and qualify to serve;

The holders of shares of common stock and shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, voting together as a single class, are being
asked to consider and vote on the following items:

 • Proposal No. 2—Election of three Class I directors to serve until the 2023 Annual Meeting of Stockholders or until their successors
are elected and qualify to serve;

 • Proposal No. 3—Ratification of the appointment of Ernst & Young LLP as the Company’s independent registered public
accounting firm for 2020;

 • Proposal No. 4—Advisory vote to approve the compensation of our NEOs as set forth in this Proxy Statement;

 • Proposal No. 5— Advisory vote on the frequency of future advisory votes on the compensation of our NEOs;

 • Proposal No. 6— Approval of the issuance of common shares in connection with certain rights of holders of the Company’s Series
A Convertible Preferred Stock issued in connection with the ARRIS acquisition;

 • Proposal No. 7— Approval of the additional shares under our 2019 Long Term Incentive Plan.

The Board recommends that you vote:

 • Proposal No. 1—FOR the election of each of the two nominees designated by Carlyle to the Board;

 • Proposal No. 2—FOR the election of each of the three Class I nominees to the Board;

 • Proposal No. 3—FOR ratification of the appointment of Ernst & Young LLP as the Company’s independent registered public
accounting firm for 2020;

 • Proposal No. 4—FOR the advisory vote to approve the compensation of our NEOs as set forth in this Proxy Statement;

 • Proposal No. 5—EVERY YEAR on the frequency of future advisory votes on the compensation of our NEOs;

 • Proposal No. 6— FOR the approval of the issuance of common shares in connection with certain rights of holders of the
Company’s Series A Convertible Preferred Stock issued in connection with the ARRIS acquisition;

 • Proposal No. 7— FOR the approval of additional shares under our 2019 Long Term Incentive Plan.

Each of Alexander W. Pease and Frank B. Wyatt, II has been selected by our Board to serve as a proxy holder for the Annual Meeting. All
shares of our common stock and Series A Convertible Preferred Stock represented by properly delivered proxies received in time for the
Annual Meeting will be voted at the
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Annual Meeting by the proxy holders in the manner specified in the proxy by the stockholder. If you sign and return a proxy card without
indicating how you want your shares to be voted, the persons named as proxies will vote your shares in accordance with the
recommendations of the Board.

Why are the common stockholders being asked to vote on the election of only three Directors?
Due to the classified structure of our Board, only one-third of our Board (excluding those directors designated by Carlyle pursuant to the
Investment Agreement) is elected each year to serve for a three-year term. As a result, the holders of shares of common stock and shares of
Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, voting together as a single class, are being asked to vote for the three Class I director nominees to
hold office until the 2023 annual meeting of stockholders or until their respective successors are duly elected and qualified.

Are there any requirements on how the holders of the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock must vote?
Under the Investment Agreement, at the Annual meeting, Carlyle is required to vote its shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock in
favor of each of the three director nominees who are also being voted on by holders of common stock, in favor of the Say-On-Pay proposal,
and for ratification of the appointment of Ernst & Young LLP as the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm for the fiscal
year ending December 31, 2020, as described in these proxy materials. Carlyle is entitled to vote at its discretion on the other proposals
described in this Proxy Statement.

What is the difference between holding shares as a stockholder of record and as a beneficial owner?
If your shares are registered directly in your name with our transfer agent, American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, LLC, you are
considered, with respect to those shares, the “stockholder of record.” The Proxy Statement has been or will be sent directly to you.

If your shares are held in a stock brokerage account or by a bank or other holder of record, you are considered the “beneficial owner” of
those shares held in street name. The Proxy Statement has been or will be sent to you by your broker, bank or other holder of record who is
considered, with respect to those shares, to be the stockholder of record. As the beneficial owner, you have the right to direct your broker,
bank or other holder of record on how to vote the shares in your account.

How do I vote?
Stockholder of Record. If you are a stockholder of record, you may vote by using any of the following methods:

 • Through the Internet. You may vote by proxy through the Internet by following the instructions in this Proxy Statement or the
instructions on the proxy card.

 • By Telephone. You may vote by proxy by calling the toll-free telephone number shown on the proxy card and following the recorded
instructions.

 • By Mail. You may vote by proxy by completing, signing and dating the proxy card and sending it back to the Company in the
envelope provided.

 • In Person at the Annual Meeting. If you attend the Annual Meeting, you may vote your shares in person. We encourage you,
however, to vote through the Internet, by telephone or by mailing us your proxy card even if you plan to attend the Annual Meeting
so that your shares will be voted in the event you later decide not to attend the Annual Meeting.
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Beneficial Owners. If you are a beneficial owner of shares, you may vote by using any of the following methods:

 • Through the Internet. You may vote by proxy through the Internet by following the instructions provided in this Proxy Statement
and the voting instruction form provided by your broker, bank or other holder of record.

 • By Telephone. You may vote by proxy by calling the toll-free number found on the voting instruction form and following the
recorded instructions.

 • By Mail. You may vote by proxy by completing, signing and dating the voting instruction form and sending it back to the record
holder in the envelope provided.

 • In Person at the Annual Meeting. If you are a beneficial owner of shares held in street name and you wish to vote in person at the
Annual Meeting, you must obtain a legal proxy from your broker, bank or other holder of record and present it at the Annual
Meeting. Please contact that organization for instructions regarding obtaining a legal proxy.

If you hold both common stock and Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, you will need to vote, or authorize a proxy to vote, each class of
stock separately. Please be sure to vote or authorize a proxy to vote for each class of stock separately so that all your votes can be counted.
For more information, see “What if I hold both common stock and Series A Convertible Preferred Stock” below.

What if I hold both common stock and Series A Convertible Preferred Stock?
Some of our stockholders may hold both common stock and Series A Convertible Preferred Stock. If you are a holder of both common stock
and Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, you can expect to receive separate sets of printed proxy materials.

You will need to vote, or authorize a proxy to vote, each class of stock separately in accordance with the instructions set forth herein and on
the applicable proxy cards or voting instruction forms. Voting, or authorizing a proxy to vote, only your common stock will not also cause your
shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock to be voted, and vice versa.

If you hold both common stock and Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, please be sure to vote or authorize a proxy to vote for each class
of stock separately so that all your votes can be counted.

What does it mean if I receive more than one Notice, proxy card or voting instruction form?
If you received more than one Notice, proxy card or voting instruction form, your shares are registered in more than one name or are
registered in different accounts. Please follow the voting instructions included in each Notice, proxy card and voting instruction form to ensure
that all your shares are voted.

May I change my vote after I have submitted a proxy?
If you are a stockholder of record, you have the power to revoke your proxy at any time by:

 • delivering to our Corporate Secretary written revocation of your proxy;

 • delivering a new proxy, through the Internet, by telephone or by mail, dated after the date of the proxy being revoked; or

 • attending the Annual Meeting and voting in person (attendance without casting a ballot will not, by itself, constitute revocation of a
proxy).

If you are a beneficial owner of shares, you may submit new voting instructions by contacting your broker, bank or other holder of record. You
may also revoke your previous voting instructions by voting in person at the Annual Meeting if you obtain a legal proxy from your broker, bank
or other holder of record and present it at the Annual Meeting.
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Who will serve as the proxy tabulator and inspector of election?
A representative from American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, LLC, will serve as the independent inspector of election and will tabulate
votes cast by proxy or in person at the Annual Meeting. We will report the results in a Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission (Commission) within four business days of the Annual Meeting.

How will abstentions and “broker non-votes” be counted?
The shares of a stockholder whose ballot on any or all proposals is marked as “abstain” will be included in the number of shares present at
the Annual Meeting to determine whether a quorum is present.
If you are a beneficial owner of shares and do not provide the record holder of your shares with specific voting instructions, your record
holder may vote your shares on the ratification of the appointment of Ernst & Young LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm
for 2020 (Proposal No. 3). However, your record holder cannot vote your shares without specific instructions on the election of directors
(Proposals No. 1 and No. 2), the advisory vote on the compensation of our NEOs (Proposal No. 4), the frequency of future advisory votes on
the compensation of our NEOs (Proposal No. 5), the vote to approve the issuance of common shares in connection with certain rights of
holders of the Company’s Series A Convertible Preferred Stock issued in connection with the ARRIS acquisition (Proposal No. 6) or the vote
to approve additional shares under our 2019 Long Term Incentive Plan (Proposal No. 7). If your record holder does not receive instructions
from you on how to vote your shares on Proposals 1, 2, 4, 5, 6 or 7, your record holder will inform the inspector of election that it does not
have the authority to vote on that proposal with respect to your shares. This is generally referred to as a “broker non-vote.” Broker non-votes
will be counted as present for purposes of determining whether a quorum is present, but they will not be counted in determining the outcome
of the vote on Proposals 1, 2, 4, 5, 6 or 7.
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What vote is required to approve each proposal?
The following table summarizes the votes required for passage of each proposal and the effect of abstentions and broker non-votes.

Proposal Vote Required
Impact of Abstentions and Broker
Non-Votes, if any

No. 1—Election of directors
designated by Carlyle

Each director will be elected by a majority
of the votes cast by holders of our Series A
Convertible Preferred Stock voting with
respect to that director, meaning the
number of shares voted “for” a director
must exceed the number of votes cast
“against” that director.

Abstentions and broker non-votes will not
affect the outcome of the vote.

No. 2—Election of Class I directors Each director will be elected by a majority
of the votes cast by holders of our common
stock and Series A Convertible Preferred
Stock voting together as a single class with
respect to that director, meaning the
number of shares voted “for” a director
must exceed the number of votes cast
“against” that director.

Abstentions and broker non-votes will not
affect the outcome of the vote.

No. 3—Ratification of appointment of
independent registered public
accounting firm

Approval by a majority of the voting power of
the shares entitled to vote and represented
in person or by proxy.

Abstentions will count as votes against the
proposal.

No. 4—Advisory vote to approve
compensation of our NEOs, as
described in this Proxy Statement

Approval by a majority of the voting power
of the shares entitled to vote and
represented in person or by proxy.

Abstentions will count as votes against the
proposal; broker non-votes will not affect the
outcome of the vote.

No. 5— Advisory vote on the
frequency of future advisory votes on
the compensation of our NEOs

Approval by a majority of the voting power
of the shares entitled to vote and
represented in person or by proxy.

Abstentions will count as votes against the
proposal; broker non-votes will not affect the
outcome of the vote.

No. 6— Approve the issuance of
common shares in connection with
certain rights of holders of the
Company’s Series A Convertible
Preferred Stock issued in connection
with the ARRIS acquisition

Approval by a majority of the voting power
of the shares entitled to vote and
represented in person or by proxy.

Abstentions will count as votes against the
proposal; broker non-votes will not affect the
outcome of the vote.

No. 7— Vote to approve additional
shares under our 2019 Long Term
Incentive Plan

Approval by a majority of the voting power
of the shares entitled to vote and
represented in person or by proxy.

Abstentions will count as votes against the
proposal; broker non-votes will not affect the
outcome of the vote.
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Who is paying for the cost of this proxy
solicitation?
Our Board is soliciting the proxy accompanying this Proxy Statement. We will pay all proxy solicitation costs. Proxies may be solicited by our
officers, directors and employees, none of whom will receive any additional compensation for their services. These solicitations may be made
personally or by mail, facsimile, telephone, messenger, email or the Internet. We will pay brokers, banks and certain other holders of record
holding shares of common stock in their names or in the names of nominees, but not owning such shares beneficially, for the expense of
forwarding solicitation materials to the beneficial owners. The Company has retained Morrow Sodali LLC, 470 West Avenue, Stamford,
Connecticut 06902, to assist in the solicitation of proxies from stockholders. Morrow Sodali LLC will receive a solicitation fee of approximately
$10,000, plus reimbursement of certain out-of-pocket expenses.

What do I need to do to attend the meeting in person?
In order to be admitted to the Annual Meeting, you must present proof of ownership of CommScope stock as of the close of business on the
Record Date. This can be:

 • a brokerage statement or letter from a bank or broker that is a record holder indicating your ownership of CommScope stock as of
the close of business on March 10, 2020;

 • a printout of the proxy distribution email (if you received your materials electronically);

 • a proxy card;

 • a voting instruction form; or

 • a legal proxy provided by your broker, bank or nominee.

Any holder of a proxy from a stockholder must present the proxy card, properly executed, and a copy of the proof of ownership. Stockholders
and proxy holders must also present a form of photo identification such as a driver’s license. We will be unable to admit anyone who does not
present identification or refuses to comply with our security procedures.

Is there a list of stockholders entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting?
A list of stockholders entitled to vote at the Annual Meeting will be available at the meeting and for ten days prior to the meeting, between the
hours of 8:00 a.m. and 4:00 p.m. Eastern Time, at our offices at 1100 CommScope Place, SE, Hickory, North Carolina 28602. If you would
like to view the stockholder list, please contact our Corporate Secretary to schedule an appointment.

I share an address with another stockholder, and we received only one paper copy of the proxy materials. How may I
obtain an additional copy of the proxy materials?
To reduce costs and reduce the environmental impact of our Annual Meeting, we have adopted a procedure approved by the Commission
called “householding.” Under this procedure, stockholders of record who have the same address and last name will receive only a single
copy of our Proxy Statement and 2019 Annual Report, unless we have received contrary instructions from such stockholder. Stockholders
who participate in householding will continue to receive separate proxy cards and Notices.

We will promptly deliver, upon written or oral request, individual copies of the proxy materials to any stockholder that received a household
mailing. If you are a stockholder of record and would like an additional copy of the Proxy Statement or 2019 Annual Report, please contact
our Corporate Secretary by mail at 1100 CommScope Place, SE, Hickory, North Carolina 28602 or by phone at (828) 324-2200. If you are a
beneficial owner, you may contact the broker or bank where you hold the account.

If you are eligible for householding, but you and other stockholders of record with whom you share an address currently receive multiple
copies of our Proxy Statement and Annual Report, or if you hold stock in more than one account, and in either case you wish to receive only
a single copy of each of these
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documents for your household, please contact our Corporate Secretary by mail at 1100 CommScope Place, SE, Hickory, North Carolina
28602 or by phone at (828) 324-2200.

Could other matters be decided at the Annual Meeting?
As of the date of this Proxy Statement, our Board is not aware of any matters, other than those described in this Proxy Statement, which are
to be voted on at the Annual Meeting. If any other matters are properly raised at the Annual Meeting, however, the persons named as proxy
holders intend to vote the shares represented by your proxy in accordance with their judgment on such matters.

Why is Proposal No. 6 included in this Proxy Statement?
To comply with Nasdaq Listing Rules, the Certificate of Designations of the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock contains certain restrictions
(the Nasdaq Cap) on the number of shares of common stock that may be issued (i) upon any future conversion or redemption of Series A
Convertible Preferred Stock, (ii) pursuant to, or upon conversion, exercise or exchange of, any securities issued pursuant to certain
participation rights (the Participation Rights) of Carlyle Partners VII S1 Holdings, L.P. (Carlyle) and (iii) on the voting rights conferred to the
shares of the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, in each case, before stockholder approval, to the extent required, has been obtained in
accordance with Nasdaq Listing Rules.
 
Pursuant to the Investment Agreement between CommScope and Carlyle, dated November 8, 2018, CommScope agreed to (i) include in
this Proxy Statement a proposal to eliminate the Nasdaq Cap and (ii) use commercially reasonable efforts to solicit from the stockholders
proxies in favor of, and to obtain stockholder approval, of such proposal.
 
Please see the section of this Proxy Statement entitled “Proposal No. 6” beginning on page 83.

What are the consequences if stockholders vote to approve Proposal No. 6, or if the required stockholder approval is
not obtained?  
 
If the stockholders approve Proposal No. 6, the Nasdaq Cap will be eliminated and, as a result (i) CommScope will be permitted to issue
shares of common stock upon the conversion or redemption of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, or in connection with the exercise of the
Participation Rights, and (ii) the holders of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock will be entitled to vote their shares of Series A Convertible
Preferred Stock, in each case without regard to the Nasdaq Cap.
 
If the stockholders do not approve Proposal No. 6, the Nasdaq Cap will remain in effect and (i) CommScope will not be permitted to issue
shares of common stock in excess of the Nasdaq Cap upon the conversion or redemption of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, or in
connection with the exercise of the Participation Rights, and (ii) the number of votes that may be cast by holders of Series A Preferred Stock
will be limited so that the Nasdaq Cap is not exceeded. If the Nasdaq Cap is reached, CommScope will be required to pay converting
holders, in lieu of delivery of shares of common stock in excess of the Nasdaq Cap, the cash value of such shares and to pay redeeming
holders the applicable redemption price in cash.  
 
Please see the section of this Proxy Statement entitled “Proposal No. 6” beginning on page 83.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE MATTERS AND COMMITTEES
OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

PROPOSALS No. 1 & No. 2:
ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Our Company is governed by a board of directors. Pursuant to our certificate of incorporation, the precise number of directors shall be fixed,
and may be altered from time to time, exclusively by a Board resolution adopted by the affirmative vote of a majority of the total number of
directors then in office. The number of directors constituting our whole Board is currently fixed at eleven. Two directors are designated by
Carlyle pursuant to the Investment Agreement and our remaining directors are divided into three classes with staggered three-year terms so
that the term of one class expires at each annual meeting of stockholders. The two director nominees designated by Carlyle will be proposed
for election by the holders of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, and the three Class I director nominees will be proposed for election by
the holders of common stock and Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, voting together as a single class, at the Annual Meeting on May 8,
2020.

It is intended that the persons named in the accompanying proxy will vote to elect the nominees listed below unless otherwise instructed. The
directors designated by Carlyle will serve until the next annual meeting of stockholders in 2021, and the Class I elected directors will serve
until the annual meeting of stockholders in 2023 or until an earlier resignation or retirement or until their successors are elected to qualify and
serve.

The nominees designated by Carlyle and the Class I nominees are all presently serving as directors of the Company. The nominees have
agreed to be named in this Proxy Statement, stand for re-election and serve if elected. If for any reason any nominee designated by Carlyle
shall not be available for election as a director at the Annual Meeting, it is intended that shares represented by the accompanying proxy will
be voted for the election of a substitute nominee designated by Carlyle. If for any reason any Class I nominee shall not be available for
election as a director at the Annual Meeting, it is intended that shares represented by the accompanying proxy will be voted for the election of
a substitute nominee designated by our Board, or the Board may determine to leave the vacancy temporarily unfilled or may, by resolution,
reduce the size of the Board.

The professional experience and skills and qualifications highlighted in the nominee and continuing directors’ biographies below summarize
the experience, qualifications, areas of expertise or skills that the Board of Directors used to determine that the person should serve as a
director.
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Nominees for Election as Directors to Be Elected by Holders of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock
 

Daniel F. Akerson

Age: 71

Director Since: 2019

Committees:
-Nominating and Corporate

Governance
 
 

Professional Experience
•  Vice Chairman of The Carlyle Group LP (2014-2015)
•  CEO of General Motors Company (2010-2014)
•  Managing Director – Head of Global Buyout at The Carlyle Group LP (2009-2010)
•  Managing Director – Co-Head of United States Buyout at The Carlyle Group LP (2003-2009)
Other Current Public Company Directorships
•  Lockheed Martin Corporation (NYSE: LMT) (2014-present) (Independent Lead Director, Executive

Committee and Chair of Nominating & Corporate Governance Committee)
Other Directorships
•  General Motors Company (NYSE: GM) (2011-2014) (Chairman)
•  KrolLDiscovery, LLC (OTCMKTS: KLDI) (2015-2020) (Chairman)
•  United States Naval Academy Foundation Chair (2015-present) and Director (2010-present)
Skills and Qualifications:
•  Directorship
•  Finance / Accounting
•  Leadership / Management
•  Merger and Integration Experience
•  Risk Management
•  Strategic Planning

  

Patrick R. McCarter

Age: 45

Director Since: 2020

Committees:
-Compensation
 
 
 

Professional Experience
•  Head of Global Technology, Media and Telecommunications Sector at The Carlyle Group LP (2017-

present)
•  Partner at The Carlyle Group LP (2017-present)
•  Member of Northwestern’s McCormick School of Engineering Advisory Council (2018-present)
•  Various other positions including Managing Director and Principal at The Carlyle Group LP (2005-

2016)
•  Associate at The Carlyle Group LP (2001-2003)
•  Investment Banking Analyst in the Financial Institutions group of Morgan Stanley (1998-2001)
Other Current Public Company Directorships
•  None
Other Directorships
•  Hirevue (2019-present)
•  ZoomInfo (2018-present)
•  Ampere Computing (2017-present)
•  Veritas (2016-present)
Skills and Qualifications:
•  Directorship
•  Finance / Accounting
•  Governance
•  Industry Experience
•  Leadership / Management
•  Merger and Integration Experience

The Board of Directors of the Company recommends a vote “FOR” each of the foregoing nominees for election as directors.
Proxies will be voted “FOR” each nominee, unless otherwise specified in the proxy.
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Nominees for Election as Class I Directors to Be Elected by Holders of Common Stock and Series A
Convertible Preferred Stock, Voting Together as a Single Class

Frank M. Drendel

Age: 75

Director Since: 2011

Chairman of the Board Since: 2011

Committees:
-None

Professional Experience
•  Founder, CEO and Chairman of the Board of CommScope (1976–2011)
•  Cable Television Hall of Fame Inductee (2002)
Other Current Public Company Directorships
•  None
Other Directorships
•  National Cable & Telecommunications Association (1982-present)
•  Tyco International, Ltd. (NYSE: TYC) (acquired by Johnson Controls International) (2012-2016)
•  Sprint Nextel Corporation (2005-2008)
•  Nextel Communications (1997-2005)
•  General Instrument Corporation (1987-2000)

Skills and Qualifications:
•  Directorship
•  Extensive Experience with Our Business
•  Industry Experience
•  Leadership / Management
•  Merger and Integration Experience

 

  

Joanne M. Maguire

Age: 66

Director Since: 2016

Committees:
-Nominating and Corporate Governance

(Chair)
 

Professional Experience
•  EVP of Lockheed Martin Space Systems Company, a provider of advanced-technology systems for

national security, civil and commercial customers (2006-2013)
•  Various other positions at Lockheed Martin (2003-2006)
•  Progressively responsible positions at TRW’s Space & Electronics sector (now part of Northrop

Grumman) from engineering analyst to VP and Deputy to the sector’s CEO, serving in leadership
roles over programs as well as engineering, advanced technology, manufacturing and business
development

Other Current Public Company Directorships
•  Visteon Corporation (NASDAQ: VC) (2015-present)
•  Tetra Tech, Inc. (NASDAQ: TTEK) (2016-present)
Other Directorships
•  Charles Stark Draper Laboratory (2013-present)
•  Freescale Semiconductor, Ltd. (2013-2015)
Skills and Qualifications:
•  Directorship
•  Governance
•  Industry Experience
•  Leadership / Management
•  Risk Management
•  Strategic Planning
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Thomas J. Manning
 
Age: 64

Director Since: 2014

Committees:
-Audit
 
 
 
 

 

Professional Experience
•  Lecturer in Law at the University of Chicago Law School teaching courses on corporate governance,

private equity and United States-China relations, and innovative solutions (2012-present)
•  Executive-in-Residence at the Booth School of Business (2018-present)
•  2019 Fellow in the Advanced Leadership Initiative at Harvard University and Senior Fellow for 2020
•  CEO of Dun & Bradstreet (Aug 2018-Feb 2019)
•  Chairman & Interim CEO of Dun & Bradstreet (Feb 2018-Aug 2018)
•  CEO of Cerberus Asia Operations & Advisory Limited, a subsidiary of Cerberus Capital Management,

a global private equity firm (2010-2012)
•  CEO of Indachin Limited, an incubator which developed early-stage information-based companies in

China and India (2005-2009)
•  Senior partner with Bain & Company and head of Bain’s information technology strategy practice in

the Silicon Valley and Asia (2003-2005)
•  Global Managing Director of the Strategy & Technology Business of Capgemini and CEO of

Capgemini Asia Pacific and CEO of Ernst & Young Consulting Asia Pacific, led the development of
consulting and IT service and outsourcing businesses across Asia (1996-2003)

•  Various positions in McKinsey & Company, Buddy Systems, Inc., a telemedicine company he founded,
and CSC Index in early career

Other Current Public Company Directorships
•  None
Other Directorships
•  Clear Media Limited (Chairman of the Remuneration Committee) (2016-present)
•  Cresco Labs (Chairman) (2016-present)
•  Dun & Bradstreet (NYSE: DNB) (2013-2019) (Lead Director and Chair of the Nominating and

Corporate Governance Committee)
•  iSoftStone Holdings Limited (2010-2014)
•  AsiaInfo-Linkage, Inc. (2006-2014)
•  GOME Electrical Appliances Company (2007-2012)
•  Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. (2004-2010)
•  China Board of Directors Ltd. (2005-2009) (Chairman)
•  Bain & Company’s China Board (2003-2005)
Skills and Qualifications:
•  Audit Committee Financial Expert
•  Directorship
•  Finance / Accounting
•  Governance
•  Information Technology
•  Leadership / Management
•  Regulatory Matters
•  Strategic Planning

 

  

The Board of Directors of the Company recommends a vote “FOR” each of the foregoing nominees for election as Class I
directors. Proxies will be voted “FOR” each nominee, unless otherwise specified in the proxy.

 

2020 Proxy Statement 19 

 



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
 

 
 
Directors Continuing in Office
Continuing Class II Directors with Terms Expiring at the 2021 Annual Meeting of Stockholders

Austin A. Adams

Age: 76

Director Since: 2014

Committees:
-  Audit
 
 

Professional Experience
•  EVP and Corporate CIO of JPMorgan Chase upon merger of JPMorgan Chase and Bank One

Corporation (2004-2006)
•  EVP and CIO of Bank One (2001-2004)
•  EVP and CIO at First Union Corporation (now Wells Fargo & Co.) (1985- 2001)
Other Current Public Company Directorships
•  None
Other Directorships
•  KeyCorp (NYSE: KEY) (2016-2018)
•  First Niagara Financial Group, Inc. (NASDAQ: FNFG) (now KeyCorp) (2014-2016)
•  Spectra Energy, Inc. (NYSE: SE) (now Enbridge Inc.) (2007-2017)
•  The Dun & Bradstreet Corporation (NYSE: DNB) (2007-2015)
•  CommunityOne Bancorp (NASDAQ: COB) (2010-2014)
Skills and Qualifications:
•  Audit Committee Financial Expert
•  Directorship
•  Finance / Accounting
•  Information Technology
•  Leadership / Management
•  Merger and Integration Experience
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Stephen (Steve) C. Gray

Age: 61

Director Since: 2011

Committees:
-  Compensation (Chair)
 
 
 
 
 

Professional Experience
•  Founder and Chairman of Gray Venture Partners, LLC, a private investment Company (2009-

present)
•  Senior Advisor to The Carlyle Group LP (2019-present) and (2007-2015)
•  President and CEO of Syniverse Holdings, Inc. (2014-2018)
•  President of McLeodUSA Incorporated (1992-2004)
•  VP of Business Services at MCI Inc. (1990-1992)
•  SVP of National Accounts and Carrier Services for TelecomUSA (1988-1990)
•  Various sales management positions with WilTel Network Services and the Clayton W. Williams

Companies, including ClayDesta Communications Inc. (1986-1988)
Other Current Public Company Directorships
•  None
Other Directorships
•  ETC Group (2019-present)
•  ImOn Communications, LLC (Current Vice Chairman, former Chairman) (2007-present)
•  Involta, LLC (Chairman) (2010-present)
•  HH Ventures, LLC (Chairman) (2009-present)
•  SecurityCoverage, Inc. (2005-2019) (Chairman)
•  Syniverse Holdings, Inc. (2011-2019)
•  Insight Communications, Inc. (2005-2012)

Skills and Qualifications:
•  Directorship
•  Finance / Accounting
•  Industry Experience
•  Leadership / Management
•  Merger and Integration Experience
•  Strategic Planning
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L. William (Bill) Krause

Age: 77

Director Since: 2011

Committees:
-  Compensation
-  Nominating and Corporate Governance
 
 
 
 
 

Professional Experience
•  President of LWK Ventures, a private advisory and investment firm (1991-present)
•  Senior Advisor to The Carlyle Group LP (2010-present)
•  Board Partner at Andreesen Horowitz (2014-present)
•  CEO (1981-1990) and Chairman (1987-1993) of 3Com Corporation, a global data networking

Company
Other Current Public Company Directorships
•  None
Other Directorships
•  Veritas Holding, Ltd (2016-present)
•  Coherent, Inc., (NASDAQ: COHR) (2009-2019)
•  Brocade Communication Systems, Inc. (NASDAQ: BRCD) (now Broadcom Inc.) (2004-2017)
•  Core-Mark Holding Company, Inc. (NASDAQ: CORE) (2005-2014)
•  Sybase, Inc (1995-2010)
•  3Com Corporation (1981-1993) (Chairman)
Skills and Qualifications:
•  Directorship
•  Industry Experience
•  Information Technology
•  Leadership / Management
•  Merger and Integration Experience
•  Strategic Planning
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Continuing Class II Directors with Terms Expiring at the 2022 Annual Meeting of Stockholders

Marvin (Eddie) S.
Edwards, Jr.
 
Age: 71
 
Director Since: 2011
 
Committees:
-  None

 
 

Professional Experience
•  President and CEO of CommScope (2011-present)
•  President and COO of CommScope (2010-2011)
•  EVP of Business Development and General Manager, CommScope Wireless Network Solutions of

CommScope (2007-2010)
•  EVP of Business Development of CommScope (2005-2007)
•  President and CEO of OFS Fitel, LLC and OFS BrightWave, LLC, a joint venture between

CommScope and The Furukawa Electric Co.
•  Various capacities with Alcatel including President of Alcatel North America Cable Systems and

President of Radio Frequency Systems
Other Current Public Company Directorships
•  None
Other Directorships
•  OFS Fitel, LLC (2001-2004)
•  OFS BrightWave, LLC (2001-2004)
Skills and Qualifications:
•  Directorship
•  Governance
•  Industry Experience
•  Leadership / Management
•  Merger and Integration Experience
•  Strategic Planning

 
 

Claudius (Bud) E.
Watts IV
 
Age: 58
 
Director Since: 2011
 
Lead Independent Director Since: 2017
 
Committees:
-  Compensation
-  Nominating and Corporate Governance

Professional Experience
•  Private investor and Founding Partner of Meeting Street Capital, LLC (2018-present)
•  Senior Advisor to The Carlyle Group LP (2018-present)
•  Partner with The Carlyle Group LP (2000-2017)
•  Founded and led The Carlyle Group LP’s Technology Buyout business (2004-2014)
•  Managing Director in the M&A group of First Union Securities, Inc. (1998-2000)
•  Principal at Bowles Hollowell Conner & Co. (1994-1998)
•  Fighter Pilot, United States Air Force (1984-1992)
Other Current Public Company Directorships
•  Carolina Financial Corporation – Chairman (NASDAQ: CARO) (2015-present)
Other Directorships
•  Former director on boards of numerous other public and private companies, including service as

Chairman and Lead Independent Director
Skills and Qualifications:
•  Directorship
•  Finance / Accounting
•  Governance
•  Industry Experience
•  Leadership / Management
•  Merger and Integration Experience
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Timothy T. Yates
 
Age: 72
 
Director Since: 2013
 
Committees:
-  Audit (Chair)

 
 
 
 

Professional Experience
•  Various positions including EVP, CFO and CEO at Monster Worldwide, Inc. (2007–2016)
•  Led integration of Symbol into Motorola, Inc.’s Enterprise Mobility business (2007)
•  Various positions including independent consultant and SVP, CFO at Symbol Technologies, Inc.

(2005–2007)
•  Co-Founder, Partner and CFO of Saguenay Capital, a boutique investment firm (2002–2005)
•  Partner at Cove Harbor Partners, a private investment and consulting firm, which he founded (1996–

2002)
•  Various senior leadership roles at Bankers Trust New York Corporation, including serving as Chief

Financial and Administrative Officer (1971–1995)
Other Current Public Company Directorships
•  None
Other Directorships
•  Monster Worldwide, Inc. (NASDAQ: MWW) (2007-2016)
•  Symbol Technologies, Inc. (2006-2007)
Skills and Qualifications:
•  Audit Committee Financial Expert
•  Directorship
•  Finance / Accounting
•  Leadership / Management
•  Strategic Planning
 

 
POLICIES ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Our Board believes that good corporate governance is important to ensure our business is managed for the long-term benefit of our
stockholders. We have adopted a Code of Conduct that applies to all our directors, executive officers and senior financial and accounting
officers, as well as a Code of Ethics and Business Conduct that applies to all of our employees. We have also adopted Corporate
Governance Guidelines. Current versions of the Code of Conduct, the Code of Ethics and Business Conduct and the Corporate Governance
Guidelines are available on our website at www.commscope.com and will also be provided upon request to any person without charge.
Requests should be made in writing to our Corporate Secretary at CommScope Holding Company, Inc., 1100 CommScope Place, SE,
Hickory, North Carolina 28602, or by phone at (828) 324-2200. In the event of any amendment or waiver of our Code of Conduct or Code of
Ethics and Business Conduct applicable to our directors or executive officers, such amendment or waiver will be posted on our website.

BOARD LEADERSHIP STRUCTURE

The Company currently has separate individuals serving in the positions of Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer. The Board of
Directors does not have a set policy with respect to the separation of the offices of Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer, as the
Board believes it is in the best interests of the Company to make that determination based on the position and direction of the Company and
the membership of the Board. The Board regularly evaluates whether the roles of Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer should
be separate and, if they are to be separate, whether the Chairman of the Board should be selected from the non-employee directors or be an
employee of the Company. The Board believes these issues should be considered as part of the Board’s broader oversight and succession
planning process. The Board continues to believe that Mr. Drendel is appropriate to serve as non-executive Chairman as he is a founder of
the Company and has significant experience in the Company’s industry and in managing through challenging business environments.
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Mr. Watts was appointed as Lead Independent Director in 2017. Among other things, our Lead Independent Director presides at all meetings
of the independent directors and any Board meeting when the Chairman is not present, advises the Chairman as to the Board’s agenda and
information to be provided to the Board, and serves as the principal liaison and facilitator between the independent directors and the
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer. In addition, our Lead Independent Director has the authority to convene special meetings of the
independent directors, responds to stockholder questions directed to the independent directors and is available to major stockholders for
consultation and direct communication.

THE BOARD’S ROLE IN MANAGEMENT’S SUCCESSION PLANNING

As reflected in our Corporate Governance Guidelines, the Board’s primary responsibilities include planning for Chief Executive Officer
succession and monitoring and advising on management’s succession planning for other executive officers. The Board’s goal is to have a
long-term and continuing program for effective senior leadership development and succession. The Board is actively engaged in these
endeavors and has a contingency plan in place for emergencies such as the departure, death or disability of the Chief Executive Officer or
other executive officers.  

The Chief Executive Officer and Chief Human Resources Officer report to the Board at least twice a year on succession planning and
management development.

THE BOARD’S ROLE IN RISK OVERSIGHT

While risk management is primarily the responsibility of our management, the Board provides overall risk oversight focusing on the most
significant risks facing the Company. The Board oversees the risk management processes that have been designed and are implemented by
our executives to determine whether those processes are functioning as intended and are consistent with our business and strategy. The
Board executes its oversight responsibility for risk management directly and through its committees. The Board’s role in risk oversight has not
affected its leadership structure.

The Audit Committee is specifically tasked with reviewing with management, the independent auditors and our legal counsel, as appropriate,
our compliance with legal and regulatory requirements and any related compliance policies and programs. The Audit Committee is also
tasked with reviewing our financial and risk management policies and oversight of our enterprise risk management program, which is our
comprehensive assessment of key risks related to finance, operations and management information systems, including those related to
cybersecurity. Members of our management who have responsibility for designing and implementing our risk management processes
regularly meet with the Audit Committee. Additionally, the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee is tasked with overseeing our
environmental and corporate responsibility efforts and any related risks. The Board’s other committees oversee risks associated with their
respective areas of responsibility.

The full Board considers specific risk topics, including risk-related issues pertaining to laws and regulations enforced by the United States
and foreign government regulators and risks associated with our business plan and capital structure. In addition, the Board receives reports
from members of our management that include discussions of the risks and exposures involved with their respective areas of responsibility,
and the Board is routinely informed of developments that could affect our risk profile or other aspects of our business.
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DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

Nasdaq listing standards and our Corporate Governance Guidelines, which are available on our website as described above, require that the
Board be comprised of a majority of directors who qualify as independent directors under applicable Nasdaq rules. The Board has
determined that each of our non-employee directors, Austin A. Adams, Daniel F. Akerson, Stephen C. Gray, L. William Krause, Joanne M.
Maguire, Thomas J. Manning, Patrick R. McCarter, Claudius E. Watts IV and Timothy T. Yates, is independent under applicable Nasdaq
rules. The Board has determined that Marvin S. Edwards, Jr. and Frank M. Drendel are not independent.

NOMINATIONS FOR DIRECTORS

The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee will consider director nominees recommended by stockholders. A stockholder who
wishes to recommend a director candidate for consideration by the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee should send such
recommendation to our Corporate Secretary at CommScope Holding Company, Inc., 1100 CommScope Place, SE, Hickory, North Carolina
28602, who will then forward it to the committee. Any such recommendation should include a description of the candidate’s qualifications for
board service, the candidate’s written consent to be considered for nomination and to serve if nominated and elected, and addresses and
telephone numbers for contacting the stockholder and the candidate for more information. A stockholder who wishes to nominate an
individual as a candidate for election, rather than recommend the individual to the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee as a
nominee, must comply with the advance notice requirements set forth in our Bylaws. See “Stockholder Proposals for the Company’s 2021
Annual Meeting” in this Proxy Statement for more information on these procedures.

The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee will consider and evaluate persons recommended by stockholders in the same
manner as it considers and evaluates other potential directors. With respect to the directors to be elected by the holders of shares of Series A
Convertible Preferred Stock, such nominees are required to have been designated by Carlyle pursuant to the Investment Agreement.

DIRECTOR QUALIFICATIONS

The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee is responsible for reviewing the qualifications of potential director candidates and
recommending to the Board of Directors those candidates to be nominated for election. In reviewing such candidates, our Corporate
Governance Guidelines, which are available on our website as described above, set forth criteria that the Nominating and Corporate
Governance Committee must consider when evaluating a director candidate for membership on the Board of Directors. These criteria are as
follows:

 • Integrity:  reputation for integrity, honesty and adherence to high ethical standards;

 • Sound business judgment:  demonstrated business acumen, experience and ability to exercise sound judgments in matters that
relate to our current and long-term objectives and a willingness to contribute positively to the decision-making process;

 • Ability and willingness to commit sufficient time to the Board:  commitment to understand us and our industry and to
regularly attend and participate in meetings of the Board of Directors and its committees; and

 • Ethics and independence:  ability to understand the sometimes-conflicting interests of our various constituencies, which include
stockholders, employees, customers, governmental units, creditors and the general public, and to act in the interests of all
stakeholders.

The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee does not assign specific weights to particular criteria and no particular criterion is a
prerequisite for any prospective nominee.
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Our Corporate Governance Guidelines also require the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee to consider the mix of
backgrounds and qualifications of the directors in order to assure that the Board of Directors has the necessary experience, knowledge and
abilities to perform its responsibilities effectively and to consider the value of diversity on the Board of Directors, including diversity of
experience, gender, race, ethnicity and age. While diversity and variety of experiences and viewpoints represented on the Board should
always be considered, a director nominee should not be chosen or excluded solely or largely because of race, religion, national origin,
gender, sexual orientation or disability.

BOARD COMPOSITION

Our Board of Directors currently consists of eleven members. Frank M. Drendel has been our Chairman of the Board of Directors since 2011.
Claudius E. Watts IV was appointed as Lead Independent Director in 2017.

As of April 4, 2019, per the Investment Agreement between Carlyle and CommScope and effective with the closing of the acquisition of
ARRIS, Carlyle designated two directors, Campbell R. Dyer and Daniel F. Akerson, to our Board to serve a one-year term expiring in 2020.
On February 18, 2020, Mr. Dyer provided notice of his resignation as a director, effective March 1, 2020, and Carlyle designated Patrick R.
McCarter to replace Mr. Dyer. Effective as of March 1, 2020, the Board appointed Patrick R. McCarter to fill the vacancy resulting from the
resignation of Mr. Dyer, for a term expiring at the Annual Meeting. Messrs. McCarter and Akerson are now nominees recommended by the
Board for election in 2020 and expiring at the 2021 annual meeting. These directors have been designated by Carlyle and such designees
will be voted on by the holders of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock as a single class at each annual meeting until certain beneficial
ownership conditions are no longer met as detailed in the Investment Agreement.

The remainder of our Board is divided into three classes whose members serve three-year terms expiring in successive years. These
directors hold office until their successors have been duly elected and qualified or until the earlier of their respective death, resignation or
removal. At each annual meeting of stockholders, the successors to the directors whose terms will then expire will be elected to serve from
the time of election and qualification until the third annual meeting of stockholders following such election. The number of members on our
Board of Directors may be modified from time to time exclusively by resolution of our Board of Directors. Any additional directorships
resulting from an increase in the number of directors will be distributed among the three classes so that, as nearly as possible, each class will
consist of one-third of the directors.
 
When considering whether directors and nominees have the experience, qualifications, attributes or skills, taken as a whole, to enable the
Board of Directors to satisfy their oversight responsibilities effectively in light of our business and structure, the Board of Directors focused
primarily on each person’s background and experience as reflected in the information discussed in each of the director’s individual
biographies set forth above. See Proposals No. 1 and No. 2: Election of Directors. We believe that our directors provide an appropriate
diversity of experience and skills relevant to the size and nature of our business.

BOARD AND COMMITTEE EVALUATIONS

Each year, our Board and committees conduct self-evaluations to assess the qualifications, attributes, skills and experience represented on
the Board; to assess their effectiveness and adherence to our Corporate Governance Guidelines and committee charters; and to identify
opportunities to improve Board and committee performance.

STOCKHOLDER COMMUNICATIONS WITH BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Stockholders may send written communications to the Board of Directors, or any of the individual directors, c/o our Corporate Secretary at
CommScope Holding Company, Inc., 1100 CommScope Place, SE, Hickory, North Carolina 28602. All communications will be compiled by
the Corporate Secretary of
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the Company and submitted to the Board of Directors or the individual directors, as applicable, on a periodic basis.

BOARD MEETINGS, ATTENDANCE AND EXECUTIVE SESSIONS

The Board meets on a regularly scheduled basis during the year to review significant developments affecting us and to act on matters
requiring Board approval. It also holds special meetings when an important matter requires Board action between scheduled meetings.
Members of senior management regularly attend meetings of the Board and its committees to report on and discuss their areas of
responsibility. Directors are expected to attend Board meetings and meetings of committees on which they serve. In addition, all directors are
invited, but not required, to attend our annual stockholder meeting. In 2019, all the directors attended our annual stockholder meeting either
in person or via telephone. Directors are expected to spend the time needed and meet as frequently as necessary to properly discharge their
responsibilities. In 2019, the Board held nine meetings and committees of the Board held a total of twenty-two meetings. All directors
attended 90% or more of the meetings of the Board and committees on which they served.

In general, the Board reserves time following each regularly scheduled meeting to allow the independent directors to meet in executive
session.
 
BOARD COMMITTEES

Our Board of Directors directs the management of our business and affairs as provided by Delaware law and conducts its business through
meetings of the Board of Directors and three standing committees: Audit Committee; Compensation Committee; and Nominating and
Corporate Governance Committee. In addition, from time to time, other committees may be established under the direction of the Board of
Directors when necessary or advisable to address specific issues.

Each of the Audit Committee, Compensation Committee and Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee operates under a charter
that was approved by our Board of Directors. Each of these charters is available on our investor relations website at
http://ir.commscope.com.
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Committee Primary Responsibilities
Audit(1)
 
Members: Messrs. Yates (Chair), Adams and
Manning
 
Number of Meetings in 2019: 5

•  Assists the Board of Directors in its oversight of (i) our accounting and financial reporting
processes and other internal control processes, (ii) the audits and integrity of our
financial statements, and (iii) our compliance with legal and regulatory requirements.

•  Approves the independent registered public accounting firm’s appointment,
compensation, retention and provides oversight of their work as well as annually
assesses their qualifications and independence.

•  Considers and reviews the adequacy and effectiveness of our internal controls over
financial reporting and any related significant findings of our independent auditor and
internal audit.

•  Reviews our Code of Ethics and recommends changes as well as reviews and assesses
any violations.

•  Reviews and approves any proposed related person transactions.
•  Reviews our financial and risk management policies, including approval of decisions to

enter swaps or other derivatives.
•  Reviews our enterprise risk management program which is a comprehensive

assessment of key risks including those related to cybersecurity.
 

Compensation(2)
 
Members: Messrs. Gray (Chair), Krause,
McCarter and Watts
 
Number of Meetings in 2019: 13

•  Reviews and approves the compensation philosophy for our Chief Executive Officer.
•  Reviews and approves all forms of compensation and benefits provided to our other

executive officers.
•  Reviews and oversees the administration of our equity incentive plans.
•  May engage independent compensation advisors to provide advice regarding our

executive compensation program and director compensation.
 

Nominating and Corporate
Governance(3)
 
Members: Ms. Maguire (Chair) and Messrs.
Akerson, Krause and Watts
 
Number of Meetings in 2019: 3

•  Identifies, screens and recommends candidates to the Board of Directors for election to
our Board of Directors.

•  Reviews the composition of the Board of Directors and its committees.
•  Reviews and determines appropriate Board leadership structure.
•  Develops and recommends appropriate Corporate Governance Guidelines.
•  Oversees overall compliance with and execution of the Company’s Corporate

Governance Guidelines.
•  Oversight of ESG policies and practices.

(1) The Board of Directors has determined that each of member of the Audit Committee is an “audit committee financial expert” as such term is defined under the
applicable regulations of the Commission and has the requisite accounting or related financial management expertise and financial sophistication under the applicable
rules and regulations of Nasdaq. The Board of Directors has also determined that each member of the Audit Committee is independent under Rule 10A-3 under the
Exchange Act and the enhanced independence standards for audit committee members as defined in the rules of Nasdaq and the Commission. All members of the
Audit Committee can read and understand fundamental financial statements, are familiar with finance and accounting practices and principles and are financially
literate.

(2) The Compensation Committee’s processes for fulfilling its responsibilities and duties with respect to executive compensation and the role of executive officers and
management in the compensation process are each described under the heading “Determination of Compensation Awards” in this Proxy Statement. The Board of
Directors has determined that each member of the Compensation Committee satisfies the enhanced independence standards for compensation committee members
as defined in the rules of Nasdaq and the Commission.

(3) The Board of Directors has determined that each member of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee is independent as defined in the Nasdaq rules.
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DIRECTOR COMPENSATION
 

Our Compensation Committee has the primary authority to determine and approve the compensation of our non-employee directors. When
considering and approving changes to the level and composition of the directors’ compensation, the Compensation Committee considers
input from its independent compensation consultant and market data from peer companies.
 
Directors who are employees of the Company or its affiliates (including Carlyle) receive no additional compensation for their service on our
Board of Directors or its committees. Non-employee directors are each paid a basic cash retainer per year for service on our Board of
Directors, payable quarterly, plus an additional amount for serving as a chair or member of a committee. The Lead Independent Director
receives an additional cash retainer annually. We also reimburse non-employee directors for reasonable out-of-pocket expenses in the
performance of their duties as directors. Non-employee directors received equity-based awards, in the form of stock options (if granted prior
to our IPO in 2013) or restricted stock units (RSUs) (if granted subsequent to our IPO) at the time of their election to our Board of Directors.
In addition, our non-employee directors receive an annual grant of RSUs on the date of the annual stockholders’ meeting. The RSUs vest on
the date of the next annual meeting or, if earlier, the first anniversary of the grant date. If a director joins the Board or changes roles between
stockholders’ meetings, the director fees and stock retainer are prorated.
 
For 2019, the Compensation Committee reviewed director compensation data from the same compensation peer group it used for executive
compensation decisions made prior to the acquisition of ARRIS. See the description of the compensation peer group entering 2019 included
in “Compensation Peer Group” beginning on page 62 for more information. Effective February 20, 2019, the Compensation Committee
changed the Non-Employee Director Compensation Plan to increase the basic cash retainer from $80,000 to $90,000 per year, with no
changes to supplemental cash retainers, and to increase the annual stock retainer from $160,000 to $180,000 per year.
 
The following tables summarize our non-employee director compensation for 2019:
 

Annual Non-Employee Director Compensation
Basic Cash Retainer $90,000

Supplemental Cash Retainers:  

Lead Independent Director $30,000

Audit Committee Chair(1) $30,000

Audit Committee Member $15,000

Compensation Committee Chair(1) $20,000

Compensation Committee Member $10,000

Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee Chair(1) $15,000

Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee Member $10,000

Annual Stock Retainer(2) $180,000

(1) Amount includes both the supplemental cash retainer for serving as the committee chair and the supplemental cash retainer for serving as a member of such
Committee.

(2) The number of RSUs granted as the annual stock retainer is determined based upon the closing price of our common stock on the grant date.
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DIRECTOR COMPENSATION TABLE FOR 2019

Name  
Fees Earned or
Paid in Cash ($)  

Stock
Awards ($)(1)  Total ($)

       
Austin A. Adams  103,611  179,984  283,595
       
Daniel F. Akerson  74,175  194,972  269,147
       
Campbell R. Dyer(2)  —  —  —
       
Stephen C. Gray  108,611  179,984  288,595
       
L. William Krause  108,611  179,984  288,595
       
Joanne M. Maguire  103,611  179,984  283,595
       
Thomas J. Manning  103,611  179,984  283,595
       
Claudius E. Watts IV  138,611  179,984  318,595
       
Timothy T. Yates  118,611  179,984  298,595

 

(1) We granted each non-employee director 11,242 RSUs in 2019 which will vest May 8, 2020. We also granted Mr. Akerson 613 RSUs in April 2019 upon appointment to the
Board. These units vested on June 21, 2019. Amounts represent the grant date fair value of these RSUs, which was computed in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718.

(2) Mr. Dyer is employed by Carlyle and did not receive director compensation from the Company. Mr. Dyer resigned from the Board on March 1, 2020.

DIRECTOR OPTION EXERCISES AND STOCK VESTED FOR 2019

  Option Awards  Stock Awards

Name  

Number of
Shares

Acquired on
Exercise (#)  

Value
Realized

on
Exercise ($)  

Number of
Shares

Acquired on
Vesting (#)  

Value
Realized

on
Vesting ($)

         
Austin A. Adams  —  —  5,712  138,516
         
Daniel F. Akerson  —  —                613             14,865
         
Campbell R. Dyer  —  —  —  —
         
Stephen C. Gray  —  —  5,712  138,516
         
L. William Krause  28,575  358,331  5,712  138,516
         
Joanne M. Maguire  —  —  5,712  138,516
         
Thomas J. Manning  —  —  5,712  138,516
         
Claudius E. Watts IV  —  —  5,712  138,516
         
Timothy T. Yates  —  —  5,712  138,516
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CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED PERSON
TRANSACTIONS

Our Board has adopted a written statement of policy for the evaluation of and the approval, disapproval and monitoring of transactions
involving us and “related persons.” For the purposes of the policy, “related persons” will include our executive officers, directors and director
nominees or their immediate family members, or stockholders owning five percent or more of our outstanding common stock and their
immediate family members.

The policy covers any transaction, arrangement or relationship, or any series of similar transactions, arrangements or relationships, in which
we were or are to be a participant, the amount involved exceeds $120,000, and a related person had or will have a direct or indirect material
interest. Pursuant to this policy, our management will present to our Audit Committee each proposed related person transaction, including all
relevant facts and circumstances relating thereto. Our Audit Committee will then:

 • review the relevant facts and circumstances of each related person transaction, including the financial terms of such transaction,
the benefits to us, the availability of other sources for comparable products or services, if the transaction is on terms no less
favorable to us than those that could be obtained in arm’s-length dealings with an unrelated third party or employees generally
and the extent of the related person’s interest in the transaction; and

 • consider the impact on the independence of any independent director and the actual or apparent conflicts of interest.

Any related person transaction may only be consummated if our Audit Committee has approved or ratified such transaction in accordance
with the guidelines set forth in the policy. Certain types of transactions have been pre-approved by our Audit Committee under the policy.
These pre-approved transactions include:

 • certain employment and compensation arrangements;

 • transactions where the related person’s interest is only as an employee (other than an executive officer), director or owner of less
than ten percent (10%) of the equity in another entity;

 • transactions where the related person is an executive officer of another company and the aggregate amount involved does not
exceed the greater of $200,000 or five percent (5%) of the total annual revenues of the other company;

 • charitable contributions to an organization, foundation or university at which the related person’s only relationship is as an
employee, trustee or director, if the contribution is made pursuant to the Company’s policies and approved by someone other than
the related person;

 • transactions where the interest of the related person arises solely from the ownership of a class of equity securities in our
Company where all holders of such class of equity securities will receive the same benefit on a pro rata basis;

 • transactions determined by competitive bids;

 • certain regulated transactions involving the rendering of services at rates or charges fixed by law or governmental authority; and

 • certain transactions involving banking-related services such as services as a bank depositary of funds, transfer agent, registrar,
trustee under a trust indenture or similar services.
 

No director may participate in the approval of a related person transaction for which he or she, or his or her immediate family members, is a
related person.
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INVESTMENT AGREEMENT

 
On April 4, 2019, the Company issued 1,000,000 shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock to Carlyle for an aggregate purchase price
of $1.0 billion, or $1,000 per share, pursuant to the Investment Agreement between the Company and Carlyle, dated November 8, 2018.
 
The Series A Convertible Preferred Stock ranks senior to the shares of the Company’s common stock, with respect to dividend rights and
rights on the distribution of assets on any voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the affairs of the Company. Holders
of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock are entitled to a cumulative dividend at the rate of 5.5% per annum, payable quarterly in arrears.
Dividends can be paid in cash, in kind with Series A Convertible Preferred Stock or any combination of the two options at the Company’s sole
discretion. During 2019, we paid Carlyle $40.7 million in authorized dividends for the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock.
 
The Series A Convertible Preferred Stock is convertible at the option of the holders at any time into shares of CommScope common stock at
a conversion rate of 36.36 shares of common stock per share of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock (equivalent to $27.50 per common
share), subject to certain limits unless and until stockholders approve Proposal No. 6. The conversion rate is subject to customary anti-
dilution and other adjustments. At any time after the third anniversary of the issuance of the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, if the
volume weighted average price of CommScope’s common stock exceeds the mandatory conversion price of $49.50 for at least thirty trading
days in any period of forty-five consecutive trading days (including the final five consecutive trading days of such forty-five day trading
period), the Company has the option to convert all of the outstanding shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock into CommScope
common stock. During the three months following the eight and one-half year anniversary of the Investment Agreement closing date and the
three months following each anniversary thereafter, holders of the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock will have the right to require
CommScope to redeem all or any portion of the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock at 100% liquidation preference plus all accrued and
unpaid dividends. The redemption price is payable, at the Company’s option, in cash or a combination of cash and common stock subject to
certain restrictions. Upon the occurrence of a change of control, the Company will have the right, subject to the rights of the holders of
outstanding shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock to convert prior to such redemption, to redeem all of the Series A Convertible
Preferred Stock for the greater of (i) an amount in cash equal to the sum of the liquidation preference of the Series A Convertible Preferred
Stock, all accrued but unpaid dividends and, if the applicable redemption date is prior to the fifth anniversary of the first dividend payment
date, the present value, discounted at a rate of 10%, of any remaining scheduled dividends through the five year anniversary of the first
dividend payment date, assuming CommScope chose to pay such dividends in cash and (ii) the consideration the holders would have
received if they had converted their shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock into common stock immediately prior to the change of
control event.
 
Holders of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock are entitled to vote with the holders of common stock on an as-converted basis, voting
together as a single class, subject to certain limits unless and until stockholders approve Proposal No. 6. Holders of Series A Convertible
Preferred Stock are entitled to a separate class vote with respect to amendments to the Company’s organizational documents that have an
adverse effect on the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock and the creation or classification of, or issuances by, the Company of securities
that are senior to, or equal in priority with, the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock. So long as Carlyle or its affiliates beneficially own shares
of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock and/or shares of common stock issued upon conversion of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock
(Conversion Common Stock) that represent, in the aggregate and on an as-converted basis, at least 50% of Carlyle’s initial shares of Series
A Convertible Preferred Stock on an as-converted basis, Carlyle has the right to designate two directors to be nominated by the Board for
election to the Board. Until Carlyle no longer has the right to designate directors for election to the Board, it and its affiliates have committed
to vote all of their shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock and/or common stock (i) in favor of director nominees recommended by the
Board, (ii) against stockholder director nominees not approved and recommended by the Board, (iii) in favor of the Company’s say-on-pay
proposal and other equity compensation proposals that have been approved by the compensation committee and (iv) in favor of the
Company’s proposal for ratification of the appointment of the
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Company’s independent registered public accounting firm. With regard to all other matters submitted to the vote of stockholders, Carlyle and
its affiliates are under no obligation to vote in the same manner as recommended by the Board or otherwise.

AIRCRAFT AGREEMENTS

 
Little River Leasing, LLC (Little River), a limited liability company that is wholly owned by Frank Drendel, our Chairman of the Board, operates
and maintains an aircraft primarily for Mr. Drendel’s personal use.  Little River and CommScope, Inc. of North Carolina, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, are party to an Aircraft Dry Lease, pursuant to which CommScope may lease Little River’s aircraft for company
use on a non-exclusive and as-available basis, in exchange for an hourly fee. For 2019, the aggregate amount that CommScope’s subsidiary
paid to Little River for the Company’s lease of Little River’s aircraft was equal to $89,500.
 
Little River and CommScope, Inc. of North Carolina also are party to an Aircraft Services Agreement, pursuant to which CommScope and
CommScope’s aviation department provide certain aircraft maintenance, aircraft management, and pilot services to Little River with respect
to the operation and maintenance of Little River’s aircraft. Pursuant to the Aircraft Services Agreement, Little River pays CommScope’s
subsidiary a daily fee for the pilot services and maintenance services, and an annual fee for management services. Little River is solely
responsible for all direct operating costs of the aircraft, all costs and expenses for fuel and oil, and all landing and parking fees, international
handling and navigation fees, hangar fees, and catering fees related to the use of the aircraft (other than with respect to CommScope’s use
of the aircraft for company purposes, which is covered by the Aircraft Dry Lease, as described above). For 2019, the aggregate amount that
Little River paid to CommScope’s subsidiary with respect to these services under the Aircraft Services Agreement was equal to $72,932.
 
Both the Aircraft Dry Lease and the Aircraft Services Agreement were reviewed and ratified by the Audit Committee.
 
See “Employee Benefits and Perquisites” in this Proxy Statement for information about the limited permissible personal use of the
Company’s aircraft by our executive officers. For 2019, no NEO met or exceeded $10,000 in unreimbursed aggregate incremental costs
associated with personal use of the Company’s aircraft.

JP MORGAN AGREEMENTS

 
During 2019, JPMorgan Chase & Co. (JPMorgan) reported beneficial ownership of more than 5.0% of our outstanding shares of common
stock. J.P. Morgan Securities LLC, a subsidiary of JPMorgan, acted as an M&A advisor in connection with the Acquisition, and we paid J.P.
Morgan Securities LLC fees in the amount of approximately $49.8 million for these services in 2019. 
 
Additionally, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., a subsidiary of JPMorgan, acted as an arranger, administrative agent, collateral agent and lender
on our Term Loan Credit Agreement and Revolving Credit Agreement, each dated as of April 4, 2019, which we entered into in connection
with the Acquisition.
 
On the date of the Acquisition, we borrowed $3.2 billion under a new senior secured term loan due 2026 with an interest rate of LIBOR plus
3.25%. We repaid $8.0 million under the 2026 Term Loan during 2019 and $143.1 million in interest, and as of March 10, 2020, $3.192 billion
remained outstanding. 
 
We borrowed and repaid $15.0 million under the new revolving credit facility in the second quarter of 2019 and paid $15,616 of interest in
connection with such borrowings. As of February 19, 2020, no amounts were outstanding, and we had availability of $733.9 million, reflecting
a borrowing base of $762.4 million reduced by $28.5 million of letters of credit under the facility. Borrowings under the new revolving credit
facility bear interest at a floating rate, which can be either an adjusted Eurodollar rate plus
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an applicable margin of 1.25% to 1.50% or, at the option of the borrowers, a base rate plus an applicable margin of 0.25% to 0.50%.
 
All agreements were negotiated at arm's length and reviewed and ratified by the Audit Committee. 
 
INDEMNIFICATION AGREEMENTS

We have entered into indemnification agreements with each of our directors and certain of our officers. These indemnification agreements
provide the directors and officers with contractual rights to indemnification and expense advancement which are, in some cases, broader
than the specific indemnification provisions under Delaware law. We believe that these indemnification agreements are, in form and
substance, substantially similar to those commonly entered into by similarly situated companies. A form of indemnification agreement is filed
as an exhibit to our Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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EXECUTIVE OFFICERS
The following table provides information regarding our executive officers:
 
Name  Age  Position
Marvin (Eddie) S. Edwards, Jr.  71  President, Chief Executive Officer and Director
Alexander W. Pease  48  Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
Morgan C.S. Kurk  50  Executive Vice President and Chief Technology Officer
Frank (Burk) B. Wyatt, II  57  Senior Vice President, Chief Legal Officer and Secretary
Robyn T. Mingle  54  Senior Vice President and Chief Human Resources Officer
Brooke B. Clark  45  Senior Vice President and Chief Accounting Officer

 
 
Marvin (Eddie) S. Edwards, Jr.

Mr. Edwards has been our President and Chief Executive Officer and a member of our Board of Directors since 2011. From 2010 to 2011,
Mr. Edwards was our President and Chief Operating Officer. Prior to that, Mr. Edwards served as our Executive Vice President of Business
Development and General Manager, Wireless Network Solutions from 2007 to 2010. From 2005 to 2007, he served as our Executive Vice
President of Business Development. Mr. Edwards also served as President and Chief Executive Officer of OFS Fitel, LLC and OFS
BrightWave, LLC, a joint venture between our Company and The Furukawa Electric Co. Mr. Edwards has also served in various capacities
with Alcatel, including President of Alcatel North America Cable Systems and President of Radio Frequency Systems.

Alexander W. Pease

Mr. Pease has been our Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer since 2018. From 2016 to 2018, Mr. Pease served as Executive
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Snyder’s-Lance, Inc. Mr. Pease served as a principal at McKinsey & Company as a leader in
their global corporate finance and business functions practice from 2015 to 2016. From 2011 to 2015, he was Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer at EnPro Industries, Inc., overseeing six operating divisions in addition to finance, accounting, strategy and
development, global supply chain and information technology. Before joining EnPro, Mr. Pease worked at McKinsey & Company and served
in the US Navy as a SEAL Platoon commander.

Morgan C.S. Kurk

Mr. Kurk became our Executive Vice President and Chief Technology Officer upon close of the ARRIS acquisition, a position he previously
held from 2016 to 2017. Mr. Kurk most recently served as our Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer in 2018 and 2019. Prior
to 2016, he served as Senior Vice President of the Wireless segment, with responsibility for indoor, outdoor and backhaul businesses from
2012 to 2015. Mr. Kurk joined CommScope in 2009 as Senior Vice President of the Enterprise business unit. From 1997 to 2009, Mr. Kurk
held a variety of positions at Andrew Corporation and one of its successors, including Director of Business Development, Vice President of
R&D, PLM, and Strategy and Vice President and General Manager of the Wireless Innovations Group. Prior to joining Andrew, Mr. Kurk
worked for Motorola, where he was a hardware development engineer for cellular base stations and a product manager for a CDMA base
station product line.

Frank (Burk) B. Wyatt, II

Mr. Wyatt has been Senior Vice President, Chief Legal Officer and Secretary of CommScope since 2000. Prior to joining our Company as
General Counsel and Secretary in 1996, Mr. Wyatt was an attorney in private practice with Bell, Seltzer, Park & Gibson, P.A. (now Alston &
Bird LLP).
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Robyn T. Mingle

Ms. Mingle became our Senior Vice President, Chief Human Resources Officer, in 2016. Prior to joining CommScope, she was the Chief
Human Resource Officer at Xylem Inc. from 2011 to 2015, where she was a founding executive team member for the global water Company
spin-off from ITT Corp. From 2003 to 2011, Ms. Mingle was the Senior Vice President, Human Resources at Hovnanian Enterprises, Inc.,
one of the nation’s largest homebuilders. She spent the first 14 years of her career with The Black & Decker Corporation in various human
resource roles.

Brooke B. Clark

Ms. Clark has been our Senior Vice President, Chief Accounting Officer since September 2018. Ms. Clark previously served as Vice
President, Corporate Accounting since 2013. She served in various positions within our finance organization since joining CommScope in
2004. Prior to joining CommScope, Ms. Clark was employed by Deloitte & Touche, LLP. Ms. Clark is a Certified Public Accountant in North
Carolina.
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BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP OF OUR COMMON STOCK
 
The following tables set forth information with respect to the beneficial ownership of our common stock and Series A Convertible Preferred
Stock as of March 10, 2020 by:
 • each of our NEOs;
 • each of our directors;
 • all our directors and executive officers as a group; and
 • each individual or entity known to own beneficially more than 5% of the capital stock.

We had 195,284,390 shares of common stock and 1,000,000 shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock outstanding as of March 10,
2020. None of the executive officers or directors named in the table below owned, beneficially or of record, any shares of the Company’s
Series A Convertible Preferred Stock. The amounts and percentages of shares beneficially owned are reported based on Commission
regulations governing the determination of beneficial ownership of securities. Under the Commission rules, an individual or entity is deemed
to be a “beneficial” owner of a security if that individual or entity has or shares voting power or investment power, which includes the power to
dispose of or to direct the disposition of such security. An individual or entity is also deemed to be a beneficial owner of any securities of
which that individual or entity has a right to acquire beneficial ownership within 60 days. Securities that can be so acquired are not deemed to
be outstanding for purposes of computing the ownership percentage of any other individual or entity. Under these rules, more than one
individual or entity may be deemed to be a beneficial owner of securities as to which such individual or entity has no economic interest.
Except as otherwise indicated in the footnotes to the table below, each of the beneficial owners listed has, to our knowledge, sole voting and
investment power with respect to the shares of capital stock and the business address of each such beneficial owner, unless otherwise
noted, is c/o CommScope Holding Company, Inc., 1100 CommScope Place, SE, Hickory, North Carolina 28602.
 

 

Name of Beneficial Owner Common Stock  

Options to
Purchase
Common Stock
(1) RSUs (2)

Total Shares of
Common Stock
Beneficially
Owned

Percentage of
Class

Executive Officers and Directors:       
Marvin S. Edwards, Jr.
   President, Chief Executive Officer and
   Director

     330,122    2,047,130          —   2,377,252 1.2%

Alexander W. Pease
   Executive Vice President and Chief
   Financial Officer

       59,153 (3)        70,624          —      129,777 *

Morgan C.S. Kurk
  Executive Vice President and Chief
  Technology Officer

       43,119         99,231          —      142,350 *

Frank B. Wyatt, II
   Senior Vice President, Chief Legal Officer and
   Secretary

       79,725       101,297          —      181,022 *

Robyn T. Mingle
  Senior Vice President, Chief Human
  Resources Officer

       25,592         59,060          —        84,652 *

Frank M. Drendel
   Chairman of the Board

  2,535,021 (4)      769,669          —   3,304,690 1.7%

Bruce W. McClelland
  Former Executive Vice President
  and Chief Operating Officer

             —               —          —              — *
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Name of Beneficial Owner Common Stock  

Options to
Purchase
Common Stock
(1) RSUs (2)

Total Shares of
Common Stock
Beneficially
Owned

Percentage of
Class

Austin A. Adams
   Director

           27,858               —       11,242          39,100 *

Daniel F. Akerson
   Director

                613               —       11,242          11,855 *

Stephen C. Gray
   Director

           19,776               —       11,242          31,018 *

L. William Krause
   Director

           69,601               —       11,242          80,843 *

Joanne M. Maguire
   Director

           16,521               —       11,242          27,763 *

Thomas J. Manning
   Director

           20,018               —       11,242          31,260 *

Patrick R. McCarter
   Director

               —               —              —              — *

Claudius E. Watts IV
   Director

           66,335               —       11,242          77,577 *

Timothy T. Yates
   Director

           44,779               —       11,242          56,021 *

Directors and executive officers as a
   group (17 persons)

      3,346,485     3,155,789       89,936     6,592,210 3.3%

* Denotes less than 1%
(1) Includes options to purchase shares of common stock that are currently exercisable or will become exercisable within 60 days of March 10, 2020.
(2) Includes restricted stock units that will vest and become exercisable within 60 days of March 10, 2020.
(3) Includes 75 shares held in a custodial account for Mr. Pease’s daughter.
(4) Includes 85,050 shares held in three separate guarantor retained annuity trusts established by Mr. Drendel and 133,330 shares held by the trusts of the deceased

spouse of Mr. Drendel.
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 Common Stock  
Series A Convertible

Preferred Stock

Name and Address of Beneficial Owner
Total Number of

Shares
Percentage of

Class  
Total Number of

Shares
Percentage of

Class
Large Stockholders:      
The Carlyle Group L.P.(1)

  1001 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW
  Washington, DC 20004

      1,000,000 100.00%

FMR LLC(2)

  245 Summer Street
  Boston, MA 02210

    22,257,425 11.4%    

Maverick Capital, Ltd.(3)

  1900 N. Pearl Street, 20th Floor
  Dallas, TX 75201

    19,326,308 9.9%    

FPR Partners, LLC(4)

  199 Fremont Street, Suite 2500
  San Francisco, CA 94105

    19,307,663 9.9%    

The Vanguard Group(5)

  100 Vanguard Blvd.
  Malvern, PA  19355

    17,749,471 9.1%    

Wellington Management Company LLP(6)

  280 Congress Street
  Boston, MA 02210

    12,189,131 6.2%    

JPMorgan Chase & Co.(7)

  383 Madison Avenue
  New York, NY 10179

      9,917,952 5.1%    

(1) According to a Schedule 13D filed jointly by Carlyle Group Management LLC, The Carlyle Group LP, Carlyle Holdings I GP Inc., Carlyle Holdings I GP Sub LLC, Carlyle
Holdings I LP, TC Group, LLC, TC Group Sub LP, TC Group VII S1, LLC, TC Group VII S1, LP, and Carlyle Partners VII S1 Holdings, LP (Carlyle Partners VII) on April
11, 2019. As of March 10, 2020, the shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock held by Carlyle Partners VII were convertible into 36,363,636 shares of common
stock.

(2) According to a Schedule 13G/A filed jointly by FMR LLC, Abigail P. Johnson and Select Semiconductors Portfolio on February 10, 2020, reporting beneficial ownership
of our common stock as of December 31, 2019. The shares listed in the table are beneficially owned by FIAM LLC and Fidelity Management & Research Company
LLC. FMR LLC has sole voting power with respect to 375,976 of the shares and sole dispositive power with respect to 22,257,425 shares. Select Semiconductors
Portfolio has sole voting power with respect to 10,499,900 of the shares. According to the Schedule 13G/A, Abigail P. Johnson is a Director, the Chairman and the
Chief Executive Officer of FMR LLC, and members of the Johnson family, including Abigail P. Johnson, are the predominant owners, directly or through trusts, of Series
B voting common shares of FMR LLC, representing 49% of the voting power of FMR LLC. The Johnson family group and all other Series B shareholders have entered
into a shareholders' voting agreement under which all Series B voting common shares will be voted in accordance with the majority vote of Series B voting common
shares. Accordingly, through their ownership of voting common shares and the execution of the shareholders' voting agreement, members of the Johnson family may
be deemed, under the Investment Company Act of 1940, to form a controlling group with respect to FMR LLC.

(3) According to a Schedule 13G/A filed on February 14, 2020 by Maverick Capital, Ltd., Maverick Capital Management, LLC, Lee S. Ainslie III, and Andrew H. Warford,
reporting beneficial ownership of our common stock as of December 31, 2019. The address of the principal business office of (i) Maverick Capital, Ltd. and Maverick
Capital Management, LLC is 1900 N. Pearl Street, 20th Floor, Dallas, Texas 75201, and (ii) Mr. Ainslie and Mr. Warford is 767 Fifth Avenue, 11th Floor, New York, New
York 10153. According to the Schedule 13G/A, Maverick Capital, Ltd. is an investment adviser registered under Section 203 of the Investment Advisers Act of 1940
and, as such, may be deemed to have beneficial ownership of 19,326,308 shares of our common stock through the investment discretion it exercises over its clients’
accounts. Maverick Capital Management, LLC is the General Partner of Maverick Capital, Ltd. Mr. Ainslie is the manager of Maverick Capital Management, LLC. Mr.
Warford serves as the Chairman of the Stock Committee of Maverick Capital, Ltd.

(4) According to a Schedule 13G/A filed jointly by FPR Partners, LLC, Andrew Raab and Bob Peck on February 14, 2020, reporting beneficial ownership of our common
stock as of December 31, 2019. According to the Schedule 13G/A, FPR Partners, LLC is an investment adviser registered under Section 203 of the Investment
Advisers Act of 1940 and, as such, may be deemed to have beneficial ownership of 19,307,663 shares of our common stock through the investment discretion it
exercises over its clients’ accounts. Andrew Raab and Bob Peck are the Senior Managing Members of FPR Partners, LLC. FPR Partners, LLC has the sole voting and
dispositive power, and Andrew Raab and Bob Peck each have shared voting and dispositive power, over the 19,307,663 shares reported on the Schedule 13G/A.

(5) According to a Schedule 13G/A filed by The Vanguard Group on February 12, 2020, reporting beneficial ownership of our common stock as of December 31, 2019. The
shares listed in the table are beneficially owned by the following subsidiaries of The Vanguard Group: Vanguard Fiduciary Trust Company and Vanguard Investments
Australia, Ltd. The Vanguard Group has sole voting power with respect to 97,556 of the shares, shared voting power with respect to 34,229 of the shares, sole
dispositive power with respect to 17,642,172 of the shares, and shared dispositive power over 107,299 of the shares.
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(6) According to a Schedule 13G/A filed jointly by Wellington Management Group LLP, Wellington Group Holdings LLP, Wellington Investment Advisors Holdings LLP, and

Wellington Management Company LLP on January 8, 2020, reporting beneficial ownership of our common stock as of December 31, 2019. According to the Schedule
13G/A, Wellington Management Group LLP is a parent holding company or control person with shared power to vote or to direct the vote of 10,821,628 of the shares
listed in the table and shared power to dispose or direct the disposition of 12,189,131 shares. The shares listed in the table are beneficially owned by the following
subsidiaries of Wellington Management Group LLP: Wellington Group Holdings LLP; Wellington Investment Advisors LLP; Wellington Management Global Holdings,
Ltd.; Wellington Management Company LLP; Wellington Management Canada LLC; Wellington Management Singapore Pte Ltd; Wellington Management Hong Kong
Ltd; Wellington Management International Ltd; Wellington Management Japan Pte Ltd; and Wellington Management Australia Pty Ltd.

(7) According to a Schedule 13G/A filed by JPMorgan Chase & Co. on January 10, 2020, reporting beneficial ownership of our common stock as of December 31, 2019.
According to the Schedule 13G, JPMorgan Chase & Co. is a parent holding company or control person with the sole power to vote 9,790,877 shares, and sole power to
direct the disposition of 9,914,473 shares. The shares listed in the table are beneficially owned by the following subsidiaries of JPMorgan Chase & Co.: J.P. Morgan
Trust Company of Delaware; J.P. Morgan Investment Management Inc.; JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association; and JPMorgan Asset Management (UK) Limited.
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AUDIT MATTERS

PROPOSAL No. 3:
RATIFICATION OF THE APPOINTMENT OF THE INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Audit Committee has appointed the firm of Ernst & Young LLP (EY), an independent registered public accounting firm, as our
independent auditors for 2020. EY has been retained as our independent auditor since 2008. The Audit Committee has reviewed the
qualifications and independence of EY, the lead audit partner and the audit team and determined that it is in the best interests of the
Company and its investors to continue to retain EY as the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm. The Board of Directors
is asking the stockholders to ratify and approve this action.

Representatives of EY are expected to be present at the Annual Meeting and will be afforded the opportunity to make a statement and will be
available to respond to appropriate questions that may come before the Annual Meeting.

Although such ratification is not required by law, the Board of Directors believes that stockholders should be given the opportunity to express
their views on the subject. While not binding on the Audit Committee, the failure of the stockholders to ratify the appointment of EY as the
Company’s independent registered public accounting firm would be considered by the Audit Committee in determining whether to retain the
services of EY.

INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The following table shows the aggregate fees for professional services provided by EY and its affiliates for the audits of the Company’s
consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, and other services rendered during the years ended
December 31, 2019 and 2018:
 
   2019 2018  
   (in thousands)
Audit Fees   $13,455 $7,565 
      

Audit-Related Fees   172 71 
      

Tax Fees   688 492 
All Other Fees   — — 
TOTAL   $14,315 $8,128

 

 

Audit Fees
Audit fees consist of the fees and expenses for professional services rendered for the audit of the Company’s annual consolidated financial
statements, internal control audits, reviews of quarterly financial statements, statutory audits and related services. Audit fees also include
fees and expenses for services associated with securities and debt offerings and filing registration statements with the Commission.
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Audit-Related Fees
Audit-related fees consist of the fees and expenses for attest and related services that are not required under securities laws, audits of
certain benefit plans and affiliated entities, and other services pertaining to accounting and financial reporting matters.

Tax Fees
Tax fees consist of the fees and expenses for tax compliance, primarily the preparation of original and amended tax returns, assistance with
tax audits and related services of $379,000 in 2019 and $406,000 in 2018, and tax advisory services of $309,000 in 2019 and $86,000 in
2018.

All Other Fees

There were no other fees billed for professional services rendered by EY for 2019 or 2018.

Audit Committee Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures
The Audit Committee has adopted policies and procedures for pre-approving all audit and non-audit services provided by the Company’s
independent registered public accounting firm prior to the engagement of the independent registered public accounting firm with respect to
such services.

Under these policies and procedures, proposed services may be pre-approved on a periodic basis or individual engagements may be
separately approved by the Audit Committee prior to the services being performed. In each case, the Audit Committee considers whether the
provision of such services would impair the independent registered public accounting firm’s independence. All audit services, audit-related
services and tax services provided by EY and its affiliates for 2019 and 2018 were pre-approved by the Audit Committee.

The Board of Directors recommends a vote “FOR” Proposal No. 3, the ratification of the appointment of Ernst & Young LLP as
the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm for 2020. Proxies will be voted “FOR” ratification, unless otherwise
specified in the proxy.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT
The Audit Committee assists the Board of Directors in fulfilling its responsibilities by overseeing the accounting and financial reporting
processes of CommScope, the audits of CommScope’s consolidated financial statements and internal control over financial reporting, the
qualifications and performance of the independent registered public accounting firm and the performance of CommScope’s internal audit
function. In carrying out its responsibilities, the Audit Committee, among other things, monitors preparation of quarterly and annual financial
reports by the Company’s management; supervises the relationship between the Company and its independent registered public
accountants, including their appointment, compensation and retention; and oversees management’s implementation and maintenance of
effective systems of internal controls over financial reporting and disclosure controls, including review of the Company’s policies relating to
legal and regulatory compliance, ethics and conflicts of interests, risk management and review of the Company’s internal audit function.

The Audit Committee relies on the expertise and knowledge of management, the Company’s internal audit function and the independent
auditor in carrying out its oversight responsibilities. Management is responsible for the Company’s financial statements and the financial
reporting process, including the implementation and maintenance of effective internal control over financial reporting. Management is also
responsible to the Audit Committee and the Board of Directors for assessing the integrity of the financial accounting and reporting control
systems. The Company’s independent registered public accounting firm, Ernst & Young LLP (EY), is responsible for auditing the Company’s
financial statements and the effectiveness of internal controls over financial reporting and expressing an opinion on the conformity of those
audited financial statements with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, as well as expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting. EY has free access to the Audit Committee to discuss any matters they deem appropriate.

In order to assure continuing auditor independence and objectivity, the Audit Committee periodically considers whether there should be a
regular rotation of the independent registered public accounting firm. The Audit Committee is also involved in the selection of the lead
engagement partner in conjunction with the mandated regular rotation of the lead audit partner every five years or at an earlier date.

The Audit Committee operates pursuant to an Audit Committee Charter that is reviewed annually by the Audit Committee and updated as
appropriate. The charter can be found on the Company’s investor relations website at http://ir.commscope.com/corporate-governance.cfm.

The Audit Committee consists of three directors, each of whom is independent within the meaning of the Securities and Exchange
Commission and applicable Nasdaq rules. The Audit Committee met five times during 2019 and met with both EY and the Company’s
internal auditors without management at each meeting.

In fulfilling its oversight responsibilities, the Audit Committee has: (i) reviewed and discussed the audited financial statements for the year
ended December 31, 2019 with management and EY; (ii) reviewed and discussed management’s maintenance of effective internal controls
over financial reporting; (iii) discussed with EY the matters required to be discussed by the auditors with the Audit Committee under Public
Company Accounting Oversight Board (PCAOB) standards; (iv) reviewed the written disclosures and letters from EY as required by the rules
of the PCAOB regarding the independent registered public accounting firm’s communications with the Audit Committee concerning
independence; and (v) discussed with EY their independence from the Company.

The Audit Committee has considered whether the provision of non-audit professional services rendered by EY, and disclosed elsewhere in
this proxy statement, is compatible with maintaining their independence.

Based upon the above-mentioned review and discussions, the Audit Committee recommended to the Board of Directors that the audited
financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2019 be included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for filing with the
Securities and Exchange Commission.
 
AUDIT COMMITTEE
Timothy T. Yates (Chair)
Austin A. Adams
Thomas J. Manning
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EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

PROPOSAL No. 4:
ADVISORY VOTE ON EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

In accordance with the requirements of Section 14A of the Exchange Act and related rules promulgated by the Commission, our stockholders
have an opportunity to vote to approve, on an advisory (nonbinding) basis, the compensation of our NEOs as described in this Proxy
Statement. This proposal is commonly referred to as a “Say-on-Pay” proposal. This proposal is not intended to address any specific item of
compensation, but rather the overall compensation of our NEOs and the philosophy, policies and practices described in this Proxy Statement.
As required by these rules, the Board invites you to review carefully the Compensation Discussion and Analysis and the tabular and other
disclosures on compensation under Executive Compensation beginning on page 47 and cast a vote on the Company’s executive
compensation programs through the following resolution:

“Resolved, that the stockholders approve, on an advisory basis, the compensation of the Company’s NEOs as discussed and disclosed in
the Compensation Discussion and Analysis, the compensation tables, and any narrative executive compensation disclosure contained in this
Proxy Statement.”

As discussed in the Compensation Discussion and Analysis, the Board of Directors believes that the Company’s long-term success depends
in large measure on the talents of our employees. The Company’s compensation system plays a significant role in our ability to attract, retain
and motivate the highest quality workforce. The Board of Directors believes that its current compensation program directly links executive
compensation to performance, aligning the interests of the Company’s executive officers with those of the stockholders.

Pursuant to Section 14A of the Exchange Act, this vote is advisory and will not be binding on the Company or the Compensation Committee.
While the vote does not bind the Board of Directors to any particular action, the Board of Directors values the input of the stockholders and
will take into account the outcome of this vote in considering future compensation arrangements.

The Company strongly encourages all stockholders to vote on this matter. Currently, Say-on-Pay votes are held by the Company annually.
The next stockholder advisory vote on Say-on-Pay is expected to occur at the 2021 annual meeting of stockholders, although such timing
may change depending on the outcome of the vote on Proposal No. 5.

The Board of Directors recommends a vote “FOR” Proposal No. 4, to approve an advisory (non-binding) resolution regarding the
compensation of the Company’s NEOs.
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PROPOSAL No. 5:
ADVISORY VOTE ON FREQUENCY OF ADVISORY VOTES ON EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

As discussed in Proposal No. 4, the Board of Directors values the input of stockholders regarding the Company’s executive compensation
practices. Stockholders are also invited to express their views on how frequently advisory votes on executive compensation, such as
Proposal No. 4, will occur. Stockholders can advise the Board on whether such votes should occur every year, every two years or every three
years or may abstain from voting.

This is an advisory vote, and as such is not binding on the Board of Directors. However, the Board of Directors will take the results of the vote
into account when deciding when to call for the next advisory vote on executive compensation. A frequency vote similar to this will occur at
least once every six years, and we currently expect the next vote to be at the Company’s annual meeting in 2026.

The Board of Directors recommends that stockholders vote for advisory votes on executive compensation to be held every year. An annual
approach provides regular input by stockholders. Stockholders are not being asked to approve or disapprove of the Board of Directors’
recommendation, but rather to indicate their own choice as among the frequency options.
 

The Board of Directors recommends a vote “EVERY YEAR” for Proposal No. 5, for frequency of advisory votes on executive
compensation.
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INTRODUCTION

This Compensation Discussion and Analysis (CD&A) describes our compensation philosophy, process, plans and practices for our NEOs.
Our executive compensation program is intended to incent and reward our leadership to produce financial results that our Compensation
Committee believes align with the interests of our stockholders.

Our NEOs for 2019, whose compensation is discussed in this CD&A, are as follows:

Name Title
Marvin S. Edwards, Jr. President and Chief Executive Officer (principal executive officer)

Alexander W. Pease Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (principal financial officer)

Morgan C.S. Kurk Executive Vice President and Chief Technology Officer

Frank B. Wyatt, II Senior Vice President, Chief Legal Officer and Secretary

Robyn T. Mingle Senior Vice President, Chief Human Resources Officer

Frank M. Drendel Chairman of the Board

Bruce W. McClelland Former Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer(1)

(1) Mr. McClelland left CommScope in August 2019 upon elimination of the Chief Operating Officer position.
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I. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
 
SAY-ON-PAY RESULTS AND CONSIDERATION OF STOCKHOLDER SUPPORT

The CommScope management team regularly meets with investors to discuss a variety of business, industry and competitive dynamics.
During the course of these discussions, the Company gathers feedback on its executive compensation programs to ensure that interests are
aligned with stockholders.

In 2019, the Company received 73% support for its say-on-pay proposal. This level of support was below historical levels, and as a result, the
Board of Directors and the management team initiated proactive outreach to better understand stockholders’ concerns.

To that end, in early-2020, representatives of the Company as requested by the Chair of the Compensation Committee spoke with investors
representing the majority of CommScope’s stockholder base as defined by voting shares outstanding. The Compensation Committee wanted
to better understand investors’ perspectives on its executive compensation programs and governance practices. During the course of these
discussions, the Company explained the design of its executive compensation programs and how they support the long-term strategy and
stockholder value creation. In addition, the Company solicited feedback on how it can continue to enhance its future compensation programs.
The majority of stockholder input was confirmational of the Company’s current programs. That being said, the Company is deliberating
further actions based on the feedback. The Compensation Committee invites our stockholders to communicate any concerns or views on
executive pay directly to the Board of Directors.

Please refer to “Corporate Governance—Stockholder Communications with Board of Directors” on page 27 for information about communicating
with the Board.

KEY 2019 FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE HIGHLIGHTS

CommScope Holding Company, Inc. is a global provider of infrastructure solutions for communication and entertainment networks. The
Company’s solutions for wired and wireless networks enable service providers including cable, telephone and digital broadcast satellite
operators and media programmers to deliver media, voice, IP data services and Wi-Fi to their subscribers and allow enterprises to
experience constant wireless and wired connectivity across complex and varied networking environments. The Company’s solutions are
complemented by a broad array of services including technical support, systems design and integration. CommScope is a leader in digital
video and Internet Protocol Television distribution systems, broadband access infrastructure platforms and equipment that delivers data and
voice networks to homes. We are a strong part of communities from coast to coast and around the world, with approximately 30,000
employees spread across 38 states and 54 countries. CommScope’s global leadership position is built upon innovative technology, broad
solution offerings, high-quality and cost-effective customer solutions, and global manufacturing and distribution scale.

Like others in the network infrastructure industry, CommScope faced challenges in 2019 due to difficult market conditions including lower
spending by network operators and pricing pressures. We missed our revenue guidance and experienced negative stockholder returns. Our
executive leadership team worked diligently throughout the year to reduce business costs and remain profitable, while laying the groundwork
for future growth opportunities. We believe our position in the overall market is strong, and the need for the network bandwidth we enable
continues to expand.
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Key Features of our 2019 Financial Performance
•   Revenue increased year over year to $8,345.1 million in 2019 compared to $4,568.5 million in 2018, primarily due to the acquisition of

ARRIS on April 4, 2019. On a combined company basis, including pre-acquisition ARRIS results, revenue declined to $9,755.0 million
in 2019 compared to $11,311.1 million in 2018.

•   Net loss of $929.5 million, down $1,069.7 million year over year and Adjusted EBITDA(1) of $1,297.5 million, up $383.9 million year
over year.

•   EPS of ($5.02), down $5.74 year over year and adjusted EPS(1) of $2.15, down $0.12 year over year
•   Cash Flow from Operations of $596.4 million, up 20.7% year over year
•   Adjusted Free Cash Flow(1) of $792.9 million, up 72.3% year over year

(1) See reconciliation of Non-GAAP financial measures included in Appendix A hereto.

Our compensation program is designed to attract and retain key executives with competitive levels of compensation based on our industry
and also to motivate our executives by creating a strong link between pay and the Company’s performance. A significant portion of our
executives’ compensation for 2019 was tied to the achievement of performance goals that align management’s objectives with key drivers of
long-term stockholder value, including free cash flow, increased profitability, revenue growth and stock price appreciation. Our 2019 financial
performance was below expectations, and we did not achieve our target financial objectives, resulting in incentive payouts that were well
below target and reduced equity value for equity awards.

Although our 2019 results did not meet our expectations, we achieved noteworthy goals toward our business strategy with the acquisition of
ARRIS on April 4, 2019 for approximately $7.7 billion including debt assumed. CommScope and ARRIS bring together a unique set of
complementary assets and capabilities that enable end-to-end wired and wireless communication infrastructure solutions.

2019 EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION HIGHLIGHTS

Pay Program Outcomes
The outcome of our 2019 pay program clearly reflected the performance of the Company. Our executives earned less than one-third of their
target annual incentives, and no performance-based equity vested during the year. For our management team, the outcomes of executive
compensation clearly reinforced and amplified the outcomes experienced by stockholders over the year.

Annual Planning Cycle
The Compensation Committee generally approves annual compensation decisions for our executive officers in the first quarter of each year.
The Committee’s approvals in the first quarter address target annual incentives effective as of January 1, base salary effective as of April 1,
as well as equity awards that typically are granted March 1. In the timeline leading up to the annual approval of compensation decisions, the
Compensation Committee undertakes a review process that spans several meetings and is intended to evaluate our approach to setting
executive pay from multiple perspectives. This review begins in the third quarter of the prior year and takes into consideration our strategic
business plan, market data, trends in executive compensation, the input of the Committee’s independent compensation consultant and input
from stockholders, where applicable.

Merger with ARRIS
For 2019, taking into consideration the significance of the ARRIS acquisition to our Company’s long-term success and stockholder value
creation, our Compensation Committee approved a new long-term incentive program specifically designed to promote the success of our
acquisition of ARRIS and alignment of the leadership teams from the two legacy organizations. We refer to the program, which was
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finalized following our acquisition of ARRIS, as the Executive Performance Option Plan (EPOP). Under the EPOP, our NEOs received an
equal combination of time and performance-vesting options intended to replace equity that would otherwise be granted in 2019, 2020 and
2021. Additional information about the EPOP program is provided below.

The Compensation Committee made several additional changes to our executive compensation programs in connection with the ARRIS
acquisition:

 • AIP bonuses for our executives in 2019 were based on the legacy CommScope and ARRIS businesses separately for the
first quarter and for the combined Company for the second, third and fourth quarters

 • AIP performance goals for the second, third and fourth quarters were modified to reflect the projected financial results of the
combined Company and to prevent a windfall payout for executives

 • Cumulative revenue performance goals for the outstanding 2018-2020 performance share units (PSUs) were modified to
reflect the projected financial results of the combined Company and to prevent a windfall payout for executives

Elements of Pay
The following table summarizes the primary elements of our executive compensation program for 2019.

Compensation Element Purpose
 
2019 Pay Outcome

Base Salary Recognize performance of job responsibilities as well as
attract and retain individuals with superior talent.

NEO base salaries were not increased in 2019.
 
 

AIP Bonus Awards Provide short-term incentives linked directly to achievement
of financial objectives.

•   60% Adjusted EBITDA
•   30% Adjusted Free Cash Flow
•   10% Corporate Revenue

We exceeded target for the Adjusted Free Cash
Flow metric and did not achieve threshold
performance for the Adjusted EBITDA and
Corporate Revenue metrics for 2019 resulting in
a 31.34% payout.

EPOP Directly link senior management’s and stockholders’
interests by tying long-term incentive to stock price
appreciation.

•   Comprised 100% of total long-term incentive for NEOs
•   50% of the stock options are time- based and vest in

five equal installments beginning on the first
anniversary of the grant date (Time-Vesting Options)

•   50% of the stock options are performance-based and
vest over five years based on pre-established annual
Adjusted EBITDA goals set at the inception of the
program in 2019, and include a cumulative vesting
feature (Performance-Vesting Options)

•   Potential vesting in connection with qualifying
retirement

•   10-year term

For our NEOs, the exercise price of the EPOP
options granted in 2019 was higher than the
stock price as of December 31, 2019, and we did
not meet the Adjusted EBITDA threshold for
2019. This resulted in no Performance-Vesting
Options earned in 2020.
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OUR PAY-FOR-PERFORMANCE APPROACH

The compensation programs approved by our Compensation Committee emphasize pay-for-performance over a longer-term time horizon
and based on the realized value under incentive programs through the prominence of variable, at-risk compensation. AIP bonus awards and
long-term equity awards are intended to ensure that total compensation reflects the overall level of success of the Company. AIP bonus
awards and stock options granted under the EPOP are also intended to motivate the NEOs to meet and exceed pre-established target levels
of performance for each measure.

AIP
Our 2019 AIP bonus awards were paid in cash and were conditioned upon achievement of Board-established performance goals. At the
beginning of 2019, the Compensation Committee approved an AIP bonus plan applicable to our NEOs that measured achievement of:

 • an Adjusted EBITDA goal, weighted at 60%,

 • an Adjusted Free Cash Flow goal, weighted at 30%, and

 • a Corporate Revenue goal, weighted at 10%.

Following the acquisition of ARRIS, the Compensation Committee approved a modification to performance goals for the second, third and
fourth quarters to reflect the projected financial results of the combined Company and to prevent a windfall payout for executives.

EPOP
The EPOP applies to the senior leadership of the combined company, including our NEOs. Stock options granted under the plan replace
equity compensation for our NEOs during 2019, 2020 and 2021 and vest over a five-year time horizon. In addition, vesting of 50% of the
options granted to each participant requires achievement of pre-established Adjusted EBITDA goals for each year through 2023.
Performance-vesting options that fail to vest in a given performance year will be eligible to vest over the remainder of the five-year
performance period if our cumulative Adjusted EBITDA at the end of a given performance year exceeds the sum of the Adjusted EBITDA
goals for all completed performance years (cumulative vesting feature). The EPOP performance goals for each year in the performance
period were set prior to the grant date of the awards. All the options under the EPOP were granted with the same performance goals for all
participants, including those from both legacy CommScope and legacy ARRIS organizations, to ensure that all participants have similar
motivation and will share in similar achievement levels across the full duration of the program.

The Compensation Committee approved the EPOP as a critical tool supporting the success of the combined CommScope and ARRIS
organization and for retaining key personnel who will be instrumental to stockholder value creation. The program delivers compensation
entirely in the form of stock options and incorporates Adjusted EBITDA targets as the metric that we believe will be a key driver of
stockholder value creation. Although the use of options and a front-loaded equity approach increases our overhang in traditional metrics, the
Compensation Committee believes the benefits of the program outweigh this consideration. Based on analysis completed during the design
of the program, the EPOP provides participating employees an opportunity to increase their realized compensation relative to our historical
approach to equity for our most senior employees, which included annual grants in a mix of stock options, RSUs, and PSUs. However, this
increase in realized compensation will only be possible if we achieve challenging Adjusted EBITDA projections that were developed in
connection with the ARRIS acquisition.

Adjusted EBITDA
Both AIP bonus awards and the options granted under the EPOP include performance goals relating to Adjusted EBITDA. The
Compensation Committee believes that Adjusted EBITDA is an appropriate
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performance goal for these awards because it measures the profitability of our business, incorporating our ability to generate revenue and
manage our expenses. Adjusted EBITDA growth has historically been a key driver of long-term stockholder returns. While Adjusted EBITDA
is calculated similarly between the AIP and the EPOP awards, the AIP targets are set annually based on projections for the respective year,
and the EPOP targets were pre-established in 2019 based on the financial rationale that supported the ARRIS transaction.  

Adjusted EBITDA
Calculation Different Targets for Awards

Adjusted EBITDA consists of net income (loss) as reported on the
Consolidated Statements of Operations, adjusted for income tax expense
(benefit), interest income, interest expense and other expense, net to arrive
at operating income (loss), which is then adjusted to exclude items the
Company believes are useful to exclude in the evaluation of operating
performance from period to period because these items are not
representative of the Company’s core business such as:
•   depreciation
•   amortization of intangible assets
•   restructuring costs
•   asset impairments
•   equity based compensation
•   transaction and integration costs and
•   other special items.

•   Adjusted EBITDA goals for AIP bonus awards (weighted at 60% for 2019)
are established by the Compensation Committee on an annual basis
based on the approved twelve-month business plan

 
•   Adjusted EBITDA goals for the EPOP performance-based options relate to

years 2019-2023
 
•   EPOP Adjusted EBITDA goals were established in 2019 at the inception of

the program and are consistent with the financial rationale for the ARRIS
acquisition

 

At-Risk Pay and Target Pay Mix
As shown below, taking into consideration all elements of target total direct compensation for our NEOs in 2019, approximately 93% of our
CEO’s target total direct compensation was at-risk as it could vary based on Company performance against pre-established goals and/or
changes in our stock price.
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As detailed below, the outcomes of the incentive opportunities provided to our NEOs in 2019 reflect our results and focus on delivering long-
term results. Specifically, the incentives earned under our 2019 AIP were significantly below target, and options granted under the EPOP will
require sustained positive stockholder returns and, in the case of Performance-Vesting Options, significant growth in Adjusted EBITDA in
order for executives to realize the targeted value of the program.

Pay Element 2019 Outcome
AIP •   Our executives earned incentives equal to 31.34% of target under the 2019 AIP, reflecting below threshold

performance for Corporate Revenue and Adjusted EBITDA objectives and Adjusted Free Cash Flow that
modestly exceeded target.

EPOP •   As of December 31, 2019, 100% of outstanding EPOP stock options issued to executives were out of the money
based on the $14.19 closing price of our stock and the $18.60 exercise price for both Time- and Performance-
Vesting Options.

•   0% of Performance-Vesting Options eligible to vest based on 2019 performance were earned due to our failure
to achieve the threshold Adjusted EBITDA goal.

•   Unearned Performance-Vesting Options will carry forward and are eligible to be earned in future years subject to
achievement of cumulative Adjusted EBITDA goals.

Outstanding 2018 PSUs •   PSUs granted in 2018 can be earned between 0% and 200% of the granted units based on cumulative revenue
for 2018-2020.

•   Earned PSUs will vest in full on the third anniversary of the grant date subject to the continuous service of the
NEO.

•   As of December 31, 2019, cumulative revenue for the first two years of the performance period was $12.9
million, which is on pace for vesting below the threshold level.

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION-RELATED POLICIES AND PRACTICES

We endeavor to maintain sound executive compensation policies and practices, including compensation-related corporate governance
standards, consistent with our executive compensation philosophy. The following summarizes our executive compensation and related
governance policies and practices during 2019:

What We Do What We Don’t Do
✓Use a Pay-for-Performance philosophy ✘No backdating or spring-loading of equity

awards
✓Grant a significant portion of executive pay as at-risk ✘No hedging of shares

✓Apply “clawback” policy to awards to recover cash and equity
payments from executives in certain circumstances

✘No pledging of shares

✓Require multi-year vesting for equity awards ✘No guaranteed bonuses

✓Engage regularly with stockholders on executive compensation
issues

✘No incentives that encourage excessive risk
taking

✓Use an independent compensation consultant ✘No excessive severance or change in control
agreements

✓Require meaningful equity ownership ✘No excessive perquisite practices

✓Allocate equity awards between time- and performance-based
awards

✘No repricing of stock options or stock
appreciation rights without stockholder approval
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II. 2019 COMPENSATION ACTIONS

BASE SALARY ADJUSTMENTS

Base salaries for our NEOs are generally set at a level deemed necessary to attract and retain individuals with superior talent. In addition to
considering industry and market practices, our Compensation Committee and Board of Directors annually review our NEOs’ performance.
Adjustments in base salary are generally based on the factors noted above, including each NEO’s individual performance, role, scope of
responsibility, experience and competitive pay practices.

After considering our Chief Executive Officer’s recommendations (other than with respect to his own compensation) and consistent with past
practices, our Compensation Committee decided that the salary for the NEOs would remain unchanged in 2019.

The base salaries for our NEOs as established as of April 1, 2018 and April 1, 2019 are set forth in the following table.
 

Name  
2018 Base

Salary  
2019 Base

Salary  
Percent
Increase

Marvin S. Edwards, Jr.  $1,100,000 $1,100,000  0.00%
Alexander W. Pease  $625,000 $625,000  0.00%
Morgan C.S. Kurk  $575,000 $575,000  0.00%
Frank B. Wyatt, II  $540,000 $540,000  0.00%
Robyn T. Mingle  $450,000 $450,000  0.00%
Frank M. Drendel  $615,000 $615,000  0.00%
Bruce W. McClelland(1)    $925,000  

 

(1) Mr. McClelland became our Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer upon the acquisition of ARRIS in April 2019. He later left the Company in August 2019
upon elimination of the Chief Operating Officer position.

ANNUAL INCENTIVE PLAN

Historically, the Company’s consolidated financial performance has been the primary factor used in determining payouts for our NEOs under
the AIP. As described in more detail below, payouts for 2019 performance were based on the level of achievement of Adjusted EBITDA,
Adjusted Free Cash Flow and Corporate Revenue goals. The Compensation Committee approves the AIP performance measures and the
target award, which is expressed as a percentage of base salary for the year, for each NEO.

Our Compensation Committee determined that Adjusted EBITDA, Adjusted Free Cash Flow and Corporate Revenue were meaningful
measures of the Company’s financial performance and align with the interests of our stockholders for long-term value creation. These
financial measures exclude items that could have a disproportionately negative or positive impact on our results in a particular period.
 
Performance Metric Weighting Rationale

Adjusted EBITDA 60%

Measures the profitability of our business, incorporating our ability to generate revenue and
manage our expenses. Adjusted EBITDA growth has historically been a key driver of long-
term stockholder returns and represents the greatest weighting in our AIP.

Adjusted Free Cash
Flow 30% Measures our ability to translate earnings into cash, indicating the health of our business and

allowing the Company to repay debt and invest for the future.

Corporate Revenue 10%
Measures the amount we recognize as sales to our customers, demonstrating our ability to
generate organic revenue growth. Our Compensation Committee values revenue growth as a
driver of long-term stockholder return.
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For purpose of the AIP, Adjusted EBITDA consists of net income (loss) as reported on the Consolidated Statements of Operations, adjusted
to exclude income tax expense (benefit), interest income, interest expense, other expense, net, depreciation, amortization of intangible
assets, restructuring costs, asset impairments, equity based compensation, transaction and integration costs and other special items that the
Company believes are useful to exclude in the evaluation of operating performance from period to period because these items are not
representative of the Company’s core business.

Adjusted Free Cash Flow consists of net cash provided by operating activities, less additions to property, plant and equipment, both as
reported in the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, increased or reduced for unusual cash items as approved by the
Compensation Committee.

Corporate Revenue consists of net sales as reported on the Consolidated Statements of Operations subject to equitable adjustments related
to acquisitions or divestitures as approved by the Compensation Committee.

Our Compensation Committee retains the authority to change target award percentages or performance measures, as appropriate, to
account for extraordinary business circumstances that are out of the Company’s control. In addition, the Compensation Committee may, at its
sole discretion, decrease the amount of an award that would otherwise be payable to a NEO. If a change in control of the Company occurs,
we will pay each participant a cash award equal to the participant’s target award for the AIP cycle then underway (with the payout prorated to
the date of the change in control). We believe this is appropriate since the impact of a change in control is unpredictable and could potentially
adversely affect participant awards under the AIP.

The levels of performance required to achieve target payout were tied to our annual operating plan and represent goals that were considered
achievable but difficult to accomplish. The Compensation Committee approved a change to the AIP as a result of the acquisition of ARRIS so
that the plan for the first quarter reflected the legacy CommScope and legacy ARRIS businesses individually and the plan for the second,
third and fourth quarters reflected the plan for the combined Company.

The following tables show the weighting of each performance metric, the levels of performance required to earn threshold, target and
maximum payouts, and the actual performance achieved under our AIP for the year ended December 31, 2019 (dollars in millions) for all
NEOs except Mr. McClelland (see discussion below):

Performance Metric Weighting Level
Threshold

($M)
Target
($M)

Maximum
($M)

Adjusted EBITDA 60%

    
Goal $1,392.8 $1,741.0 $2,089.2
% of Target Performance 80% 100% 120%
% of Target Payout 50% 100% 210%

      
      

Adjusted Free
Cash Flow 30%

Goal $567.2 $709.1 $850.9
% of Target Performance 80% 100% 120%
% of Target Payout 50% 100% 210%

      
      

Corporate
Revenue 10%

Goal $9,726.2 $10,027.0 $10,628.6
% of Target Performance 97% 100% 106%
% of Target Payout 50% 100% 400%
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Performance Metric Weighting
Actual Achievement

($M)
% of Target Actual

Performance
% of Target Actual

Payout
Adjusted
Payout %

Adjusted EBITDA 60% $1,297.5 74.5% —  
Adjusted Free Cash Flow 30% $792.8 111.8% 165.0% 104.5%

Corporate Revenue 10% $8,345.1 83.2% —  
Total 100%   49.50% 31.34%

 

Based on the actual levels of achievement set forth above, our NEOs were entitled to bonus payments in amounts equal to 49.50% of their
target bonus amounts. However, due to the impact of approximately $78.0 million of cash payments that fell due on a holiday at the end of
December 2019 and, therefore, were paid in January 2020, the Compensation Committee exercised its discretion to reduce the payouts
under the AIP to exclude the impact of these cash payments, which had provided an unexpected benefit to Adjusted Free Cash Flow. Based
on the Committee’s action, bonus payments to all eligible employees, including the NEOs, were reduced to 31.34% of their target amounts.

  Threshold Award  Target Award  Maximum Award  Actual 2019 Award

Name  
(% of 2019
Salary) (1)  

(% of 2019
Salary)  

(% of 2019
Salary)  

% of 2019
Salary  

Payout
Amount  

            
Marvin S. Edwards, Jr.  75.0% 150.0% 343.5% 47.01%  $517,110  
            
Alexander W. Pease  42.5% 85.0% 194.7% 26.64%  $166,494  
            
Morgan C.S. Kurk  42.5% 85.0% 194.7% 26.64%  $153,174  
            
Frank B. Wyatt, II  35.0% 70.0% 160.3% 21.94%  $118,465  
            
Robyn T. Mingle  35.0% 70.0% 160.3% 21.94%  $98,721  
            
Frank M. Drendel  25.0% 50.0% 114.5% 15.67%  $96,371  
            
Bruce W. McClelland(2)  50.0% 100.0% 229.0% —  —

 

(1) The threshold award reflects minimum performance of all three performance metrics (Adjusted EBITDA, Adjusted Free Cash Flow and Corporate Revenue).

(2) Mr. McClelland’s position was eliminated in 2019. He did not receive a payout under our AIP.

 

The levels of performance required to earn threshold, target and maximum were different for Mr. McClelland for Adjusted EBITDA and
Corporate Revenue under the AIP. These levels were based on the legacy ARRIS performance for the first quarter 2019 and combined
Company amounts for the second, third and fourth quarters of 2019. The threshold for Mr. McClelland’s 2019 AIP was $1,343.2 million for
Adjusted EBITDA and $10,121.0 million for Corporate Revenue with a maximum of $2,014.8 million for Adjusted EBITDA and $11,060.0
million for Corporate Revenue. The actual achievement for Adjusted EBITDA and Corporate Revenue was $1,159.9 million and $8,657.0
million, respectively, considering the legacy ARRIS performance for the first quarter 2019. Mr. McClelland’s position was eliminated in 2019,
and he did not receive a payout under our AIP.

EQUITY INCENTIVE AWARDS

The Compensation Committee believes that key employees who are in a position to make a substantial contribution to the long-term success
of the Company and to build stockholder value should have a
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significant and on-going stake in the Company’s success. In determining equity incentive award grants, the Committee considered market
practices among comparable companies as well as our compensation objectives and the desired role of equity compensation in the total
compensation of our NEOs. Based on this review, the Compensation Committee granted our NEOs front-loaded stock options under the
EPOP with the intention that these replace executive equity compensation that normally would have been granted during the years 2019,
2020 and 2021.

The objective of the EPOP is to support the success of our transformational acquisition of ARRIS with awards that are eligible to be earned
over a five-year period. The program was developed with extensive collaboration among select members of management, the Compensation
Committee and Compensia, the Compensation Committee’s independent compensation consultant. The key features of our 2019 NEO
equity awards are described in greater detail below. The EPOP options were granted under our Amended and Restated 2013 Long-Term
Incentive Plan, other than one award to a senior officer who was hired after the ARRIS transaction, whose EPOP option was granted under
our 2019 Long-Term Incentive Plan.

 
EPOP Highlights
 

 

The EPOP was conceived as a plan to provide highly-leveraged incentives to executives at a transformative time in the business, in a way
that aligns very closely with stockholder value creation. Highlights of the plan structure include:
 
 • Entirely option-based, requiring stockholder gains to drive value
 • Opportunity equally weighted between time and performance vesting
 • Granted to key officers in May 2019 after the ARRIS acquisition, using performance targets for the combined company that were

commensurate with the financial rationale that supported the merger
 • Replaces three years of ordinary long-term incentive grants for NEOs (2019-2021)
 • Vests over a five-year period (2020-2024) with performance periods covering 2019-2023
 • Performance goals were all set at plan inception
 • Performance options may be earned based on annual Adjusted EBITDA performance
 • Unearned options may be earned later through cumulative Adjusted EBITDA performance
 • Cumulative goals are the sum of annual goals, meaning unearned options are only earned if prior Adjusted EBITDA shortfalls are

made up by above-target future Adjusted EBITDA

The Performance-Vesting Options, which comprise 50% of the maximum EPOP options granted to each NEO, are eligible to vest based on
our performance during five performance periods corresponding to each year from 2019 through 2023. The Compensation Committee
approved the Adjusted EBITDA goals for each year of the five performance years in advance on the grant date. These goals reflect our five-
year strategic plan, developed in connection with our acquisition of ARRIS and approved by our Board of Directors. The goals approved by
the Compensation Committee for each year of the five-year performance period include measures for threshold, target and stretch
performance. At the time of grant, the Compensation Committee considered the target goals to be rigorous and meaningful, yet achievable.
For each performance year:
 
• No Performance-Vesting Options will vest if our performance is less than threshold
• 5% of Performance-Vesting Options will vest if our performance equals threshold
• 10% of Performance-Vesting Options will vest if target is achieved
• 20% of Performance-Vesting Options will vest if the stretch goal is achieved

 
For performance outcomes between threshold and target, the number of options vesting will be determined on a sliding scale between 5%
and 20% of the total number of options tied to Adjusted EBITDA. Performance-Vesting Options that fail to vest in a given performance year
will be eligible to vest
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over the remainder of the five-year performance period if our cumulative Adjusted EBITDA at the end of a given performance year exceeds
the sum of the Adjusted EBITDA goals for all completed performance years (cumulative vesting feature).
 

 
The magnitude of the stock options granted under the EPOP reflects an objective of providing an opportunity equal to three times the prior
target annual long-term incentive value for each NEO. The target value for each participant was converted into a number of options based on
our closing stock price on March 1, 2019. Although this was our planned grant date for 2019, the actual May 17, 2019 grant date for the stock
options granted under the EPOP allowed us to grant options after the close of our acquisition of ARRIS, giving all executives participating in
the EPOP from both legacy organizations an equivalent starting point.

Our Compensation Committee believes that our approach to executive equity grants supports our compensation objectives and effectively
aligns the interests of our executives with those of our stockholders. Stock options are tied to our performance over a longer-term time
horizon. These performance equity vehicles reward executives for strong execution of our strategic plan as well as an ability to adapt to
changing market conditions and generate sustained growth in stockholder value.
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The target options granted to the NEOs and the total grant date value are shown in the following table. These front-loaded grants are
intended to be the only equity granted to the NEOs for 2019, 2020 and 2021.

Name Time-Vesting Options (#)
Maximum Performance-

Vesting Options (#)
Target Performance-
Vesting Options (#)

Total Target Grant Date
Value ($)(1)

     
Marvin S. Edwards, Jr. 999,150 999,150 499,575 12,088,716
     
Alexander W. Pease 243,400 243,400 121,700 2,944,897
     
Morgan C.S. Kurk 166,550 166,550 83,275 2,015,088
     
Frank B. Wyatt, II 153,750 153,750 76,875 1,860,221
     
Robyn T. Mingle 115,300 115,300 57,650 1,395,015
     
Frank M. Drendel 153,750 153,750 76,875 1,860,221
     
Bruce W. McClelland(2) 486,800 486,800 243,400 5,889,793
(1) Amounts represent the grant date fair value of the awards, which was computed in accordance with FASB ASC 718.

(2) Mr. McClelland’s position was eliminated in 2019. His EPOP options were forfeited.

Each EPOP participant was eligible to earn up to 20% of the maximum number of Performance-Vesting Options during 2019, subject to
achievement of threshold, target and stretch Adjusted EBITDA goals for the year. Our actual Adjusted EBITDA performance of $1,297.5
million was below the threshold required for the 2019 Performance-Vesting options to be earned. These options are eligible to be earned in
future years pursuant to the cumulative vesting feature. Due to our underachievement relative to 2019 Adjusted EBITDA targets, cumulative
vesting for these options will require overachievement relative to Adjusted EBITDA goals for future years through 2023.
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The EPOP options allow for potential vesting upon a participant’s qualifying retirement after March 1, 2020. Qualifying retirement for these
purposes requires attainment of age sixty with at least ten years of service with the Company. Mr. Edwards is the only NEO that presently
meets these requirements. In the event of a qualifying retirement between March 1, 2020 and March 1, 2021, 20% of the Time-Vesting
Options would become vested and the Performance-Vesting Options for the then-current performance year would remain outstanding and
eligible to vest based on actual performance. In the event of a qualifying retirement between March 1, 2021 and March 1, 2022, 40% of the
Time-Vesting Options would become vested and the Performance-Vesting Options would remain outstanding and eligible to vest for an
additional performance year, based on actual performance. For a qualifying termination after March 1, 2022, the Time-Vesting Options would
become fully vested and the Performance-Vesting Options would remain outstanding and eligible to vest for the remainder of the
performance period, based on actual performance.

SUPPLEMENTAL EXECUTIVE RETIREMENT PLAN

We maintain a nonqualified Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan (SERP) that is intended to provide retirement benefits to certain of our
executive officers. This plan has been closed to new participants since 2005. Messrs. Edwards, Wyatt and Drendel participate in the SERP.
For additional information regarding the SERP, see below under “Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Plans for 2019.”

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS AND PERQUISITES

Our NEOs are eligible to participate in the same plans as substantially all other of our United States employees which include medical,
dental, vision, short-term and long-term disability insurance, and a Health Savings Plan. We also maintain the CommScope, Inc. Retirement
Savings Plan, or the 401(k) plan, in which substantially all our United States employees, including our NEOs, are eligible to participate. We
currently contribute 2% of the participant’s base salary and bonus to the 401(k) plan and provide matching contributions of up to 4% of the
participant’s base salary and bonus, which provides for up to a maximum of 6% of the participant’s base salary and bonus, subject to certain
statutory limitations ($280,000 for 2019). In addition, we provide our NEOs with a supplemental term life insurance policy. We provide these
benefits due to their relatively low cost and the high value they provide in attracting and retaining talented executives.

We operate and maintain corporate aircraft that are used primarily for business travel by our directors and executive officers. We have a
written policy that sets forth guidelines and procedures regarding limited permissible personal use of this aircraft by our executive officers.
Additionally, CommScope, Inc. of North Carolina, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, maintains an Aircraft Time Sharing Agreement
with Mr. Drendel, pursuant to which Mr. Drendel may use the Company’s aircraft for non-business travel. Pursuant to this agreement, Mr.
Drendel reimburses our subsidiary for the aggregate actual expenses for each personal use flight based on the variable costs of the flight, as
permitted under Federal Aviation Administration rules.

We determine the incremental cost of any personal use of our corporate aircraft based on the direct cost of use per flight, which may include
aircraft fuel, oil and other additives; crew travel and lodging expense; hangar costs away from the aircraft’s base of operation; insurance
obtained for the specified flight; landing fees, airport taxes and similar assessments; customs, foreign permits and similar fees directly related
to the flight; in-flight catering expenses; passenger ground transportation; and flight planning and weather contract services. Because our
aircraft are used primarily for business travel, this methodology excludes fixed costs that do not change based on usage, such as the salaries
of pilots and crew, purchase or lease costs of aircraft, hangar rent and insurance, and costs of maintenance and upkeep. We impute taxable
income to the NEOs for any personal aircraft use in accordance with Internal Revenue Service regulations. We do not provide tax
reimbursements, or “gross-ups”, on these amounts to executive officers.

For 2019, no NEO met or exceeded $10,000 in unreimbursed aggregate incremental costs associated with personal use of the aircraft.
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DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLAN

We offer a voluntary non-qualified deferred compensation plan (DCP) that permits a group of our management, including the NEOs, to defer
up to 90% of their annual compensation (including base salary, AIP and Sales Incentive Plan (SIP) awards). For additional information
regarding the DCP, see below under “Nonqualified Deferred Compensation.”

EMPLOYMENT, SEVERANCE AND CHANGE IN CONTROL ARRANGEMENTS

Each of Messrs. Edwards and Drendel has an employment agreement, and each of Messrs. Pease, Kurk, Wyatt, and Ms. Mingle has a
severance protection agreement. The employment agreements entitle the executives to certain compensation and benefits, and both the
employment agreements and severance protection agreements entitle the executives to receive certain payments and benefits upon a
qualifying termination of employment, including a qualifying termination of employment in connection with a change in control of the
Company, as described below under “—Potential Payments upon Termination or Change in Control.”

III. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION PHILOSOPHY AND ELEMENTS

We intend for our NEOs’ total compensation to reflect our pay-for-performance compensation philosophy. This philosophy includes both
compensating our NEOs competitively when we meet or out-perform our goals as well as placing large portions of their compensation at-risk
based on both the Company’s financial performance and our stock price performance. This assures that the financial incentives of our
executives are in alignment with the interests of our stockholders. Furthermore, by delivering a significant portion of compensation in the form
of at-risk incentives (including equity compensation), the compensation realized by our NEOs will be reduced if the Company does not
achieve performance goals.

The principal objectives of our NEO compensation include the following:

 • Competitive pay – providing compensation opportunities that enable us to attract superior talent in a highly competitive industry
and retain key employees by rewarding outstanding achievement.

 • Pay-for-performance – creating incentives that reward management for outstanding financial results that our Compensation
Committee believes will enhance near-term performance and drive sustainable performance over the longer term.

 • Alignment with stockholders – aligning our executives’ interests with those of our stockholders through our pay-for-performance
philosophy and by encouraging our executives to have a meaningful equity stake in the Company.

 
IV. 2019 COMPENSATION DECISION-MAKING PROCESS

DETERMINATION OF COMPENSATION AWARDS

Our Compensation Committee has the primary authority to determine and approve the compensation of our NEOs. The Committee is charged
with reviewing our executive compensation policies and practices annually to ensure that the total compensation of our NEOs is fair, reasonable,
competitive to our peers, and commensurate with the level of expertise and experience of our NEOs. To aid our Compensation Committee in
making its determinations, our Chief Executive Officer provided recommendations to our Compensation Committee regarding the compensation
of all officers who report directly to him.

Our Compensation Committee reviews and approves the total amount of compensation for our NEOs and the allocation of total
compensation among each of the components of compensation based principally on the following factors:

 • Their compensation levels from prior years

 • Individual and Company performance
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 • Each executive’s scope of responsibility and experience

 • The Compensation Committee’s judgment and general industry knowledge obtained through years of service with comparably-
sized companies in our industry and other similar industries

 • Changes in the Company’s size or strategic position

 • Input about competitive market practices from the Compensation Committee’s independent compensation consultant

 • Feedback received from stockholders

We believe that direct ownership in CommScope provides our NEOs with a strong incentive to increase the value of the Company. We
encourage equity ownership by our NEOs and other employees through direct stock holdings and the award of various equity-based awards.
We believe that equity awards granted to our NEOs substantially align their interests with those of our stockholders. In addition, we maintain
formal stock ownership guidelines. See the “Stock Ownership Guidelines” section below for more information.

ROLE OF THE COMPENSATION CONSULTANT

The Compensation Committee relies on its independent compensation consultant to provide advice on matters relating to the compensation
of our executives and non-employee directors. Compensia, a national compensation consulting firm, has served in this capacity since 2016.

A representative of Compensia attended all Compensation Committee meetings in 2019 and provided the following assistance to the
Compensation Committee:

 • Analyzed the compensation levels and practices of the companies in our compensation peer group

 • Reviewed the competitiveness of compensation of our NEOs including base salary, annual cash awards and long-term incentive
awards

 • Reviewed and provided input on the design of the annual and long-term incentives provided to our NEOs and other executives,
including the EPOP

 • Reviewed the competitiveness of compensation of our non-employee directors

 • Reviewed and provided input on the CD&A section of our Proxy Statement

 • Provided support in connection with finalization of the terms of our 2019 Long-Term Incentive Plan

 • Provided ad hoc advice and support

Compensia reports directly to the Compensation Committee and provided no services to us other than the consulting services to the
Committee. The Compensation Committee reviews the objectivity and independence of the advice provided by Compensia. In 2019, the
Committee considered the specific independence factors adopted by the Commission and the NASDAQ Global Select Market and
determined that Compensia is independent and that its work did not raise any conflicts of interest.

COMPENSATION PEER GROUP

In 2018, with the assistance of Compensia, the Compensation Committee developed and approved a compensation peer group as a source
of competitive market data for evaluating the compensation of our executive officers and to support pay decisions for 2019. This peer group
was used for our compensation decisions made prior to the acquisition of ARRIS in April 2019, which included base salary and AIP targets.
The compensation peer group consisted of 16 companies based on our selection criteria in 2018.
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Compensation Peer Group Entering 2019
Amphenol Corporation Keysight Technologies
ARRIS International Motorola Solutions, Inc.
Belden Inc. NCR Corporation
Ciena Corporation NetApp, Inc.
Corning Inc. Rockwell Automation, Inc.
Harris Corporation TE Connectivity Limited
Hubbell Inc. Trimble Navigation Limited
Juniper Networks, Inc. Zebra Technologies, Inc.

In April 2019, our Compensation Committee re-analyzed and modified our compensation peer group to reflect the growth of the Company as
a result of the acquisition of ARRIS. This compensation peer group consisted of 15 companies deemed to be representative of the types of
companies with which we compete for executive talent. This peer group was used for our compensation decisions related to the EPOP
awards granted in May 2019.

Companies included in this revised peer group were identified based primarily on the following target selection criteria:

 • Companies with a status as an independent, publicly traded company

 • Companies with revenue between approximately 0.33 times to 3.0 times our revenue on a trailing twelve-month basis

 • Companies with enterprise value between approximately 0.33 times to 3.0 times our market capitalization

 • Companies with a similar industry profile, prioritizing direct competitors and companies that operate in the Communications
Equipment sector

Companies included in the peer group did not need to meet all of the selection criteria above. Our Compensation Committee evaluated each
company against all selection criteria in order to identify a peer group that, as a whole, was considered to be a strong representation of our
competitive market for talent.
 

Compensation Peer Group Revised in 2019 for Decisions after April 2019
Amphenol Corporation NCR Corporation
Corning Inc. NetApp, Inc.
Fortive Corporation Rockwell Automation, Inc.
Harris Corporation Seagate Technology
Hubbell Inc. TE Connectivity Limited
Juniper Networks, Inc. Western Digital
Keysight Technologies Zebra Technologies, Inc.
Motorola Solutions, Inc  

 
When evaluating executive compensation relative to practices among our peers, the Compensation Committee generally seeks to align with
the market median.

We supplement information from the peer group public filings with data from the Radford Global Technology Survey. The data from this
research, which is provided annually by Compensia, is a factor in determining executive compensation, as described above. While peer
group and other market research data provides the framework for our compensation decisions, adjustments are also made by the
Compensation Committee on an individual basis to account for individual performance and each executive’s scope of responsibility and
experience.
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V. OTHER COMPENSATION POLICIES
 
COMPENSATION RECOUPMENT (“CLAWBACK”) POLICY

We have a compensation recoupment policy that provides that in the event of an accounting restatement due to material noncompliance with
financial reporting requirements, the Company will, as directed by the Compensation Committee in its discretion, require executive officers to
reimburse compensation in an amount deemed appropriate by the Compensation Committee. The policy applies to executive officers of the
Company, including our NEOs, who, at any time during the three-year period preceding the accounting restatement, received payment of
non-equity incentive compensation or realized compensation from equity incentive awards, based on the erroneous financial data.
 
ANTI-HEDGING AND ANTI-PLEDGING POLICIES

We have an Insider Trading policy to guide our employees and directors in complying with securities laws and avoid the appearance of
improper conduct. Our policy specifically prohibits directors and employees, including our NEOs, from entering into hedging or monetization
transactions involving CommScope securities such as covered calls, collars and forward sale contracts, and from purchasing CommScope
securities on margin, holding CommScope securities in a margin account or pledging CommScope securities. In addition, all our Section 16
officers and directors, and certain other designated employees, are prohibited from trading in exchange traded options of CommScope
securities.
 
STOCK OWNERSHIP GUIDELINES

We maintain stock ownership guidelines for our executive officers and the non-employee members of our Board of Directors. These
guidelines were established to align with industry practice and to affirm to stockholders that our executives and directors have a meaningful
long-term position in the Company and a longer-term view of its performance. The following table summarizes our stock ownership
guidelines, which were based on market and peer group data and were adopted following consultation with the Compensation Committee’s
independent compensation consultant.
 

 Multiple of Salary Target
CEO 5x annual base salary
Chairman & CFO 3x annual base salary
Designated Executive Officers 2x annual base salary
Non-Employee Directors 5x base cash retainer (excluding committee fees)
 
The value of an executive’s or non-employee director’s stock ownership is measured as of December 31 of each year by reference to the 30-
day average closing price of our stock on the Nasdaq Stock Market and using each individual’s base salary or base retainer then in effect.

Current and new executive officers and non-employee directors who are subject to these guidelines are expected to satisfy them by the end
of the calendar year following the fifth anniversary of (i) the guidelines’ January 1, 2017 effective date or (ii) such later date that a Participant
becomes subject to the Guidelines and to hold at least such minimum value in shares of our common stock, RSUs or intrinsic value of vested
stock options for so long as applicable. All our executive officers and directors have met or are on track to meet their ownership requirements
within the applicable five-year period.
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VI. COMPENSATION TABLES
 
SUMMARY COMPENSATION TABLE FOR 2019
The following table provides information regarding the compensation that we paid our NEOs for services rendered during the fiscal years
ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017.
 

Name and Principal
Position Year  

Salary
($)(1)  

Bonus
($)(2)  

Stock
Awards

($)(3)  

Option
Awards

($)(3)  

Non-Equity
Incentive Plan
Compensation

($)(4)  

Change in
Pension Value

and
Nonqualified

Deferred
Compensation

Earnings
($)(5)  

All Other
Compensation

($)(6)  
Total
($)

                  
                  

Marvin S. Edwards, Jr. 2019  1,100,000  —  —  12,088,716  517,110  54,686  231,526  13,992,038
President and Chief 2018  1,091,250  —  4,666,591  2,333,323  513,406  58,843  229,932  8,893,345
Executive Officer 2017  1,056,250  —  4,666,664  2,333,328  215,594  47,318  180,211  8,499,365
                  
                  

Alexander W. Pease 2019  625,000  —  —  2,944,897  166,494  —  17,160  3,753,551
Executive VP and 2018  468,750  —  999,995  499,994  149,964  —  5,838  2,124,541
Chief Financial Officer                  
                  
                  

Morgan C.S. Kurk 2019  575,000  950  —  2,015,088  153,174  —  17,160  2,761,372
Executive VP and 2018  575,000  —  999,983  499,989  183,956  —  60,425  2,319,353
Chief  Technology
Off icer                  
                  
                  

Frank B. Wyatt, II 2019  540,000  —  —  1,860,221  118,465  26,185  87,930  2,632,801
Senior  VP,  Chief
Legal 2018  535,000  —  599,944  299,991  140,954  28,659  90,753  1,695,301
Officer and Secretary 2017  516,249  —  599,926  299,998  59,009  23,358  75,849  1,574,389
                  
                  

Robyn T. Mingle 2019  450,000  —  —  1,395,015  98,721  —  17,124  1,960,860
Senior  VP,  Chief
Human                  
Resources Officer                  
                  
                  

Frank M. Drendel 2019  615,000  —  —  1,860,221  96,371  89,914  95,650  2,757,156
Chairman of  the
Board 2018  610,000  1,100  746,633  373,330  114,796  101,366  97,863  2,045,088
of Directors 2017  590,000  —  746,642  373,332  48,171  84,765  85,070  1,927,980
                  
                  

Bruce W. McClelland 2019  332,860  —  —  5,889,793  —  36,149  1,416,810  7,675,612
Former Execut ive VP
and                  
Chief  Operat ing
Off icer                  

                  
 

(1) Salary reported may differ from the annual base salary rate set for the year due to the fact that changes in base salary typically are effective on April 1.
(2) Amounts represent payments for service award (10 years) and patent award in 2019 for Mr. Kurk, and service award in 2018 for Mr. Drendel (45 years).
(3) Amounts represent the grant date fair value of equity awards, which was computed in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718 without regard to estimated forfeitures

related to service-based vesting conditions. Refer to Note 15 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2019 for information regarding the assumptions used to value these awards. The grant date fair value of the EPOP stock option awards
considered the target number of units awarded to each NEO and the anticipated performance outcome as of the grant date. Assuming that the highest level of
performance conditions is achieved, the grant date fair values of the 2019 EPOP stock option awards increase by $4,025,575 for Mr. Edwards, $980,659 for Mr. Pease,
$671,030 for Mr. Kurk, $619,459 for Mr. Wyatt, $464,544 for Ms. Mingle, $619,459 for Mr. Drendel and $1,961,317 for Mr. McClelland.

(4) Amounts represent AIP bonus payments by performance year. The AIP bonus payments for our NEOs in 2019, 2018 and 2017 were 31.3%, 37.6%, and 16.3% of
target, respectively.
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(5) Amounts represent the portion of the aggregate earnings under the SERP that are “above market” except Mr. McClelland. For Mr. McClelland, amounts represent the
aggregate change in the actuarial present value of accumulated pension benefits under the non-qualified defined benefit pension plan since the ARRIS acquisition.
This plan was frozen in 2013.

(6) The following table shows all amounts included in the “All Other Compensation” column for 2019 for each NEO:
 

  All Other Compensation  

Name  

Company
Contribution

to 401(k)
Plan ($)  

Company
Contribution

under Nonqualified
Deferred Compensation

Plans
($)  

Life
Insurance
Premiums

($)  
Severance

Payment ($)  
Total
($)

         4    
             

Marvin S. Edwards, Jr.  16,800  214,567   159  —  231,526 
             
Alexander W. Pease  16,800  —   360  —  17,160 
             
Morgan C.S. Kurk  16,800  —   360  —  17,160 
             
Frank B. Wyatt, II  16,800  70,770   360  —  87,930 
             
Robyn T. Mingle  16,800  —   324  —  17,124 
             
Frank M. Drendel  16,800  78,706   144  —  95,650 
             
Bruce W. McClelland  1,950  —   313  1,414,547  1,416,810
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GRANTS OF PLAN-BASED AWARDS IN 2019

 

 

Estimated Future
Payouts Under

Non-Equity Incentive Plan
Awards

Estimated Future
Payouts

Under Equity Incentive
Plan

Awards

All Other
Stock

Awards:
Number of
Shares of

All Other
Option

Awards:
Number of
Securities

Exercise
or Base
Price of

Grant
Date Fair

Value of Stock
and

Name

Grant
Date
(1)

Threshold
($)

Target
($)

Maximum
($)

Threshold
(#)

Target
(#)

Maximum
(#)

Stock or Units
(#)

Underlying
Options

(#)

Option
Awards
($/sh)

Option
Awards

($)
            

Marvin S. Edwards, Jr.            
2019 AIP(2)  825,000 1,650,000 3,778,500 — — — — — — —
Performance-Vesting Option(3) 5/15/2019 — — — 249,788 499,575 999,150 — — 18.60 4,025,575
Time-Vesting Option(4) 5/15/2019 — — — — — — — 999,150 18.60 8,063,141
            
            

Alexander W. Pease            
2019 AIP(2)  265,625 531,250 1,216,563 — — — — — — —
Performance-Vesting Option(3) 5/15/2019 — — — 60,850 121,700 243,400 — — 18.60 980,659
Time-Vesting Option(4) 5/15/2019 — — — — — — — 243,400 18.60 1,964,238
            
            

Morgan C.S. Kurk            
2019 AIP(2)  244,375 488,750 1,119,238 — — — — — — —
Performance-Vesting Option(3) 5/15/2019 — — — 41,638 83,275 166,550 — — 18.60 671,030
Time-Vesting Option(4) 5/15/2019 — — — — — — — 166,550 18.60 1,344,058
            
            

Frank B. Wyatt, II            
2019 AIP(2)  189,000 378,000 865,620 — — — — — — —
Performance-Vesting Option(3) 5/15/2019 — — — 38,438 76,875 153,750 — — 18.60 619,459
Time-Vesting Option(4) 5/15/2019 — — — — — — — 153,750 18.60 1,240,762
            
            

Robyn T. Mingle            
2019 AIP(2)  157,500 315,000 721,350 — — — — — — —
Performance-Vesting Option(3) 5/15/2019 — — — 28,825 57,650 115,300 — — 18.60 464,544
Time-Vesting Option(4) 5/15/2019 — — — — — — — 115,300 18.60 930,471
            
            

Frank M. Drendel            
2019 AIP(2)  153,750 307,500 704,175 — — — — — — —
Performance-Vesting Option(3) 5/15/2019 — — — 38,438 76,875 153,750 — — 18.60 619,459
Time-Vesting Option(4) 5/15/2019 — — — — — — — 153,750 18.60 1,240,762
            
            

Bruce W. McClelland(5)            
2019 AIP(2)  346,875 693,750 1,588,688 — — — — — — —
Performance-Vesting Option(3) 5/15/2019 — — — 121,700 243,400 486,800 — — 18.60 1,961,317
Time-Vesting Option(4) 5/15/2019 — — — — — — — 486,800 18.60 3,298,476
           

 
 

(1) The equity awards granted on May 15, 2019 were approved by the Compensation Committee on May 6, 2019.
(2) Reflects the range of awards that could potentially have been earned during 2019 under our AIP. The “Threshold” column represents the minimum amount payable when

threshold performance is met for all three performance metrics. The amounts actually earned are included under the column entitled “—Non-Equity Incentive Plan
Compensation” in our Summary Compensation Table for 2019.

(3) Reflects potential payouts with respect to the performance-vesting EPOP stock options granted in 2019 at threshold, target and maximum. The “Threshold” column
represents the minimum amount payable (50% of target payout) when threshold performance is met. The “Target” column represents the amount payable (100% of
target payout) if the specified performance targets are reached. The “Maximum” column represents the maximum amount payable (200% of target payout). To the
extent the performance goals are met, earned options vest for the respective performance year in the five-year performance period. The performance is measured
based on Adjusted EBITDA for each year 2019-2023. Performance-Vesting options that fail to vest in a given performance year will be eligible to vest over the
remainder of the five-year performance period if our cumulative Adjusted EBITDA at the end of a given performance year exceeds the sum of the Adjusted EBITDA
goals for all completed performance years. These options have a ten-year term and provide potential vesting in connection with a qualifying retirement.

(4) Reflects time-vesting EPOP stock options that vest in equal annual installments over five years beginning on March 1, 2020. These options have a ten-year term and
provide potential vesting in connection with a qualifying retirement.

(5) Mr. McClelland’s position was eliminated in 2019. He did not receive a payout under our AIP, and his EPOP options were forfeited.
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NARRATIVE SUPPLEMENT TO SUMMARY COMPENSATION TABLE FOR 2019 AND GRANTS OF PLAN BASED AWARDS IN 2019 TABLE

The terms of our cash incentive plans and equity incentive awards are described under “—2019 Compensation Actions” above, our
employment and severance agreements are described under “—Potential Payments upon Termination or Change in Control—Employment
and Severance Protection Agreements” below, and our nonqualified deferred compensation plans are described under “—Nonqualified
Deferred Compensation for 2019” below.
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OUTSTANDING EQUITY AWARDS AT DECEMBER 31, 2019
The following table provides information regarding outstanding stock options and stock awards held by our NEOs as of December 31, 2019.

 Option Awards   Stock Awards

Name
Grant
Date

Number of
Securities
Underlying

Unexercised
Options (#)
Exercisable  

Number of
Securities
Underlying

Unexercised
Options (#)

Unexercisable
(2)

Equity
Incentive

Plan
Awards:

Number of
Securities
Underlying

Unexercised
Unearned
Options

(#)(2)

Option
Exercise

Price
($)  

Option
Expiration

Date
(3)   

Number
of

Shares or
Units

of Stock
That
Have
Not

Vested
(#)(4)  

Market
Value of

Shares or
Units of
Stock

That Have
Not

Vested
($)(4)  

Equity
Incentive

Plan
Awards:

Number of
Unearned
Shares,

Units
or Other
Rights
That

Have Not
Vested
(#)(5)  

Equity
Incentive

Plan
Awards:

Market or
Payout
Value of

Unearned
Shares,

Units
or Other
Rights
That

Have Not
Vested
($)(5)

                  
Marvin S. Edwards, Jr. 1/26/2011 1,389,033 (1) — — 5.74  1/26/2021   —  —  —  —

 2/24/2015 94,088 (1) — — 30.76  2/24/2025   —  —  —  —
 2/23/2016 110,833 (1) — — 24.94  2/23/2026   —  —  —  —
 2/27/2017 99,016 (2) 49,509 — 37.97  2/27/2027   20,484  290,668  —  —
 3/1/2018 52,410 (2) 104,822 — 38.34  3/1/2028   59,651  846,448  15,215  215,901
 5/15/2019 — (2) 999,150 249,788 18.60  5/15/2029   —  —  —  —
                  
                  

Alexander W. Pease 4/2/2018 10,972 (2) 21,944 — 39.46  4/2/2028   12,421  176,254  3,168  44,954
 5/15/2019 — (2) 243,400 60,850 18.60  5/15/2029   —  —  —  —
                  

                  
Morgan C.S. Kurk 2/24/2015 12,409 (1) — — 30.76  2/24/2025   —  —  —  —

 2/23/2016 14,077 (1) — — 24.94  2/23/2026   —  —  —  —
 2/27/2017 11,316 (2) 5,658 — 37.97  2/27/2027   2,341  33,219  —  —
 3/1/2018 11,230 (2) 22,462 — 38.34  3/1/2028   12,783  181,391  3,261  46,274
 5/15/2019 — (2) 166,550 41,638 18.60  5/15/2029   —  —  —  —
                  
                  

Frank B. Wyatt, II 2/24/2015 17,610 (1) — — 30.76  2/24/2025   —  —  —  —
 2/23/2016 20,365 (1) — — 24.94  2/23/2026   —  —  —  —
 2/27/2017 12,730 (2) 6,366 — 37.97  2/27/2027   2,634  37,376  —  —
 3/1/2018 6,738 (2) 13,477 — 38.34  3/1/2028   7,669  108,823  1,956  27,756
 5/15/2019 — (2) 153,750 38,438 18.60  5/15/2029   —  —  —  —
                  
                  

Robyn T. Mingle 8/1/2016 11,291 (1) — — 29.59  8/1/2026   —  —  —  —
 2/27/2017 8,486 (2) 4,244 — 37.97  2/27/2027   1,756  24,918  —  —
 3/1/2018 5,989 (2) 11,980 — 38.34  3/1/2028   6,818  96,747  1,739  24,676
 5/15/2019 — (2) 115,300 28,825 18.60  5/15/2029   —  —  —  —
                  

Frank M. Drendel 1/20/2010 95,334 (1) — — 8.55  1/20/2020   —  —  —  —
 1/26/2011 639,678 (1) — — 5.74  1/26/2021   —  —  —  —
 2/24/2015 27,673 (1) — — 30.76  2/24/2025   —  —  —  —
 2/23/2016 31,033 (1) — — 24.94  2/23/2026   —  —  —  —

 2/27/2017 15,842 (2) 7,922 — 37.97  2/27/2027   3,278  46,515  —  —
 3/1/2018 8,385 (2) 16,772 — 38.34  3/1/2028   9,545  135,444  2,435  34,553
 5/15/2019 — (2) 153,750 38,438 18.60  5/15/2029   —  —  —  —
                  

                  
Bruce W. McClelland — —  — — —  —   —  —  —  —

                 
 

 

(1) Represents options which were fully vested as of December 31, 2019.
(2) Represents options granted in 2017, 2018 and 2019. The 2017 and 2018 options vest and become exercisable, subject to the continued employment of the NEO,

annually over three years beginning on the first anniversary of the grant date, except with respect to Mr. Pease’s 2018 grant, which was granted at the start of his
employment on April 2, 2018 and began vesting and became exercisable on March 1, 2019, concurrent with the other NEOs. The 2019 options were granted under the
EPOP with 50% of the award vesting in equal installments over five years subject to the continued employment of the NEO
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(beginning on the anniversary of the grant date). The remaining 50% of the options granted under the EPOP, which is represented at threshold performance, vests
based on achievement of pre-established Adjusted EBITDA goals for each year through 2023. Awards potentially may vest in connection with a qualifying retirement.

(3) The options expire on the tenth anniversary of the date of grant.
(4) Represents RSUs granted in 2017 and 2018 and PSUs granted in 2018 that are eligible for vesting. The RSUs vest, subject to the continued employment of the NEO,

annually over three years beginning on the first anniversary of the grant date, except with respect to Mr. Pease’s 2018 grant, which was granted at the start of his
employment on April 2, 2018 and vested beginning on March 1, 2019, concurrent with the other NEOs. Half of the PSUs granted in 2018 are subject to one-year
adjusted operating income (AOI) goals based on 2018 performance. AOI for 2018 exceeded the PSU threshold level, and therefore 62.7% of the PSUs granted subject
to AOI goals are eligible to vest. The 2018 PSUs with AOI goals vest on March 1, 2020.

(5) Represents half of the PSUs granted in 2018 at threshold performance. These PSUs are subject to a three-year Cumulative Revenue goal based on 2018-2020
performance. The Cumulative Revenue goal was adjusted in 2019 to reflect the acquisition of ARRIS. If achieved, these PSUs will vest on March 1, 2021.

OPTION EXERCISES AND STOCK VESTED FOR 2019
The following table provides information concerning the exercise of stock options and vesting of stock awards during the year ended
December 31, 2019.

 Option Awards Stock Awards  

Name

Number of
Shares

Acquired on
Exercise (#)

Value
Realized

on
Exercise ($)

Number of
Shares

Acquired on
Vesting (#)

Value
Realized

on
Vesting ($)

      
Marvin S. Edwards, Jr. 29,147 67,621 89,492 2,129,321 
      
Alexander W. Pease — — 4,223 98,903 
      
Morgan C.S. Kurk — — 12,877 305,647 
      
Frank B. Wyatt, II — — 14,194 337,795 
      
Robyn T. Mingle — — 9,003 214,016 
      
Frank M. Drendel 595,620 8,170,610 20,165 479,950  
      
Bruce W. McClelland — — 73,983 908,161
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PENSION BENEFITS FOR 2019 FOR MR. MCCLELLAND

Mr. McClelland participated in a non-qualified defined benefit pension plan at ARRIS. This plan was frozen on June 30, 2013. No further
accrual of benefits under the plans has occurred since the plan was frozen.

Benefits under the plan are calculated based Mr. McClelland’s base salary and annual bonus amounts. The benefit formula is the number
of years of continuous service (up to a maximum of 30 years) times the sum of  (1) 0.65% of Mr. McClelland’s “final annual compensation” up
to his social security covered compensation level, plus (2) 1.3% of the “final average salary” in excess of Mr. McClelland’s social security
covered-compensation level. The social security covered-compensation level is the 35-year average of the taxable wage bases (for social
security purposes) in effect prior to Mr. McClelland’s social security normal retirement date. Final average salary is the average of the five
highest consecutive years of compensation in the ten years preceding retirement. The benefit is paid monthly on a single life annuity basis or,
subject to discount, on a 50% joint and survivor annuity basis. Normal retirement under the plans is age 65, and benefits are discounted for
early retirement, which is available at age 55. The discount is calculated to be the actuarial equivalent of an age 65 retirement using an 8%
discount factor. An actuarial adjustment under the plan also is made for deferred retirement. There is no lump-sum payment option available.

 

Name

 

Plan

Number of Years
Credited Service

(#)

Present Value of
Accumulated Benefit

($)

Payments
During Last

Fiscal Year ($)
      
Bruce W. McClelland  Non-Qualified Plan 6 244,446 —

      

NONQUALIFIED DEFERRED COMPENSATION FOR 2019
The Nonqualified Deferred Compensation table reflects information about the SERP, DCP and ARRIS Defined Contribution Plans (ARRIS
DCPs) for 2019.

SERP
The SERP is an unfunded defined contribution type retirement plan maintained for the benefit of a select group of our management and/or
highly compensated employees. The SERP provides for an annual credit by the Company to each participating NEO’s account in an amount
equal to 5% of such participant’s base salary and AIP bonus for the respective year up to a cap (which in 2019 was $280,000), plus 15% of
the amount in excess of the cap. Equity-based compensation is not taken into account for purposes of the SERP. In addition to annual
contributions, participants’ accounts generally accrue interest each year. We review the interest rate annually and set the interest rate for
2019 at 5%. There have been no participants added to the SERP since 2005.

There are generally no payments to participants from the SERP until retirement at age 55 or older with at least 10 years of service, or at age
65 without regard to any service requirement. Pursuant to the terms of the SERP, a participant generally will receive the full value of his or
her account balance upon the participant’s termination or resignation for any reason once eligible for retirement. However, participants (or
participant’s beneficiaries, in the case of a participant’s death) may also receive benefits prior to retirement in the following situations: (1) if
the participant dies before retirement; (2) if the participant experiences a disability (as defined in the SERP) before beginning to receive any
SERP benefits; (3) if the participant’s employment is involuntarily terminated, for reasons other than for cause; or (4) if the participant
terminates employment for any reason other than for cause within two years after a change in control of the Company. Payment to the SERP
participants generally occurs the first day of the seventh month following separation from service, except that payments resulting from
termination following a change in control or terminations due to disability are paid as soon as practicable following such termination.
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Messrs. Edwards, Wyatt and Drendel are vested in their SERP accounts and eligible for retirement, so they would receive their account
balance if their employment terminated for any reason.
 
DCP
The DCP permits a select group of our management, including the NEOs, to defer up to 90% of their compensation (including base salary
and AIP or SIP bonus payments). Participants may direct the amounts credited to their accounts to one or more notional investments that are
substantially the same as the investment offerings provided under our 401(k) plan. Participants’ accounts are 100% vested at all times and
we do not provide matching or other Company contributions to the DCP. In general, a participant may elect to receive a distribution in a lump
sum or annual installments over a period of two to ten years, which distribution will commence, per the participant’s election, as follows:

 • For deferrals attributable to any period on or before December 31, 2016, as soon as practical following (i) the participant’s
separation from service, or (ii) the earlier of (A) a specific date which occurs no earlier than two years from the end of the year in
which the compensation is credited, or (B) the date of his or her separation (provided that if separation is due to retirement,
payments will commence as of the elected specified date).

 • For deferrals attributable to any period on or after January 1, 2017, as soon as practical following (i) the first day of the seventh
month after the participant’s separation from service, (ii) the earlier of (A) a specific date which occurs no earlier than two years,
and no later than five years, from the end of the year in which the compensation is credited, or (B) the first day of the seventh
month after his or her separation (provided that if separation is due to retirement, payments will commence as of the elected
specified date), or (iii) a specified interval of one to five years following his or her separation (provided that this payment election is
only available with respect to lump sum payments).

Upon a participant’s death or disability, or upon the occurrence of a change in control of the Company, the participant’s entire balance will be
paid to him or her (or the participant’s estate or beneficiary, as applicable) in a lump sum.
 
ARRIS DCPs
 
ARRIS maintained a non-qualified defined contribution retirement plan (the 401(k) Wrap) that allowed certain senior executives, including Mr.
McClelland, to contribute amounts in excess of the amounts allowed under applicable tax laws under the 401(k) plan. ARRIS matched
employee contributions under the 401(k) Wrap in a manner analogous to the ARRIS 401(k) plan. Provided the employee contributes the
maximum amount allowed under the 401(k), ARRIS would contribute to the 401(k) and 401(k) Wrap, in the aggregate, 100% of the first 3% of
pay and 50% of the next 2% of pay. The amounts of employee and employer contributions to the 401(k) Wrap are held in a Rabbi Trust.

ARRIS previously maintained a non-qualified deferred compensation plan that enabled certain executives, including Mr. McClelland, to defer
amounts above the IRS maximum. This plan, and employee contributions and matches ARRIS made under it, were frozen in
September 2004. No employee contributions or company-matching contributions have been made since that time under such plan. The
accounts under this plan remain in existence, but the Company has not enhanced the earnings of the accounts, which earnings are
determined by the actual earnings of investment vehicles selected by the employee.

The nonqualified deferred compensation table below reflects the change in value of Mr. McClelland’s accounts under the Non-Qualified
Deferred Compensation arrangements since April 4, 2019. The amounts shown reflect dividends, interest and appreciation (or depreciation)
in investments whether or not realized.
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The following table depicts the value of benefits accumulated by our NEOs under the SERP, DCP and ARRIS DCPs as of December 31,
2019.

NONQUALIFIED DEFERRED COMPENSATION TABLE

Name Plan

Executive
contributions
in last fiscal

year(1)($)

Registrant
contributions

in last
fiscal year(2)($)

Aggregate
earnings in
last fiscal
year(3)($)

Aggregate
withdrawals/
distributions

($)

Aggregate
balance at
last fiscal

year
end(4)($)

       
       

Marvin S. Edwards, Jr. SERP — 214,567 182,285 — 4,042,558
 DCP — — 498,987 — 3,340,666
       
       
Alexander W. Pease DCP — — — — —

       
       
Morgan C.S. Kurk DCP 262,520 — 82,566 — 598,388

       
       
Frank B. Wyatt, II SERP — 70,770 87,283 — 1,903,710

 DCP — — — — —
       
       
Robyn T. Mingle DCP — — — — —

       
       
Frank M. Drendel SERP — 78,706 299,713 — 6,372,676

 DCP — — — — —
       
       
Bruce W. McClelland DCP — — — — —
 ARRIS Frozen Plan — — 17,678 (140,509) —
 ARRIS Active Plan 6,937 — 98,398 — 841,610

      
 

 

(1) Reflects executive contributions made in 2019 for salary deferral and executive contributions to be made for deferral of 2019 AIP bonus payments as included in the
Summary Compensation Table in the “Non-Equity Incentive Plan Compensation” column.

(2) Registrant contributions to the SERP are equal to 5% of participant’s base salary and AIP bonus payment up to a cap (which in 2019 was $280,000), plus 15% of the
amount in excess of the cap. Contributions to the SERP are included in the Summary Compensation Table in the “All Other Compensation” column. The Company
does not provide matching or other Company contributions to the DCP. The annual contribution for the ARRIS Active Plan was paid by ARRIS prior to the acquisition.

(3) With respect to the SERP, the portion of the aggregate earnings that are “above market” is included in the Summary Compensation table in the “Change in Pension
Value and Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Earnings” column.

(4) Includes amounts that were reported in the Summary Compensation Table for 2019, 2018 and 2017.
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POTENTIAL PAYMENTS UPON TERMINATION OR CHANGE IN CONTROL
 
EMPLOYMENT AND SEVERANCE PROTECTION AGREEMENTS

Each of our NEOs is party to an employment agreement or severance protection agreement that entitles him or her to receive certain
payments upon a qualifying termination of employment.

Employment Agreement with Mr. Edwards
We are party to an employment agreement with Mr. Edwards. His agreement is on a one-year term automatically renewing on December 31
of each year, unless the Company gives written notice of non-renewal at least 90 days prior to such date. Pursuant to the agreement, in the
event Mr. Edwards’ employment is terminated by the Company by notice of non-renewal of the term of the agreement, by the Company for
any reason other than for cause or disability or by the executive for good reason, in each case regardless of whether a change in control has
occurred. Mr. Edwards will be entitled to receive his accrued compensation and each of the following:

 • severance pay of two times the sum of (A) his then current base salary, and (B) his base salary multiplied by 1.25, payable in
equal monthly installments over two years (the Termination Benefits Period) or, upon termination within twenty-four months
following a change in control, in a lump sum;

 • a prorated bonus under the AIP for the fiscal year in which his termination of employment occurs, based on actual performance
and payable at the same time the Company pays bonuses to its other executive officers;

 • a cash payment equal to the cost we would have incurred had he continued group medical, dental, vision and/or prescription drug
benefit coverage for himself and his eligible dependents during the Termination Benefits Period, payable in periodic installments in
accordance with our payroll practice (the Medical Coverage Payments); and

 • if at the end of the Termination Benefits Period, he is not employed by another entity (including self-employment), then for six
months (or his earlier re-employment) he will receive (i) an additional monthly payment equal to one-twelfth of the sum of (A) his
base salary and (B) his base salary multiplied by 1.25, and (ii) continuation of the Medical Coverage Payments (provided that such
Medical Coverage Payments will not cease upon re-employment unless the executive obtains such coverage or benefits pursuant
to the subsequent employer’s benefit plans).

For purposes of Mr. Edwards’ agreement, “good reason” includes material breach of the agreement, a material diminution in duties, failure to
continue in his role as sole President and CEO without his prior written consent, any reduction in salary or target bonus opportunity,
relocation of his place of employment by more than twenty-five miles without his prior written consent and our failure to nominate him to our
Board.

If Mr. Edwards’ employment is terminated by the Company for cause or disability, by reason of his death or by the executive other than for
good reason, we will pay to the executive his accrued compensation. In addition, in the event of Mr. Edwards’ death, his estate will be entitled
to receive a prorated bonus under the AIP for the fiscal year in which his death occurs, payable at the same time the Company pays bonuses
to its other executive officers and based on actual performance.

Severance Protection Agreements with Messrs. Pease and Kurk and Ms. Mingle
We are also party to a severance protection agreement with each of Mr. Pease, Mr. Kurk and Ms. Mingle. Each agreement is on a two-year
term automatically renewing on January 1 of each year unless the Company or the executive gives notice of non-renewal at least ninety
(90) days prior to such date, except that the term may not expire prior to 24 months following a change in control of the Company (as defined
in the agreement). Pursuant to the agreement, in the event that the executive’s employment is terminated within 24 months after a change in
control of the Company (i) by the Company for any reason other than for cause or disability or (ii) by the executive for good reason (which
definition includes, among other
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things, an adverse change in status or duties and a reduction in salary), the executive will be entitled to receive accrued compensation and
each of the following:

 • severance pay of one times base salary for Mr. Kurk and Ms. Mingle, or, for Mr. Pease, equal to two times the sum of (A) the
executive’s then current base salary, and (B) target annual bonus under the AIP for the year in which the termination occurs or for
the immediately preceding year, if the target bonus for the year in which the termination occurs has not been approved at the time
of termination;

 • a prorated bonus for the fiscal year in which the termination occurs, based on the actual bonus that would have been payable to
the executive for the year in which the termination occurs; and

 • payment for continuation of the executive’s and his or her dependents’ health benefits under COBRA for 12 months (the
Termination Benefits Period).

 
If the executive’s employment is terminated by the Company within 24 months after a change in control for disability or by reason of death,
the executive will receive a pro rata bonus for the year of termination, based on the actual bonus that would have been payable to the
executive for the year in which the termination occurs.

Further, if the executive’s employment is terminated by the Company other than for cause at any time prior to the date of a change in control
of the Company and such termination (i) occurred after we entered into a definitive agreement, the consummation of which would constitute a
change in control of the Company or (ii) the executive reasonably demonstrates that such termination was at the request of a third party who
has indicated an intention or has taken steps reasonably calculated to effect a change in control, such termination will be deemed to have
occurred after a change in control.

Severance Protection Agreement with Mr. Wyatt
We are also party to a severance protection agreement with Mr. Wyatt. This severance protection agreement is on a 1-year term
automatically renewing on January 1 of each year unless the Company or Mr. Wyatt gives notice of non-renewal at least ninety (90) days
prior to such date, except that the term may not expire prior to 24 months following a change in control of the Company (as defined in the
agreement). Pursuant to the agreement, in the event Mr. Wyatt’s employment is terminated within 24 months after a change in control of the
Company (i) by the Company for any reason other than for cause or disability or (ii) by Mr. Wyatt for good reason (which definition includes,
among other things, an adverse change in status or duties, a reduction in salary or benefits, and a relocation of Mr. Wyatt’s place of
employment by more than twenty-five miles), Mr. Wyatt will be entitled to receive accrued compensation and each of the following:

 • severance pay of one and one-half times Mr. Wyatt’s then current base salary plus one and one-half times the target annual
incentive payable to Mr. Wyatt under the AIP for the fiscal year immediately preceding the year of termination of employment;

 • a prorated bonus under the AIP for the year in which his termination occurs, based on the actual bonus paid or payable to
Mr. Wyatt under the AIP in respect of the year immediately preceding the year of termination of employment;

 • continuation of Mr. Wyatt’s and his dependents’ and beneficiaries’ life insurance, disability, medical, dental and hospitalization
benefits for 18 months (the Termination Benefits Period);

 • if, at the end of the Termination Benefits Period, Mr. Wyatt is not employed by another employer (including self-employment), then
for six months (or his earlier re-employment with another entity) he will receive (i) an additional monthly payment equal to one-
twelfth of his then current base salary plus one-twelfth of the target annual incentive payable to Mr. Wyatt for the year immediately
preceding the year of termination of employment, and (ii) continuation of the benefits discussed in the bullet above (provided that
such benefits will not cease upon re-employment unless Mr. Wyatt obtains such coverage or benefits pursuant to the subsequent
employer’s benefit plans); and

 

2020 Proxy Statement 75 

 



EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
  

 • reimbursement for (i) outplacement assistance services (up to 25% of the sum of Mr. Wyatt’s then-current year salary and prior
year target bonus), (ii) tax and financial planning assistance (up to $2,000) and (iii) relocation expenses under certain
circumstances.

If Mr. Wyatt’s employment is terminated by the Company within 24 months after a change in control of the Company for cause or disability, by
reason of his death or by Mr. Wyatt other than for good reason, we will pay to Mr. Wyatt his accrued compensation and any earned but
unpaid bonus or incentive compensation. In addition, in the case of a termination of employment by the Company for disability or due to
Mr. Wyatt’s death, he will receive a pro rata bonus for the year of termination based on the actual bonus paid or payable to Mr. Wyatt under
the AIP in respect of the year immediately preceding the year of termination.

Further, if Mr. Wyatt’s employment is terminated by the Company other than for cause at any time prior to the date of a change in control of
the Company and such termination (i) occurred after we entered into a definitive agreement, the consummation of which would constitute a
change in control of the Company or (ii) Mr. Wyatt reasonably demonstrates that such termination was at the request of a third party who has
indicated an intention or has taken steps reasonably calculated to effect a change in control of the Company, such termination will be
deemed to have occurred after a change in control.

Employment Agreement with Mr. Drendel
Mr. Drendel’s employment agreement is a one-year term automatically renewing on December 31 of each year unless the Company or
Mr. Drendel gives written notice of non-renewal at least 90 days prior to such date. Pursuant to the agreement, in the event his employment
is terminated by the Company by notice of non-renewal of the term of the agreement, by the Company for any reason other than for cause or
by Mr. Drendel for any reason, in each case regardless of whether a change in control has occurred, he will be entitled to receive his accrued
compensation and each of the following: (i) an amount (the Severance Payment) equal to two times the sum of (X) his base salary and
(Y) his base salary multiplied by 0.50, payable in a lump sum payment within thirty days following termination; and (ii) a cash payment equal
to the cost the Company would have incurred had he continued group medical, dental, vision and/or prescription drug benefit coverage for
himself for 24 months following his termination of employment, payable in periodic installments in accordance with our payroll practice.

If Mr. Drendel’s employment is terminated by the Company for cause or by reason of his death, we will pay to him his accrued compensation.
In addition, in the event of Mr. Drendel’s death, his estate will be entitled to receive the Severance Payment payable in a lump sum payment
within thirty days following his death.

Employment Agreement with Mr. McClelland
Mr. McClelland was party to an Amended and Restated Employment Agreement with ARRIS, which we assumed in connection with the
ARRIS acquisition. Pursuant to his agreement, upon his termination his outstanding RSUs vested and he received (i) a severance amount
equal to two times the sum of his (x) base salary and (y) the average of his bonus over the two prior fiscal years, paid in a lump sum, and (ii)
a pro rata bonus for 2019, based on target achievement. He also receives a cash amount, payable over a two-year period, equal to the cost
of providing group and additional life insurance coverage and group disability coverage, as if he had remained employed for two years, and
the excess of COBRA coverage over the active employee rate for two years. The EPOP options issued to Mr. McClelland were forfeited.

280G Tax Gross-Up Provisions
The employment agreements with Messrs. Edwards and Drendel and the severance protection agreement with Mr. Wyatt provide for a gross-
up payment by the Company in the event that the total payments the executive receives under the agreement, or otherwise (for example, due
to accelerated vesting of equity), are subject to the excise tax under Section 4999 of the Internal Revenue Code. In such an event, we will
pay an additional amount so that the executive is made whole on an after-tax basis from the effect of the excise tax. The severance
protection agreements with Mr. Pease, Mr. Kurk and Ms.
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Mingle do not contain any provision with respect to gross-up payments or cut-backs in the event of such excise taxes.

Restrictive Covenants
Messrs. Edwards’ and Drendel’s employment agreements each contain cooperation and confidentiality covenants that apply during and
following the executives’ respective employment with the Company. The agreements also contain certain non-compete and non-solicitation
obligations that continue for a certain period following termination of employment, as follows: 24 months, in the case of Mr. Edwards and up
to an additional six months if Mr. Edwards continues to receive the benefits discussed above following the conclusion of his Termination
Benefits Period, and 60 months, in the case of Mr. Drendel. The severance protection agreements with Messrs. Pease, Kurk and Wyatt and
Ms. Mingle do not contain any restrictive covenants.

Severance Policy
We maintain a general severance policy that applies to all United States and Canada based employees. Pursuant to this policy, employees
may receive severance benefits and a COBRA or Retirement Health supplement in the event of an involuntary separation due to a reduction
in force, lack of work, closure of a facility or position elimination. No severance benefits are paid in the event of a voluntary resignation,
involuntary termination for cause, termination due to a sale of assets or operations if the employee is offered continued employment with the
acquiror in the same general work location, or position elimination if the employee is offered a comparable or better position in the same
general work location. The severance period varies based on job level and years of service and cannot exceed 52 weeks.

 
The following table sets forth the estimated amount of the payments and benefits each of our NEOs would receive under certain termination
of employment scenarios, in each case assuming a termination of employment on December 31, 2019. The payments and benefits described
and quantified below are in addition to the compensation and benefits that would already be vested upon the NEO’s termination of
employment, including accrued but unpaid salary, accrued but unused vacation pay, amounts previously earned and deferred under the DCP
and payments and benefits accrued under the 401(k) plan and the SERP.
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Name  Payment

Termination
for

Cause ($)

Resignation
Without
Good

Reason ($)  
Death or

Disability ($)  

Termination
Without

Cause or
Resignation

for Good
Reason

Prior to a
Change in
Control ($)  

Termination
Without

Cause or
Resignation

for Good
Reason
After a

Change in
Control ($)  

            
Marvin S. Edwards, Jr.  Cash severance(1) — — — 6,187,500 6,187,500  
  Pro rata bonus — 517,110(2) 517,110(3) 517,110(2) 1,650,000(4)
  Benefit continuation(1) — — — 30,363 30,363  
  Gross-Up(5) — — — — —  
  Total — 517,110 517,110 6,734,973 7,867,863  
            
            
Alexander W. Pease  Cash severance — — — 195,313(6) 2,312,500 
  Pro rata bonus — — 166,494(2) — 531,250(4)
  Benefit continuation — — — 5,272(6) 15,817 
  Total — — 166,494 200,585 2,859,567  
            
            
Morgan C.S. Kurk  Cash severance — — — 467,188(6) 1,063,750 
  Pro rata bonus  — 153,174(2) — 488,750(4)
  Benefit continuation — — — 4,614(6) 5,537 
  Total — — 153,174 471,802 1,558,037  
            
            
Frank B. Wyatt, II  Cash severance — — — 540,000(6) 1,829,000(1)
  Pro rata bonus — 118,465(2) 118,465(2) 118,465(2) 378,000(4)
  Benefit continuation — — — 15,817(6) 31,634(1)
  Other Benefits(7) — — — — 230,625  
  Gross-Up(5) — — — — —  
  Total — 118,465 118,465 674,282 2,469,259  
            
            
Robyn T. Mingle  Cash severance — — — 168,750(6) 765,000 
  Pro rata bonus — — 98,721(2) — 315,000(4)
  Benefit continuation      11,470(6) 15,294 
  Total — — 98,721 180,220 1,095,294  
            
            
Frank M. Drendel  Cash severance — 1,845,000 1,845,000 1,845,000 1,845,000  
  Pro rata bonus — 96,371(2) 96,371(2) 96,371(2) 307,500(4)
  Benefit continuation — 11,555 — 11,555 11,555  

  Gross-Up(5) — — — — —  
  Total — 1,952,926 1,941,371 1,952,926 2,164,055  
            

 

(1) Assumes that the executive is not self-employed or employed by another entity at the end of the Termination Benefits Period and, accordingly, receives an additional
six months of severance and an additional six months of benefits continuation.

(2) Pursuant to the terms of the AIP, participants are eligible to receive, at the discretion of the Compensation Committee, a pro rata portion of their award, based upon
actual achievement of applicable performance objectives, if their employment is terminated due to death, disability or retirement (at age 65 or at age 55 with at least 10
years of service with the Company, or earlier with prior approval of the Company). As of December 31, 2019, each of Messrs. Edwards, Wyatt and Drendel was
retirement eligible under the AIP. Amounts shown in the table assume that the Compensation Committee approved such pro rata payouts.

(3) Pursuant to Mr. Edwards’ agreement, he would receive a pro rata bonus, based upon actual achievement of applicable performance objectives, upon a termination due
to death, but not due to disability.
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(4) Pursuant to the terms of the AIP, in the event of a change in control of the Company (as defined in the AIP), within 30 days thereafter, we will pay to each participant
immediately prior to such change in control (regardless of whether such participant remains in the employ of the Company following the change in control) an award
equal to his or her target incentive for the AIP plan cycle then underway (prorated to the date of the change in control). Pursuant to the agreements with the NEOs
other than Mr. Drendel, in the event of a termination of employment following a change in control, the executive would receive a pro rata bonus based on actual
achievement of applicable performance objectives (or, for Mr. Wyatt, actual performance for the prior year’s bonus). Because actual performance was less than target
performance, amounts shown in the table reflect the 2019 target amount under the AIP.    

(5) Estimate of gross-up payment also assumes acceleration of vesting our outstanding and unvested equity incentive awards, see below discussion under the heading “—
Equity Incentive Awards.”

(6) Assumes that severance is paid pursuant to the general severance policy for United States employees.
(7) Reflects reimbursement of outplacement expenses and for tax and financial planning services. Note that, in certain circumstances, Mr. Wyatt would also be entitled to

reimbursement for costs of relocation following a termination of employment; however, estimates of these costs are not included in the amounts above.
 
SERP
Pursuant to the terms of the SERP, a participant generally will receive the full value of his account balance upon his termination or
resignation for any reason once he is eligible for retirement, subject to applicable 409(A) payment delay. Messrs. Edwards, Wyatt and
Drendel are vested in their SERP accounts and eligible for retirement so they would receive the amounts shown in the column of the
Nonqualified Deferred Compensation table entitled “Aggregate balance at last fiscal year end” were their employment terminated for any
reason on December 31, 2019.

The value of their SERP accounts is based on an assumed effective date of December 31, 2019 shown in the column of the Nonqualified
Deferred Compensation table entitled “Aggregate balance at last fiscal year end.”

Payment to the SERP participants generally occurs on the first day of the seventh month following termination, except that payments
resulting from termination following a change in control of the Company or terminations due to death or disability are paid as soon as
practicable following such termination.

Equity Incentive Awards
In the event of a change in control of CommScope, time vesting stock options under the EPOP will vest in full if the participant is terminated
within two years of the close of the change in control. Performance vesting stock options under the EPOP will be treated as follows:

 • If the acquisition price is between 2x and 3.5x the grant date price, the performance option will be deemed earned on a sliding
scale between 40% and 100% of the maximum.

 • This number is inclusive of options previously earned based on the Company’s performance.
 • If the acquisition price exceeds 3.5x the grant price, all remaining unvested options will be considered earned as of the change in

control date.

Any options deemed earned based on the acquisition price will vest on the earlier of the one-year anniversary of the closing date or the date
of the employee’s termination, other than for cause.

The non-qualified option award agreements (other than under the EPOP) and the RSU award agreements under which the NEOs received
awards in February 2016 or later provide that all awards granted pursuant to those award agreements will become immediately vested and,
in the case of option awards, become fully exercisable, in the event of any of the following:

 • the termination of a participant’s service due to death or disability,

 • a change in control of the Company in which the awards are not assumed by the surviving entity or otherwise equitably converted
or substituted in connection with the change in control, or

 • a change in control of the Company in which the awards are assumed or equitably converted, but the participant’s employment is
terminated without “cause” or the participant resigns for “good reason” within two years following the change in control.
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The PSU agreements under which the NEOs received grants in 2016 and 2017 provide for similar treatment as described above for the
options and RSUs, provided that if the participant’s death or disability occurs during the performance period, the PSUs will be prorated and
will vest based on actual achievement over the performance period. Under the 2018 PSU agreements, in the event of a change in control of
the Company in which the awards are not assumed by the surviving entity or otherwise equitably converted or substituted in connection with
the change in control, or a change in control of the Company in which the awards are assumed or equitably converted, but the participant’s
employment is terminated without cause or the participant resigns for good reason within two years following the change in control, the PSUs
subject to the AOI performance metric will be prorated and will vest based on deemed performance of target level if the change of control
falls within the first half of the performance period or based on the actual performance measured at the date of the change in control if the
change in control falls within the second half of the performance period and the PSUs subject to the Cumulative Revenue performance metric
will be prorated and will vest based on deemed performance of target level no matter when the change of control falls within the performance
period.

The following table presents the value (based on the Company’s closing stock price on December 31, 2019 of $14.19 or in the case of
options, the excess of such closing stock price over the exercise price) of equity awards that would become vested upon a termination due to
death or disability, a change in control in which the awards are not assumed by the surviving entity or otherwise equitably converted or
substituted in connection with the change in control, or a change in control in which the awards are assumed or equitably converted but the
participant’s employment is terminated without cause or the participant resigns for good reason within two years following the change in
control of the Company, assuming that any such events had occurred on December 31, 2019. The amounts for PSUs granted in 2018 with
the AOI performance metric are based on actual performance of 62.7%, and the amounts for PSUs with the Cumulative Revenue metric are
based on target performance.
 

  Change in Control   Death or Disability
 

 
Options

($)  
PSU
($)  

RSU
($)   

Options
($)  

PSU
($)  

RSU
($)

              
              

Marvin S. Edwards, Jr.  —  534,601 866,385  —  534,601 866,385
              
Alexander W. Pease  —  111,312 119,877  —  111,312 119,877
              
Morgan C.S. Kurk  —  114,562 156,587  —  114,562 156,587
              
Frank B. Wyatt, II  —  68,732 111,392  —  68,732 111,392
              
Robyn T. Mingle  —  61,100 90,717  —  61,100 90,717
              
Frank M. Drendel  —  85,536 138,636  —  85,536 138,636

 

COMPENSATION-RELATED RISK ASSESSMENT

Our Compensation Committee, with the assistance of our management, through the human resources, finance and legal departments, has
analyzed the potential risks arising from our compensation policies and practices and has determined that there are no such risks that are
reasonably likely to have a material adverse effect on the Company.

CEO PAY RATIO
 

Under Commission rules, we are required to calculate and disclose the ratio of our median employee’s annual total compensation to the total
annual compensation of our Chief Executive Officer.
 
In 2019, our employee population increased significantly due to the ARRIS acquisition; therefore, a new median employee was identified as
required by Commission rules. To identify our median employee for purposes of reporting the CEO pay ratio, we compiled a list of all
worldwide full-time, part-time, seasonal
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and temporary employees employed by us and our consolidated subsidiaries as of October 31, 2019. The compensation measure we used
to determine our median employee included annual base salary as of October 31, 2019; an estimate of overtime based on average overtime
worked considering the job position and country of the employee; and incentive compensation based on targets. We believe this
compensation measure is a reasonable measure that can be consistently applied to our approximately 30,000 employees across the world in
order to yield an accurate representation of our median employee.
 
Mr. Edwards had 2019 annual total compensation of $13,992,038 as reflected in the Summary Compensation Table included in this Proxy
Statement. Our median employee’s annual total compensation for 2019, calculated in the same manner as Mr. Edwards’ annual total
compensation, was $12,769. As a result, Mr. Edwards’ annual total compensation is 1,096 times that of our median employee. We have a
team of approximately 30,000 employees to serve customers in over 150 countries through an extensive network of manufacturing and
distribution facilities strategically located around the globe. We utilize lower-cost geographies for high labor content products while investing
in largely automated plants in higher-cost regions close to customers. Most of our manufacturing employees are located in lower-cost
geographies such as Mexico, China, India and the Czech Republic and are compensated at the market rate based on their geographic
location and their job type. This drives a higher pay ratio between our median employee and our Chief Executive Officer when compared to
companies with primarily United States operations or those manufacturers that are not as labor intensive. We believe this pay ratio is a
reasonable estimate calculated in a manner consistent with Commission rules.

EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN INFORMATION
The following table provides information as of December 31, 2019, with respect to the shares of our common stock that may be issued under
our existing equity compensation plans:
 

Plan Category  

Number of Securities
to be Issued Upon

Exercise of
Outstanding

Options, Warrants
and Rights

(a)  

Weighted-Average
Exercise Price of

Outstanding Options,
Warrants and Rights

(b)  

Number of Securities
Remaining Available for

Future Issuance
Under Equity

Compensation Plans
(Excluding Securities

Reflected in Column(a))
(c)

       

Equity compensation plans
   approved by security holders  9,616,445  $17.70  3,958,363
       
       

Equity compensation plans not
   approved by security holders  —  —  —
       

Total  9,616,445  $17.70  3,958,363
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COMPENSATION COMMITTEE REPORT
The Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors consists of the four directors named below, each of whom meets the independence
standards of Nasdaq and the rules of the Commission.

The Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors has reviewed and discussed with management the “Compensation Discussion and
Analysis,” or CD&A, section of this Proxy Statement required by Item 402(b) of Regulation S-K promulgated by the Commission. Based on
the Committee’s review and discussions with management, the Committee recommended to the Board of Directors that the CD&A be
included in the Company’s 2019 Annual Report on Form 10-K and in this Proxy Statement.
 
Stephen C. Gray (Chair)
L. William Krause
Patrick R. McCarter
Claudius E. Watts, IV
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PROPOSAL No. 6:
TO APPROVE THE ELIMINATION OF RESTRICTIONS ON THE ISSUANCE OF COMMON SHARES IN

CONNECTION WITH THE CONVERSION OR REDEMPTION OF THE PREFERRED SHARES OR CARLYLE’S
EXERCISE OF PARTICIPATION RIGHTS AND ON THE VOTING OF PREFERRED SHARES

 
BACKGROUND TO PROPOSAL NO. 6
On April 4, 2019 (the Issuance Date), the Company issued and sold 1,000,000 shares of the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock to Carlyle
for $1.0 billion, or $1,000 per share, pursuant to the Investment Agreement.

The Series A Convertible Preferred Stock ranks senior to the shares of the Company’s common stock, with respect to dividend rights and
rights on the distribution of assets on any voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the affairs of the Company. Holders
of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock are entitled to a cumulative dividend at the rate of 5.5% per annum, payable quarterly in arrears.
Dividends can be paid in cash, in kind with Series A Convertible Preferred Stock or any combination of the two options at the Company’s sole
discretion.
 
The terms of the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock were established pursuant to a Certificate of Designations filed by CommScope with
the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware on April 3, 2019 (the Certificate of Designations), a copy of which has been included as
Exhibit 3.1 to CommScope’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the Commission on the Issuance Date.
 
To comply with the Nasdaq Listing Rules, the Certificate of Designations contains certain restrictions on the number of shares of common
stock that may be issued (i) upon any future conversion or redemption of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, (ii) pursuant to, or upon
conversion, exercise or exchange of, any securities issued pursuant to Carlyle’s participation rights under the Investment Agreement and (iii)
on the voting rights conferred to the shares of the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, in each case, before stockholder approval, to the
extent required, has been obtained in accordance with Nasdaq Listing Rules, which are summarized below.
 
RESTRICTIONS ON CONVERSION OF PREFERRED SHARES
The Series A Convertible Preferred Stock is convertible at the option of the holders at any time into shares of CommScope common stock at
an initial conversion rate of 36.3636 shares of common stock per share of the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock (equivalent to $27.50 per
common share). The conversion rate is subject to customary anti-dilution and other adjustments. At any time after the third anniversary of
Issuance Date, if the volume weighted average price of CommScope’s common stock exceeds the conversion price of $49.50, as may be
adjusted pursuant to the Certificate of Designations, for at least thirty trading days in any period of forty-five consecutive trading days
(including the final five trading days of any such forty-five-trading day period) all of the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock may be
converted at the election of CommScope into the relevant number of shares of CommScope common stock.
 
As of the Issuance Date, the shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock held by Carlyle represented, on an as-converted basis without
taking into account any conversion limitations, (i) 18.8% of CommScope’s outstanding common stock prior to the issuance and (ii) 15.8% of
CommScope’s common stock after giving effect to the conversion.
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As of March 10, 2020, Carlyle held 1,000,000 shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, which represented, on an as-converted basis
without taking into account any conversion limitations, 16% of CommScope’s common stock after giving effect to the conversion.
 
To comply with the Nasdaq Listing Rules, the issuance of shares of CommScope common stock upon conversion of the Series A Convertible
Preferred Stock is subject to the following limitations (the Nasdaq Cap):
 
 • the number of shares issuable upon conversion of the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, plus the 2,100,000 shares of

common stock issuable by CommScope from capacity assumed under the existing share plans of ARRIS in connection with the
ARRIS acquisition, is capped at 38,496,576 shares of common stock, representing 19.9% of the CommScope common stock
outstanding immediately prior to the acquisition (the Aggregate Share Cap); and

 • the number of shares issuable to any individual holder upon conversion of such holder’s Series A Convertible Preferred Stock is
capped at the maximum number of shares of common stock that could be issued by CommScope to such holder without triggering
a change of control under Nasdaq Listing Rules (the Individual Holder Share Cap).  

 
If the Nasdaq Cap is reached, CommScope will, at its option, either obtain stockholder approval before issuing any shares of common stock
in excess of the Nasdaq Cap or pay the converting holders, in lieu of delivery of shares of common stock in excess of the Nasdaq Cap, the
cash value of such shares.
 
RESTRICTIONS UPON REDEMPTION OF PREFERRED SHARES
During the three months following the eight and one-half year anniversary of the Issuance Date and the three months following each
anniversary thereafter, holders of the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock will have the right to require CommScope to redeem all or any
portion of the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock at 100% liquidation preference plus all accrued and unpaid dividends. The redemption
price is payable at the Company’s option in cash or, a combination of cash and common stock subject to certain restrictions.

Pursuant to the Certificate of Designations, the portion of the redemption price that can be paid in common stock is restricted by the Nasdaq
Cap. If the Nasdaq Cap is reached, CommScope will, at its option, either obtain stockholder approval before issuing any shares of common
stock in excess of the Nasdaq Cap or pay the redemption price in cash.
 
RESTRICTIONS IN CONNECTION WITH CARLYLE’S PARTICIPATION RIGHTS
Until the later of (i) the date that Carlyle or its affiliates beneficially own shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock and/or shares of
common stock issued upon conversion of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock that represent, on an as-converted basis, less than 5% of the
then outstanding common stock, on an as-converted basis, and (ii) the three-year anniversary of the Issuance Date, subject to certain
exceptions specified in the Investment Agreement, if CommScope or its subsidiaries propose to issue equity securities of any kind,
CommScope will be required, subject to certain terms and conditions set forth in the Investment Agreement, to offer to issue and sell to
Carlyle (and its permitted transferees), a portion of the securities to be issued, in an amount proportional to Carlyle’s beneficial ownership of
the common stock then outstanding (on an as-converted basis) (the Participation Rights).  

The Participation Rights are restricted by the Nasdaq Cap, and if the Nasdaq Cap is reached and CommScope has not obtained stockholder
approval to issue shares of common stock in excess of the Nasdaq Cap, CommScope is required, at Carlyle’s option, to (i) waive certain
standstill restrictions under the Investment Agreement solely to the extent necessary to permit Carlyle to acquire the number of securities that
Carlyle otherwise would have received in the issuance; (ii) consider and discuss in good faith modifications proposed by Carlyle to the terms
and conditions of such portion of the securities that
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would otherwise be issued to Carlyle so that CommScope would not be required to obtain stockholder approval for the issuance thereof;
and/or (iii) solely to the extent that stockholder approval is required in connection with the issuance of equity securities to persons other that
Carlyle, take such actions as may be reasonably necessary to seek stockholder approval for the issuance of the securities to Carlyle.
 
RESTRICTIONS ON VOTING RIGHTS
Holders of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock are entitled to vote with the holders of common stock on an as-converted basis, voting
together as a single class. Holders of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock are entitled to a separate class vote with respect to amendments
to the Company’s organizational documents that have an adverse effect on the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock and the creation or
classification of, or issuances by, the Company of securities that are senior to, or equal in priority with, the Series A Convertible Preferred
Stock.

The number of votes conferred to the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock there is limited by the Nasdaq Cap, and the number of shares
that each holder of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock is entitled to vote cannot exceed such holder’s Individual Share Cap. If the
Individual Share Cap is reached, and CommScope has not obtained stockholder approval, such holder’s voting rights will be limited unless
and until CommScope obtains stockholder approval.
 
REASONS FOR REQUESTING STOCKHOLDER APPROVAL
Our common stock is listed on the Nasdaq Global Select Market, and we are subject to the Nasdaq listing standards set forth in its Listing
Rules. We are required under Listing Rule 5635 to obtain stockholder approval.
 
Listing Rule 5635(a)(1)
 
Listing Rule 5635(a)(1) requires stockholder approval prior to the issuance of securities in connection with the acquisition of the stock or
assets of another company, where due to the present or potential issuance of common stock, or securities convertible into or exercisable for
common stock, other than a public offering for cash: (a) the common stock has or will have upon issuance voting power of 20% or more of
the voting power outstanding before the issuance of stock or securities convertible into or exercisable for common stock; or (b) the number of
shares of common stock to be issued is or will be 20% or more of the number of shares of common stock outstanding before the issuance of
the stock or securities. In making this calculation, the number of shares issued includes equity compensation awards assumed or in assumed
plans.
 
Listing Rule 5635(b)
 
Listing Rule 5635(b) requires stockholder approval prior to the issuance of securities that will result in a change of control of a listed
company, which for purposes of the Nasdaq Listing Rule 5635(b) is generally deemed to occur when an investor or investor group acquires
or has the right to acquire 20% or more of the outstanding shares of common stock or voting power of the company and such ownership or
voting power would be the largest ownership position.  
 
Investment Agreement
 
Pursuant to the Investment Agreement, CommScope agreed to (i) include in this Proxy Statement a proposal to eliminate the Nasdaq Cap
and (ii) use commercially reasonable efforts to solicit from the stockholders proxies in favor of, and to obtain stockholder approval, of such
proposal.
 
EFFECTS IF PROPOSAL NO. 6 IS APPROVED
If the stockholders approve Proposal No. 6, the Nasdaq Cap will be eliminated and, as a result (i) CommScope will be permitted to issue
shares of common stock upon the conversion or redemption of
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Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, or in connection with the exercise of the Participation Rights, and (ii) the holders of Series A
Convertible Preferred Stock will be entitled to vote their shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, in each case without regard to the
Nasdaq Cap.
 
EFFECTS IF PROPOSAL NO. 6 IS NOT APPROVED
If the stockholders do not approve Proposal No. 6, the Nasdaq Cap will remain in effect and (i) CommScope will not be permitted to issue
shares of common stock in excess of the Nasdaq Cap upon the conversion or redemption of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, or in
connection with the exercise of the Participation Rights, and (ii) the number of votes that may be cast by holders of Series A Preferred Stock
will be limited so that the Nasdaq Cap is not exceeded.  
 
If the Nasdaq Cap is reached, CommScope will be required to pay converting holders, in lieu of delivery of shares of common stock in excess
of the Nasdaq Cap, the cash value of such shares and to pay redeeming holders the applicable redemption price in cash.

The Board of Directors recommends a vote “FOR” Proposal No. 6, to approve the elimination of the Nasdaq Cap.
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PROPOSAL No. 7:
APPROVAL OF ADDITIONAL SHARES UNDER OUR 2019 LONG-TERM INCENTIVE PLAN

 
BACKGROUND
On February 19, 2020, the Board of Directors approved, subject to stockholder approval at the Annual Meeting, an amendment to the
CommScope Holding Company, Inc. 2019 Long-Term Incentive Plan (2019 Plan) to increase the number of shares authorized under the
2019 Plan by 6.8 million shares. Except for the proposed increase in the number of shares authorized under the 2019 Plan and the decrease
in the maximum aggregate number of shares subject to awards that may be granted under the 2019 Plan to any non-employee director in
any calendar year, the amendment does not change any provisions of the 2019 Plan, which was approved by stockholders at the 2019
Annual Meeting. The 2019 Plan is the only plan under which equity-based compensation currently may be awarded to our executive officers
and employees.  
 
The Compensation Committee believes the number of shares available under the 2019 Plan are not sufficient to make the grants it believes
will be needed over the next year to provide adequate long-term equity incentives to our key employees. Approval of the amendment to the
2019 Plan will enable the Company to continue making equity compensation grants that serve as incentives to recruit and retain key
employees and to continue aligning the interests of its employees with stockholders.
 
PLAN DEVELOPMENT
The terms of the 2019 Plan, including the initial share authorization and the request for increased share authorization pursuant to this
proposal, were established during multiple Compensation Committee meetings that focused on creating a long-term incentive plan that would
be most effective in retaining our key leaders after the closing of the ARRIS transaction and providing strong incentives to capitalize on the
unique opportunities presented by the acquisition of ARRIS. In particular, the Compensation Committee considered the challenges of
effectively integrating ARRIS, our projected share usage, market data provided by Compensia, and the expected role of equity compensation
in the combined CommScope-ARRIS organization. Key factors that we believe are critical for stockholders to consider in evaluating our use
of equity over time as well as the proposed authorization for the amendment to the 2019 Plan include:
 
 • The EPOP options granted to senior officers following the ARRIS transaction were granted under the CommScope Holding

Company, Inc., Amended and Restated 2013 Long-Term Incentive Plan (Prior Plan), except for one award to a senior officer who
was hired in 2019 after the ARRIS transaction. All other awards granted under the 2019 Plan have been granted to non-executive
employees.  
 

 • The EPOP options replace regular equity awards for our senior officers for 2019, 2020 and 2021. Accordingly, no equity awards
will be issued under the 2019 Plan to executive officers in 2020 or 2021.
 

 • Although we have historically been conservative in our use of equity, the acquisition of ARRIS broadened our population of key
employees and has required more shares to make meaningful equity awards than in the past.
 

 • Prior to the acquisition of ARRIS, our gross burn rate was significantly below the ISS threshold for our industry sector and below
the 50th percentile of our compensation peer group
 

 • Reductions in our stock price over the past year have required more shares to deliver the same grant value to key employees.
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 • Our current issued overhang of 11.7% is impacted by factors specific to our acquisition of ARRIS
 • Our acquisition of ARRIS was completed with cash, resulting in a balance sheet that is more leveraged than that of

most comparable companies and increasing overhang and burn rates statistics, which are both expressed as a percent
of equity capital

 • The acquisition of ARRIS increased our total headcount by approximately 7,000 employees, including a significant
percentage who historically have been eligible for annual equity grants

 
 • Our equity compensation historically has been heavily weighted to performance-based incentives
 • Performance shares granted to our executives in 2017 and 2018 and tied to 1-year AOI were earned at 0% and 62.7%

of target, respectively
 • Approximately 9.4 million outstanding equity awards are in the form of stock options, including 2.9 million EPOP options

for which vesting is tied to our Adjusted EBITDA performance over a 5-year time horizon
 • Executive equity is heavily weighted to instruments that require strong performance for the delivery of value

 
 • Our overhang includes approximately 5.8 million outstanding options granted under the EPOP, a program we believe is critical to

the successful integration of ARRIS
 

As noted above, approximately 5.8 million of our outstanding equity awards were granted in 2019 in connection with the EPOP. This
approach to equity compensation was developed following the announcement of our acquisition of ARRIS and applies to the senior
leadership of the combined company, including our NEOs. Stock options granted in the program will replace executive equity compensation
during years 2019, 2020 and 2021 and vest over a five-year time horizon. In addition, the vesting of 50% of the options granted to each
participant requires achievement of pre-established Adjusted EBITDA goals for each year through 2023. All EPOP options were granted with
performance goals for all participants, including those from both legacy CommScope and legacy ARRIS organizations, to ensure that all
participants have similar motivation and will share in similar achievement levels across the full duration of the program.
 
The Compensation Committee approved the EPOP as a critical tool supporting the success of the combined CommScope-ARRIS
organization and for retaining key personnel who will be instrumental to stockholder value creation. The program delivers compensation
entirely in the form of stock options and incorporates Adjusted EBITDA targets as the metric that we believe will be a key driver of
stockholder value creation. Although the use of options and a front-loaded equity approach increases our overhang in traditional metrics, the
Compensation Committee believes the benefits of the program outweigh this consideration. Based on analysis completed during the design
of the program, the EPOP provides participating employees an opportunity to increase their realized compensation relative to our historical
approach to equity for our most senior employees, which included annual grants in a mix of stock options, RSUs, and PSUs. However, this
potential increase in realized compensation will only be possible of we achieve challenging Adjusted EBITDA projections that were
developed in connection with the ARRIS acquisition.
 
With a history of using equity as a compensation tool well within the norms of market practice and accounting for the impact of our acquisition
of ARRIS as well as the critical role of the EPOP in supporting our long-term business strategy and operating objectives, we believe that
stockholder support for the amendment to the 2019 Plan is warranted. We expect that the shares requested under the amended 2019 Plan
will provide for grants to non-executive personnel of the combined company for the remainder of 2020 and early 2021. Accordingly, we
expect to seek approval for additional shares under the 2019 Plan at the 2021 Annual Meeting.
 
A summary of the 2019 Plan is set forth below. This summary is qualified in its entirety by the full text of the amended 2019 Plan, which is
attached to this Proxy Statement as Appendix B.
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KEY DATA RELATING TO OUTSTANDING EQUITY AWARDS AND SHARES AVAILABLE
The following table includes information regarding outstanding equity awards under the 2019 Plan, the Prior Plan and the portion of the
ARRIS International plc 2016 Stock Incentive Plan that we assumed in the ARRIS transaction (ARRIS Plan) as of March 3, 2020 (without
giving effect to approval of the additional 6.8 million shares to be added to the 2019 Plan under this Proposal):

  Existing Plans(1)
Total shares underlying outstanding stock options 9,389,009(2)

Weighted-average exercise price of outstanding stock options $17.71
Weighted-average remaining contractual life of outstanding stock options 6.9 years
Total shares underlying time-based outstanding unvested full value awards 12,378,328
Total shares underlying performance-based outstanding full value awards 78,657(2)

Total shares currently available for grant 1,059,210(3)

  
Common stock outstanding 195,284,390(4)

Market closing price of common stock $8.46(4)

(1) Includes information regarding all outstanding equity awards and shares available for future awards, which are all under the Prior Plan and the ARRIS Plan. No other
predecessor plans have awards outstanding or shares available for future awards.

(2) Assumes performance-based awards will vest and pay out based on target performance levels being achieved.
(3) Represents shares available for future awards under the 2019 Plan. No future awards may be issued under the Prior Plan or the ARRIS Plan.
(4) As of March 10, 2020.
 
PROMOTION OF SOUND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES
We have designed the 2019 Plan to include a number of features that reinforce and promote alignment of equity compensation arrangements
for employees, officers, consultants and non-employee directors with the interests of stockholders and the Company. These features include,
but are not limited to, the following:

 
 • No Discounted Stock Options or Stock Appreciation Rights (SARs). Stock options and SARs may not be granted with

exercise prices lower than the fair market value of the underlying shares on the grant date.
 • Prohibition on Repricing. The exercise price of a stock option or SAR may not be reduced, directly or indirectly, without the prior

approval of stockholders, including the exchange for cash or another award or by a cash repurchase of “underwater” awards.
 • Minimum Vesting Requirements. Subject to certain limited exceptions, awards granted under the 2019 Plan are subject to a

minimum vesting period of one year or will be granted solely in exchange for foregone cash compensation.
 • No Liberal Share Recycling. Shares retained by or delivered to the Company to pay the exercise price of a stock option or SAR

or to satisfy tax withholding obligations in connection with the exercise, vesting or settlement of an award count against the
number of shares remaining available under the 2019 Plan.

 • No Dividends on Unearned Awards. The 2019 Plan prohibits the current payment of dividends or dividend equivalent rights on
unearned awards.

 • No Single-Trigger Change of Control Vesting. If awards granted under the 2019 Plan are assumed by the successor entity in
connection with a change of control of the Company, such awards will not automatically vest and pay out upon the change of
control.

 • No Tax Gross-Ups. The 2019 Plan does not provide for any tax gross-ups. See “280G Gross-Up Provisions” on page 76 for
information regarding the gross-up provisions in the employment agreements with Messrs. Edwards and Drendel and the
severance protection agreement with Mr. Wyatt.

 • Awards Subject to Clawback Policy. Awards under the 2019 Plan are subject to the Company’s clawback policy or any other
compensation recoupment policy that the Company may adopt from time to time.
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SUMMARY OF THE 2019 PLAN
PURPOSE AND ELIGIBILITY. The purpose of the 2019 Plan is to promote the Company’s success by linking the personal interests of its
employees, officers, directors and consultants to those of the Company’s stockholders, and by providing participants with a strong, clear
incentive for outstanding performance, successful and accretive integration of ARRIS and achievement of specific financial goals over the
next five years. As of March 3, 2020, approximately 28,000 employees and 9 non‑employee directors are eligible to participate in the 2019
Plan.

ADMINISTRATION. The 2019 Plan is administered by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors. The Committee has the authority
to: designate participants; grant awards; determine the type or types of awards to be granted to each participant and the number, terms and
conditions thereof; establish, adopt or revise any rules and regulations as it may deem advisable to administer the 2019 Plan; and make all
other decisions and determinations that may be required under the 2019 Plan.

AWARDS TO NON-EMPLOYEE DIRECTORS. Notwithstanding the above, awards granted under the 2019 Plan to the Company’s non-employee
directors are made only in accordance with the terms, conditions and parameters of a plan, program or policy for the compensation of non-
employee directors as in effect from time to time. In 2020, directors were granted RSUs which provide adequate incentives for strong
performance without distracting from the directors’ important role in risk management.
 
PERMISSIBLE AWARDS. The 2019 Plan authorizes the granting of awards in any of the following forms:

 
 • market-priced options to purchase shares of our common stock, which may be designated under the Code as nonstatutory

stock options or incentive stock options;
 

 • stock appreciation rights, which give the holder the right to receive an amount (payable in cash or stock, as specified in the
award agreement) equal to the excess of the fair market value per share of our common stock on the date of exercise over
the base price of the award (which cannot be less than the fair market value of the underlying stock as of the grant date);

 
 • restricted stock, which is subject to restrictions on transferability and subject to forfeiture on terms set by the Committee;

 
 • stock units, (including restricted stock units and deferred stock units) which represent the right to receive shares of common

stock (or an equivalent value in cash or other property, as specified in the award agreement) at a designated time in the
future and subject to any vesting requirement as may be set by the Committee;

 
 • performance awards, which represent any award of the types listed above which have a performance-vesting component

based on the achievement, or the level of achievement, of one or more performance goals during a specified performance
period, as established by the Committee;

 • other stock-based awards that are denominated or payable in, valued by reference to, or otherwise based on, shares of
common stock;

 
 • cash-based awards, including performance-based annual bonus awards.
 
SHARES AVAILABLE FOR AWARDS. Subject to proportionate adjustment in the event of stock splits and similar events, the aggregate number of
shares of common stock that may be issued under the 2019 Plan presently is 8.0 million shares, plus a number of additional shares (not to
exceed 17.4 million) underlying awards outstanding as of the effective date of the 2019 Plan under the Prior Plan and the ARRIS Plan that
thereafter terminate or expire unexercised, or are cancelled, forfeited or lapse for any reason. The

 

2020 Proxy Statement 90 

 



PROPOSAL NO. 7
  

 
amendment to the 2019 Plan would add another 6.8 million shares to the 2019 Plan. The maximum number of shares that may be issued
upon exercise of incentive stock options granted under the 2019 Plan is 14.8 million. As of March 3, 2020, only 1,059,210 shares remain
available for grant under the 2019 Plan. The Compensation Committee has approved awards of 6,227,351 RSUs for non-executive
employees that will be granted on June 1, 2020, if the amendment to the 2019 Plan is approved.
 
SHARE COUNTING. Shares subject to awards that terminate or expire unexercised, or are cancelled, forfeited or lapse for any reason, and
shares underlying awards that are ultimately settled in cash, will again be available for future grants of awards under the 2019 Plan. To the
extent that the full number of shares subject to a full-value award is not issued for any reason, including by reason of failure to achieve
maximum performance goals, the unissued shares originally subject to the award will be added back to the plan share reserve. Shares
delivered by the participant or withheld from an award to satisfy tax withholding requirements, and shares delivered or withheld to pay the
exercise price of an option, will not replenish the plan share reserve. For SARs settled in shares, the full number of shares underlying the
award (rather than any lesser number based on the net number of shares actually delivered upon exercise) will count against the plan share
reserve. The Committee may grant awards under the 2019 Plan in substitution for awards held by employees of another entity who become
employees of the Company as a result of a business combination, and such substitute awards will not count against the plan share reserve.
 
LIMITATIONS ON AWARDS. The maximum number of shares of common stock subject to stock options or SARs that may be granted under the
2019 Plan in any calendar year to any one participant is 4.0 million each. The maximum number of shares of common stock underlying
awards of restricted stock, restricted stock units and deferred stock units that may be granted under the 2019 Plan in any calendar year to
any one participant, in the aggregate, is 4.0 million. The maximum amount that may be paid to any one participant with respect to any
calendar year for performance awards granted under the 2019 Plan is $10.0 million for performance awards payable in cash and 4.0 million
shares for performance awards payable in shares. For performance awards with multi-year performance periods, the amount of cash or
number of shares deemed paid with respect to any one calendar year is the total amount earned for the performance period divided by the
number of calendar year periods within the performance period.
 
LIMITATION OF NON-EMPLOYEE DIRECTOR COMPENSATION. The maximum aggregate number of shares subject to awards that may be granted
under the 2019 Plan to any non-employee director in any calendar year is limited to a number that, combined with any cash meeting fees or
cash retainers, does not exceed $750,000 in total value, including in the case of a non-employee Chairman of the Board or Lead Director.
 
MINIMUM VESTING REQUIREMENTS. Except in the case of awards issued in lieu of fully-vested cash awards and substitute awards granted in a
business combination, full-value awards, options and SARs issued under the 2019 Plan are subject to a minimum vesting period of one year.
For awards issued to non-employee directors, the minimum vesting period may be the approximately one year period between annual
meetings. However, the Committee may at its discretion, grant full-value awards, options and SARs without the minimum vesting
requirements described above with respect to awards covering 5% or fewer of the total number of shares authorized under the 2019 Plan. In
addition, the minimum vesting requirement does not apply to accelerated exercisability or vesting of any award in cases of death, disability or
a change in control.

 
TREATMENT OF AWARDS UPON DEATH OR DISABILITY. Unless otherwise provided in an award agreement or any special plan document
governing an award, upon termination of a participant’s service by reason of death or disability:
 
 • all outstanding options, stock appreciation rights and other awards, or the portions of such awards, that are solely subject to

time-based vesting restrictions will become fully vested; and
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 • all outstanding options, stock appreciation rights and other awards, or the portions of such awards, that are solely subject to

performance-based vesting restrictions will be prorated, based on the time elapsed during the performance period, and the
prorated portion will remain outstanding and eligible to vest based on actual performance over the applicable performance
period.

 
TREATMENT OF AWARDS UPON A CHANGE OF CONTROL. Unless otherwise provided in an award agreement or any special plan document
governing an award:
 
(A)  upon the occurrence of a change of control of the Company in which awards under the 2019 Plan are not assumed by the surviving
entity or otherwise equitably converted or substituted in connection with the change in control in a manner approved by the Committee or the
Board:

 
 • all outstanding options and stock appreciation rights will become fully vested and exercisable, and all time-based vesting

restrictions on outstanding awards will lapse; and
 

 • the payout opportunities attainable under outstanding performance-based awards will vest based on target or actual
performance (depending on whether the change in control occurs during the first half or the second half of the performance
period) and the awards will payout on a pro rata basis, based on the time elapsed prior to the change in control.

 
(B)  upon the occurrence of a change of control of the Company in which awards under the 2019 Plan are assumed by the surviving entity or
otherwise equitably converted or substituted in connection with the change in control, if within two years after the effective date of the change
of control, a participant’s employment is terminated without Cause or the participant resigns for Good Reason (as such terms are defined in
the 2019 Plan), then:

 
 • all of that participant’s outstanding options and stock appreciation rights will become fully vested and exercisable, and all

time-based vesting restrictions on that participant’s outstanding awards will lapse; and
 

 • the payout opportunities attainable under outstanding performance-based awards will vest based on target or actual
performance (depending on the time during the performance period in which the date of termination occurs) and the awards
will payout on a pro rata basis, based on the time elapsed prior to the date of termination.

 
DISCRETION TO ACCELERATE VESTING. The Committee may, in its sole discretion, determine that all or a portion of a participant’s awards shall
become fully or partially exercisable, that all or a portion of the restrictions on the participant’s awards shall lapse, and/or any performance-
based criteria with respect such awards shall be deemed satisfied. Any such exercise of discretion will be subject to the minimum vesting
requirements described above, other than in cases of death, disability or a change in control.
 
ANTI-DILUTION ADJUSTMENTS. In the event of a transaction between us and our stockholders that causes the per-share value of our common
stock to change (including, without limitation, any stock dividend, stock split, spin-off, rights offering or large nonrecurring cash dividend), the
share authorization limits and annual award limits under the 2019 Plan will be adjusted proportionately, and the Committee shall make such
adjustments to the 2019 Plan and awards as it deems necessary, in its sole discretion, to prevent dilution or enlargement of rights
immediately resulting from such transaction.
 
AMENDMENT AND TERMINATION OF THE 2019 PLAN. No awards may be granted under the 2019 Plan after the tenth anniversary of the effective
date of the plan (or, if the amendment to the 2019 Plan is approved, the tenth anniversary of the effective date of the amendment). The Board
or the Committee may amend, suspend or terminate the 2019 Plan at any time, except that no amendment may be made without the
approval of the Company’s stockholders if stockholder approval is required by any federal or state law or regulation or by the rules of any
stock exchange on which the common stock may then be
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listed, or if the amendment, alteration or other change materially increases the benefits accruing to participants, increases the number of
shares available under the 2019 Plan or modifies the requirements for participation under the 2019 Plan, or if the Board or Committee in its
discretion determines that obtaining such stockholder approval is for any reason advisable. No amendment or termination of the 2019 Plan
may, without the written consent of the participant, reduce or diminish the value of an outstanding award. The Committee may amend or
terminate outstanding awards at any time, except that no amendment or termination of outstanding award may, without the written consent of
the participant, reduce or diminish the value of such outstanding awards.
 
PROHIBITION ON REPRICING. Without the prior consent of the Company’s stockholders, outstanding stock options and SARs cannot be repriced,
directly or indirectly, nor may stock options or SARs be cancelled in exchanged for stock options or SARs with an exercise or base price that
is less than the exercise price or base price of the original stock options or SARs. In addition, the Company may not, without the prior
approval of stockholders, repurchase an option or stock appreciation right for value from a participant if the current market value of the
underlying stock is lower than the exercise price per share of the option or stock appreciation right.
 
LIMITATIONS ON TRANSFER; BENEFICIARIES. No right or interest of a participant in any award may be pledged or encumbered to or in favor of
any person other than the Company or an affiliate, or be subject to any lien, obligation or liability of the participant to any person other than
the Company or an affiliate. Except to the extent otherwise determined by the Committee with respect to awards other than incentive stock
options, no award may be assignable or transferable by a participant otherwise than by will or the laws of descent and distribution.

CLAWBACK POLICY. Awards under the 2019 Plan are subject to the Company’s clawback policy any other compensation recoupment policy of
the Company as adopted from time to time.

FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSEQUENCES

The United States federal income tax discussion set forth below is intended for general information only and does not purport to be a
complete analysis of all of the potential tax effects of the 2019 Plan. It is based upon laws, regulations, rulings and decisions now in effect, all
of which are subject to change. State, local and foreign tax consequences are not discussed, and may vary from jurisdiction to jurisdiction.

NONQUALIFIED STOCK OPTIONS. There will be no federal income tax consequences to the optionee or to the Company upon the grant of a
nonqualified stock option under the 2019 Plan. When the optionee exercises a nonqualified option, however, he or she will recognize
ordinary income in an amount equal to the excess of the fair market value of the stock received upon exercise of the option at the time of
exercise over the exercise price, and the Company will be allowed a corresponding federal income tax deduction. Any gain that the optionee
realizes when he or she later sells or disposes of the option shares will be short-term or long-term capital gain, depending on how long the
shares were held.

INCENTIVE STOCK OPTIONS. There will be no federal income tax consequences to the optionee or to the Company upon the grant of an
incentive stock option. If the optionee holds the option shares for the required holding period of at least two years after the date the option
was granted and one year after exercise, then the amount equal to the excess of the amount realized upon sale or disposition of the option
shares over the exercise price will be long-term capital gain or loss, and the Company will not be entitled to a federal income tax deduction. If
the optionee disposes of the option shares in a sale, exchange, or other disqualifying disposition before the required holding period ends, he
or she will recognize taxable ordinary income in an amount equal to the excess of the fair market value of the option shares at the time of
exercise over the exercise price, and the Company will be allowed a federal income tax deduction equal to such amount. While the exercise
of an incentive stock option does not result in current taxable income, the excess of the fair market value of the option shares at the time of
exercise
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over the exercise price will be an item of adjustment for purposes of determining the optionee’s alternative minimum taxable income.

STOCK APPRECIATION RIGHTS. A participant receiving a stock appreciation right under the 2019 Plan will not recognize income, and the
Company will not be allowed a tax deduction, at the time the award is granted. When the participant exercises the stock appreciation right,
the amount of cash and the fair market value of any shares of stock received will be ordinary income to the participant and the Company will
be allowed as a corresponding federal income tax deduction at that time.

RESTRICTED STOCK. Unless a participant makes an election to accelerate recognition of the income to the date of grant as described below, a
participant will not recognize income, and the Company will not be allowed a tax deduction, at the time a restricted stock award is granted,
provided that the award is nontransferable and is subject to a substantial risk of forfeiture. When the restrictions lapse, the participant will
recognize ordinary income equal to the fair market value of the stock as of that date (less any amount he or she paid for the stock), and the
Company will be allowed a corresponding federal income tax deduction at that time, subject to any applicable limitations under Code
Section 162(m). If the participant files an election under Code Section 83(b) within 30 days after the date of grant of the restricted stock, he or
she will recognize ordinary income as of the date of grant equal to the fair market value of the stock as of that date (less any amount paid for
the stock), and the Company will be allowed a corresponding federal income tax deduction at that time, subject to any applicable limitations
under Code Section 162(m). Any future appreciation in the stock will be taxable to the participant at capital gains rates. However, if the stock
is later forfeited, the participant will not be able to recover the tax previously paid pursuant to the Code Section 83(b) election.
 
RESTRICTED STOCK UNITS. A participant will not recognize income, and the Company will not be allowed a tax deduction, at the time a
restricted stock unit award is granted. Upon receipt of shares of stock (or the equivalent value in cash or other property) in settlement of a
restricted stock unit award, a participant will recognize ordinary income equal to the fair market value of the stock or other property as of that
date (less any amount he or she paid for the stock or property), and the Company will be allowed a corresponding federal income tax
deduction at that time, subject to any applicable limitations under Code Section 162(m).
 
PERFORMANCE AWARDS. A participant will not recognize income, and the Company will not be allowed a tax deduction, at the time a
performance award is granted (for example, when the performance goals are established). Upon receipt of cash, stock or other property in
settlement of a performance award, the participant will recognize ordinary income equal to the cash, stock or other property received, and the
Company will be allowed a corresponding federal income tax deduction at that time, subject to any applicable limitations under Code
Section 162(m).

CODE SECTION 409A. The 2019 Plan permits the grant of various types of incentive awards, which may or may not be exempt from Code
Section 409A. If an award is subject to Section 409A, and if the requirements of Section 409A are not met, the taxable events as described
above could apply earlier than described, and could result in the imposition of additional taxes and penalties. Restricted stock awards, stock
options and stock appreciation rights granted under the 2019 Plan, are designed to be exempt from the application of Code Section 409A.
Restricted stock units and performance awards granted under the 2019 Plan would be subject to Section 409A unless they are designed to
satisfy the short-term deferral exemption from such law.

TAX WITHHOLDING. The Company has the right to deduct or withhold, or require a participant to remit to the Company, an amount sufficient to
satisfy federal, state, local and foreign taxes (including employment taxes) required by law to be withheld with respect to any exercise, lapse
of restriction or other taxable event arising as a result of the 2019 Plan.
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BENEFITS TO NEOs AND OTHERS
Grants and awards under the 2019 Plan, which may be made to company executive officers, directors and other employees, are made in the
discretion of the Compensation Committee. The following table sets forth the number of stock options and RSUs that have been granted
under the 2019 Plan to our NEOs and the other individuals and groups indicated, as of March 3, 2020 and the RSUs that will be granted to
non-employee directors this year. In addition, the Compensation Committee has approved grants of 6,227,351 RSUs for non-executive
employees that will be granted on June 1, 2020, if the amendment to the 2019 Plan is approved. These awards also are reflected in the
following table. Any other future awards under the 2019 Plan would be granted in the discretion of the Compensation Committee, and
therefore are not determinable.  
 
   

Restricted Stock Units to be
Granted under the Plan in 2020  

Name and Position

Stock Options
Granted under
the Plan Since

Inception

Restricted
Stock Units

Granted under
the Plan Since

Inception Dollar Value ($)  
Number of

Units  
Marvin S. Edwards, Jr.
   President, Chief Executive Officer and
   Director

             —              —              —               —  

Alexander W. Pease
   Executive Vice President and Chief
   Financial Officer

             —              —              —               —  

Morgan C.S. Kurk
  Executive Vice President and Chief Technology
  Officer

             —              —              —               —  

Frank B. Wyatt, II
   Senior Vice President, Chief Legal Officer and
   Secretary

             —              —              —               —  

Robyn T. Mingle
   Senior Vice President, Chief Human Resources
   Officer

             —              —              —               —  

Frank M. Drendel
   Chairman of the Board

             —              —              —               —  

All Current Executive Officers as a Group              —              9,772         215,201 (1)         19,546 (1)

All Non-Executive Directors as a Group              —            89,936      1,440,000 (2)           TBD (2)

Each Associate of any such Directors or Executive Officers              —              —              —               —  
All Employees as a Group (Including Officers who are not Executive
Officers)

        153,800       9,130,865    68,347,933 (1)     6,207,805 (1)

(1) These awards will be granted on June 1, 2020, if the amendment to the 2019 Plan is approved.
(2) These awards will be granted on the date of the Annual Meeting, May 8, 2020, and the number of units will be determined based on the closing stock price on that

date.

The Board of Directors recommends a vote “FOR” Proposal No. 7, to approve additional shares under our 2019 Long Term
Incentive Plan.
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STOCKHOLDER PROPOSALS FOR THE COMPANY’S 2021 ANNUAL
MEETING

Stockholders who intend to present proposals at the 2021 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, or the “2021 Annual Meeting,” and who wish to
have such proposals included in the Proxy Statement for such meeting, must submit such proposals in writing by notice delivered or mailed
by first-class United States mail, postage prepaid, to the Corporate Secretary, CommScope Holding Company, Inc., 1100 CommScope
Place, SE, Hickory, North Carolina 28602, and such notice must be received no later than November 24, 2020. Such proposals must meet
the requirements set forth in the rules and regulations of the Commission, as well as the informational requirements and the other
requirements related to stockholder proposals set forth in the Company’s Bylaws, in order to be eligible for inclusion in the Company’s Proxy
Statement for its 2021 Annual Meeting.

Stockholders who wish to nominate directors or introduce an item of business at an annual meeting, without including such matters in the
Company’s proxy statement, must comply with the informational requirements and the other requirements set forth in the Company’s Bylaws.
Nominations or an item of business to be introduced at the 2021 Annual Meeting must be submitted in writing and received by the Company
no earlier than January 8, 2021 and no later than February 7, 2021 (i.e., no more than 120 days and no less than 90 days prior to May 8,
2021, the first anniversary of the Annual Meeting). A copy of the Company’s Bylaws, which sets forth the informational requirements and
other requirements, can be obtained from the Corporate Secretary of the Company.
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AVAILABLE INFORMATION
Our website (www.commscope.com) contains our Code of Conduct that applies to all of our directors, executive officers and senior financial
and accounting officers, our Code of Ethics and Business Conduct that applies to all of our employees (including any subsequent
amendments thereto or waivers therefrom), our Corporate Governance Guidelines and the charters of our Nominating and Corporate
Governance, Audit and Compensation Committees, each of which can be downloaded free of charge.

Printed copies of our Code of Conduct, Code of Ethics and Business Conduct, Corporate Governance Guidelines and charters of our
Nominating and Corporate Governance, Audit and Compensation Committees and any of our reports on Form 10-K, Form 10-Q and Form 8-
K and all amendments to those reports, can also be obtained free of charge (other than a reasonable duplicating charge for exhibits to our
reports on Form 10-K, Form 10-Q and Form 8-K) by any stockholder who requests them from our Investor Relations Department:

Investor Relations
CommScope Holding Company, Inc.

1100 CommScope Place, SE
Hickory, North Carolina 28602

U.S.A.
Phone: (828) 324-2200

E-mail: investor.relations@commscope.com
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INCORPORATION BY REFERENCE
To the extent that this Proxy Statement is incorporated by reference into any other filings by CommScope under the Securities Act or the
Exchange Act, the sections of this Proxy Statement entitled “Audit Committee Report” and “Compensation Committee Report” do not
constitute soliciting material and should not be deemed filed with the Commission or incorporated by reference into any other filing under the
Securities Act or the Exchange Act except to the extent that we specifically incorporate them by reference into such filing.

The information on our website, www.commscope.com, is not, and should not be deemed to be, a part of this Proxy Statement, or
incorporated into any other filings we make with the Commission.
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APPENDIX A – RECONCILIATION OF GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES TO NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES

 
CommScope management believes that presenting net income, diluted EPS and cash flow information excluding certain special items
provides meaningful information to investors in understanding operating results and may enhance investors' ability to analyze financial and
business trends, when considered together with the GAAP financial measures. In addition, CommScope management believes that these
non-GAAP financial measures allow investors to compare period to period more easily by excluding items that could have a
disproportionately negative or positive impact on results in any particular period.

   Year Ended December 31,
   2015  2016  2017  2018  2019

Reconciliation of adjusted EBITDA            
Net income (loss), as reported   $(70.9) $222.8 $193.8  $140.2  $(929.5)
Income tax expense (benefit), as reported   8.9 49.7 16.0 30.5 (144.5)
Interest income, as reported   (4.1) (5.5) (4.2)  (7.0)  (18.1)
Interest expense, as reported   234.7 277.5 257.0  242.0  577.2
Other expense, net, as reported   1.0 23.1 9.4  44.3  6.4
Operating income (loss), as reported   169.6 567.6 472.0  450.0  (508.5)
Adjustments:            

Amortization of purchased intangible assets   220.6 297.2 271.0  264.6  593.2
Restructuring costs, net   29.5 42.9 43.8  44.0  87.7
Equity-based compensation   28.7 35.0 41.9  44.9  90.8
Asset impairments   90.8 38.6 -  15.0  376.1
Transaction and integration costs(1)   96.9 62.3 48.0  19.5  195.3
Purchase accounting adjustments(2)   81.7 0.6 -  -  264.2
Patent litigation settlement   - - -  -  55.0
Depreciation   60.6 80.5 81.7  75.6  143.7

Non-GAAP adjusted EBITDA   $778.4 $1,124.6 $958.4  $913.6  $1,297.5
Reconciliation of adjusted net income            

Income (loss) before income taxes, as reported   $(62.0) $272.6 $209.7 $170.7 $(1,074.0)
Income tax (expense) benefit, as reported   (8.9) (49.7) (16.0) (30.5) 144.5
Net income (loss), as reported   $(70.9) $222.8 $193.8  $140.2  $(929.5)
Adjustments:            

Total pretax adjustments to operating income   548.2 476.6 404.7  388.0  1,662.4
Pretax amortization of debt issuance costs and
  OID(3)   22.3 21.4 25.4  17.3  33.4
Pretax acquisition related interest(3)   29.2 - -  -  30.2
Pretax pension and postretirement benefit plan
  terminations(4)   - - -  25.0  -
Pretax foreign currency loss on entity liquidation(4)   - - -  14.0  -
Pretax loss on debt transactions(4)   - 17.8 16.0  -  -
Pretax net investment gains(4)   (2.7) (0.5) (9.0)  -  -
Tax effects of adjustments and other tax items(5)   (164.4) (218.9) (210.5)  (142.0)  (317.1)

Non-GAAP adjusted net income   $361.7 $519.2 $420.4  $442.5  $479.4
Diluted EPS, as reported   $(0.37) $1.13 $0.98 $0.72 $(5.02)
Non-GAAP adjusted diluted EPS(6)   $1.86 $2.64 $2.14 $2.27 $2.15

Reconciliation of adjusted free cash flow            
Cash flow generated by operating activities, as
  reported(7)   $327.1 $640.2 $586.3 $494.1 $596.4
Less: Additions to property, plant and equipment   (56.5) (68.3) (68.7) (82.3) (104.1)
Adjustments:            

Capital spending for BNS acquisition integration   12.7 6.1 - - -
Cash paid for transaction and integration costs   96.1 64.8 50.6 8.3 210.7
Restructuring   11.8 37.3 44.1 40.2 89.9

Non-GAAP adjusted free cash flow(7)   $391.2 $680.1 $612.3  $460.3  $792.9
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(1) In 2019, primarily reflects transaction and integration costs related to the acquisition of ARRIS. In 2018 and prior years, primarily reflects integration costs related to the acquisition of the BNS business,

transaction costs related to potential and consummated acquisitions and costs related to secondary stock offerings.
(2) Reflects non-cash charges resulting from purchase accounting adjustments, including adjustments to the estimated fair value of contingent consideration payable.
(3) Included in interest expense.
(4) Included in other expense, net.
(5) The tax rates applied to adjustments reflect the tax expense or benefit based on the tax jurisdiction of the entity generating the adjustment. There are certain items for which we expect little or no tax effect.

Given the complexities of the United States tax legislation enacted in late 2017, we applied a non-GAAP effective tax rate of 35% for the fourth quarter 2017, consistent with the adjusted rate in prior quarters
of 2017. Adjustments for 2016 reflect the exclusion of a decrease in a valuation allowance while 2015 adjustments reflect the exclusion of an increase in a valuation allowance.

(6) Diluted shares used in the calculation of non-GAAP adjusted diluted EPS for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018, 2017, 2016, and 2015 are 223.1, 195.3 million, 196.8 million, 196.5 million, and
194.2 million, respectively.

(7) 2016 excess tax benefits on equity-based compensation have been reclassified in the cash flow statement as an operating activity rather than a financing activity in accordance with ASU No. 2016-09,
Improvements to Employee Share-Based Payment Accounting. In addition, 2016 debt redemption premiums paid have been reclassified in the cash flow statement as a financing activity in accordance with
ASU No. 2016-15, Cash Flow Classification of Certain Cash Receipts and Cash Payments.

Note: Components may not sum to total due to rounding.
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COMMSCOPE HOLDING COMPANY, INC.

AMENDED AND RESTATED
2019 LONG-TERM INCENTIVE PLAN

 
ARTICLE 1
PURPOSE

 
1.1. GENERAL. The purpose of the CommScope Holding Company, Inc. Amended and Restated 2019 Long-Term

Incentive Plan (the “Plan”) is to promote the success, and enhance the value, of CommScope Holding Company, Inc. (the “Company”), by
linking the personal interests of employees, officers, directors and consultants of the Company or any Affiliate (as defined below) to those of
Company stockholders and by providing such persons with an incentive for outstanding performance. The Plan is further intended to provide
flexibility to the Company in its ability to motivate, attract, and retain the services of employees, officers, directors and consultants upon
whose judgment, interest, and special effort the successful conduct of the Company’s operation is largely dependent. Accordingly, the Plan
permits the grant of incentive awards from time to time to selected employees, officers, directors and consultants of the Company and its
Affiliates.
 

1.2 HISTORY. The Plan was originally adopted by the Board on May 8, 2019, and was approved by the stockholders of
the Company on June 21, 2019. The Plan was amended and restated by the Board on February 19, 2020, contingent on approval of the
stockholders of the Company on May 8, 2020.
 

ARTICLE 2
DEFINITIONS

 
2.1. DEFINITIONS. When a word or phrase appears in this Plan with the initial letter capitalized, and the word or phrase

does not commence a sentence, the word or phrase shall generally be given the meaning ascribed to it in this Section or in Section 1.1
unless a clearly different meaning is required by the context. The following words and phrases shall have the following meanings:
 

(a) “Affiliate” means (i) any Subsidiary or Parent, or (ii) an entity that directly or through one or more
intermediaries controls, is controlled by or is under common control with, the Company, as determined by the Committee.

 
(b) “Award” means an award of Options, Stock Appreciation Rights, Restricted Stock, Restricted Stock Units,

Deferred Stock Units, Performance Awards, Other Stock-Based Awards, or any other right or interest relating to Stock or cash,
granted to a Participant under the Plan.

 
(c) “Award Certificate” means a written document, in such form as the Committee prescribes from time to time,

setting forth the terms and conditions of an Award. Award Certificates may be in the form of individual award agreements or
certificates or a program document describing the terms and provisions of an Award or series of Awards under the Plan. The
Committee may provide for the use of electronic, internet or other non-paper Award Certificates, and the use of electronic, internet
or other non-paper means for the acceptance thereof and actions thereunder by a Participant.

 
(d) “Beneficial Owner” shall have the meaning given such term in Rule 13d-3 of the General Rules and

Regulations under the 1934 Act.
 

(e) “Board” means the Board of Directors of the Company.
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(f) “Cause” as a reason for a Participant’s termination of employment shall have the meaning assigned such term

in the employment, consulting, severance or similar agreement, if any, between such Participant and the Company or an Affiliate;
provided, however, that if there is no such employment, consulting, severance or similar agreement in which such term is defined,
and unless otherwise defined in the applicable Award Certificate, “Cause” shall mean any of the following acts by the Participant,
as determined by the Committee: (i) the commission of any act by the Participant constituting financial dishonesty against the
Company or any of its Affiliates (which act would be chargeable as a crime under applicable law); (ii) the Participant’s engaging in
any other act of dishonesty, fraud, intentional misrepresentation, moral turpitude, illegality or harassment which would: (A)
materially adversely affect the business or the reputation of the Company or any of its Affiliates with their respective then-current
or prospective customers, suppliers, lenders and/or other third parties with whom such entity does or might do business; or (B)
expose the Company or any of its Affiliates to a risk of civil or criminal legal damages, liabilities or penalties; (iii) the willful and
repeated failure by the Participant to follow the lawful directives of the Board or the Participant’s supervisor; (iv) any material
misconduct, material violation of the Company’s written policies, or willful and deliberate non-performance of duty by the
Participant in connection with the business affairs of the Company or any of its Affiliates; or (v) the Participant’s material breach of
any employment, severance, non-competition, non-solicitation, confidential information, or restrictive covenant agreement
(including any Ownership of Work Product Acknowledgement), or similar agreement, with the Company or an Affiliate. The
determination of the Committee as to the existence of “Cause” shall be conclusive on the Participant and the Company.  

 
(g) “Change in Control” means and includes the occurrence of any one of the following events:
 

(i) during any consecutive 12-month period, individuals who, at the beginning of such period, constitute
the Board (the “Incumbent Directors”) cease for any reason to constitute at least a majority of such Board, provided that
any person becoming a director after the beginning of such 12-month period and whose election or nomination for
election was approved by a vote of at least a majority of the Incumbent Directors then on the Board shall be an
Incumbent Director; provided, however, that no individual initially elected or nominated as a director of the Company as
a result of an actual or threatened election contest with respect to the election or removal of directors (“Election
Contest”) or other actual or threatened solicitation of proxies or consents by or on behalf of any Person other than the
Board (“Proxy Contest”), including by reason of any agreement intended to avoid or settle any Election Contest or
Proxy Contest, shall be deemed an Incumbent Director; or
 

(ii) any Person becomes a Beneficial Owner, directly or indirectly, of either (A) 35% or more of the
then-outstanding shares of common stock of the Company (“Company Common Stock”) or (B) securities of the
Company representing 35% or more of the combined voting power of the Company’s then outstanding securities
eligible to vote for the election of directors (the “Company Voting Securities”); provided, however, that for purposes of
this subsection (ii), the following acquisitions of Company Common Stock or Company Voting Securities shall not
constitute a Change in Control: (w) an acquisition directly from the Company, (x) an acquisition by the Company or a
Subsidiary, (y) an acquisition by any employee benefit plan (or related trust) sponsored or maintained by the Company
or any Subsidiary, or (z) an acquisition pursuant to a Non-Qualifying Transaction (as defined in subsection (iii) below);
or
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(iii) the consummation of a reorganization, merger, consolidation, statutory share exchange or similar
form of corporate transaction involving the Company or a Subsidiary (a “Reorganization”), or the sale or other
disposition of all or substantially all of the Company’s assets (a “Sale”) or the acquisition of assets or stock of another
corporation or other entity (an “Acquisition”), unless immediately following such Reorganization, Sale or Acquisition: (A)
all or substantially all of the individuals and entities who were the Beneficial Owners, respectively, of the outstanding
Company Common Stock and outstanding Company Voting Securities immediately prior to such Reorganization, Sale
or Acquisition beneficially own, directly or indirectly, more than 35% of, respectively, the then outstanding shares of
common stock and the combined voting power of the then outstanding voting securities entitled to vote generally in the
election of directors, as the case may be, of the entity resulting from such Reorganization, Sale or Acquisition
(including, without limitation, an entity which as a result of such transaction owns the Company or all or substantially all
of the Company’s assets or stock either directly or through one or more subsidiaries, the “Surviving Entity”) in
substantially the same proportions as their ownership, immediately prior to such Reorganization, Sale or Acquisition, of
the outstanding Company Common Stock and the outstanding Company Voting Securities, as the case may be, and
(B) no person (other than (x) the Company or any Subsidiary, (y) the Surviving Entity or its ultimate parent entity, or (z)
any employee benefit plan (or related trust) sponsored or maintained by any of the foregoing) is the Beneficial Owner,
directly or indirectly, of 35% or more of the total common stock or 35% or more of the total voting power of the
outstanding voting securities eligible to elect directors of the Surviving Entity, and (C) at least a majority of the members
of the board of directors of the Surviving Entity were Incumbent Directors at the time of the Board’s approval of the
execution of the initial agreement providing for such Reorganization, Sale or Acquisition (any Reorganization, Sale or
Acquisition which satisfies all of the criteria specified in (A), (B) and (C) above shall be deemed to be a “Non-Qualifying
Transaction”); or
 

(iv) approval by the stockholders of the Company of a complete liquidation or dissolution of the
Company.
 

(h) “Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to time. For purposes of this Plan,
references to sections of the Code shall be deemed to include references to any applicable regulations thereunder and any
successor or similar provision.

 
(i) “Committee” means the committee of the Board described in Article 4.
 
(j) “Company” means CommScope Holding Company, Inc., a Delaware corporation, or any successor

corporation.
 

(k) “Continuous Service” means the absence of any interruption or termination of service as an employee, officer,
consultant or director of the Company or any Affiliate, as applicable; provided, however, that for purposes of an Incentive Stock
Option “Continuous Service” means the absence of any interruption or termination of service as an employee of the Company or
any Parent or Subsidiary, as applicable, pursuant to applicable tax regulations. Continuous Service shall not be considered
interrupted in the following cases: (i) a Participant transfers employment between the Company and an Affiliate or between
Affiliates, or (ii) in the discretion of the Committee as specified at or prior to such occurrence, in the case of a spin-off, sale or
disposition of the Participant’s employer from the Company or any Affiliate, or (iii) a Participant transfers from being an employee
of the Company or an Affiliate to being a director of the Company or of an Affiliate, or vice versa, or (iv) in the discretion of the
Committee, a Participant transfers from being an employee of the Company or an Affiliate to being a consultant to the Company or
of an Affiliate, or vice versa, or (v) any leave of absence authorized in writing
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by the Company prior to its commencement; provided, however, that for purposes of Incentive Stock Options, no such leave may
exceed 90 days, unless reemployment upon expiration of such leave is guaranteed by statute or contract. If reemployment upon
expiration of a leave of absence approved by the Company is not so guaranteed, on the 91st day of such leave any Incentive
Stock Option held by the Participant shall cease to be treated as an Incentive Stock Option and shall be treated for tax purposes
as a Nonstatutory Stock Option. Whether military, government or other service or other leave of absence shall constitute a
termination of Continuous Service shall be determined in each case by the Committee at its discretion, and any determination by
the Committee shall be final and conclusive; provided, however, that for purposes of any Award that is subject to Code Section
409A, the determination of a leave of absence must comply with the requirements of a “bona fide leave of absence” as provided in
Treas. Reg. Section 1.409A-1(h).  

 
(l) “Deferred Stock Unit” means a right granted to a Participant under Article 9 to receive Shares (or the

equivalent value in cash or other property if the Committee so provides) at a future time as determined by the Committee, or as
determined by the Participant within guidelines established by the Committee in the case of voluntary deferral elections.

 
(m) “Disability” of a Participant means that the Participant is unable to engage in any substantial gainful activity

by reason of any medically determinable physical or mental impairment which can be expected to result in death or can be
expected to last for a continuous period of not less than 12 months. If the determination of Disability relates to an Incentive Stock
Option, Disability means Permanent and Total Disability as defined in Section 22(e)(3) of the Code. In the event of a dispute, the
determination of whether a Participant is Disabled will be made by the Committee and may be supported by the advice of a
physician competent in the area to which such Disability relates.

 
(n) “Dividend Equivalent” means a right granted with respect to an Award pursuant to Article 11.
 
(o) “Effective Date” has the meaning assigned such term in Section 3.1.
 
(p) “Eligible Participant” means an employee, officer, consultant or director of the Company or any Affiliate.  
 
(q) “Exchange” means any national securities exchange on which the Stock may from time to time be listed or

traded.
 
(r) “Fair Market Value,” on any date, means (i) if the Stock is listed on an Exchange, the closing sales price on

the principal such Exchange on such date or, in the absence of reported sales on such date, the closing sales price on the
immediately preceding date on which sales were reported, or (ii) if the Stock is not listed on an Exchange, the mean between the
bid and offered prices as quoted by the applicable interdealer quotation system for such date, provided that if the Stock is not
quoted on an interdealer quotation system or it is determined that the fair market value is not properly reflected by such
quotations, Fair Market Value will be determined by such other method as the Committee determines in good faith to be
reasonable and in compliance with Code Section 409A.

 
(s) “Full-Value Award” means an Award other than in the form of an Option or SAR, and which is settled by the

issuance of Stock (or at the discretion of the Committee, settled in cash valued by reference to Stock value).
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(t) “Good Reason” (or a similar term denoting constructive termination) has the meaning, if any, assigned such

term in the employment, consulting, severance or similar agreement, if any, between a Participant and the Company or an
Affiliate; provided, however, that if there is no such employment, consulting, severance or similar agreement in which such term is
defined, “Good Reason” shall have the meaning, if any, given such term in the applicable Award Certificate. If not defined in either
such document, the term “Good Reason” as used herein shall not apply to a particular Award.
 

(u) “Grant Date” of an Award means the first date on which all necessary corporate action has been taken to
approve the grant of the Award as provided in the Plan, or such later date as is determined and specified as part of that
authorization process. Notice of the grant shall be provided to the grantee within a reasonable time after the Grant Date.

 
(v) “Incentive Stock Option” means an Option that is intended to be an incentive stock option and meets the

requirements of Section 422 of the Code or any successor provision thereto.
 
(w) “Independent Directors” means those members of the Board who qualify at any given time as an

“independent” director under the applicable rules of each Exchange on which the Shares are listed, and as a “non-employee”
director under Rule 16b-3 of the 1934 Act.
 

(x) “Non-Employee Director” means a director of the Company who is not a common law employee of the
Company or an Affiliate.

 
(y) “Nonstatutory Stock Option” means an Option that is not an Incentive Stock Option.
 
(z) “Option” means a right granted to a Participant under Article 7 of the Plan to purchase Stock at a specified

price during specified time periods. An Option may be either an Incentive Stock Option or a Nonstatutory Stock Option.
 
(aa) “Other Stock-Based Award” means a right, granted to a Participant under Article 12 that relates to or is

valued by reference to Stock or other Awards relating to Stock.
 
(bb) “Parent” means a corporation, limited liability company, partnership or other entity which owns or beneficially

owns a majority of the outstanding voting stock or voting power of the Company. Notwithstanding the above, with respect to an
Incentive Stock Option, Parent shall have the meaning set forth in Section 424(e) of the Code.

 
(cc) “Participant” means an Eligible Participant who has been granted an Award under the Plan; provided that in

the case of the death of a Participant, the term “Participant” refers to a beneficiary designated pursuant to Section 13.4 or the legal
guardian or other legal representative acting in a fiduciary capacity on behalf of the Participant under applicable state law and
court supervision.

 
(dd) “Performance Award” means any award granted under the Plan pursuant to Article 10.
 
(ee) “Person” means any individual, entity or group, within the meaning of Section 3(a)(9) of the 1934 Act and as

used in Section 13(d)(3) or 14(d)(2) of the 1934 Act.
 
(ff) “Plan” means the CommScope Holding Company, Inc. Amended and Restated 2019 Long-Term Incentive

Plan, as amended from time to time.
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(gg) “Prior Plans” means the CommScope Holding Company, Inc. Amended and Restated 2013 Long-Term
Incentive Plan and the ARRIS International plc 2016 Stock Incentive Plan.

 
(hh) “Restricted Stock” means Stock granted to a Participant under Article 9 that is subject to certain restrictions

and to risk of forfeiture.
 

(ii) “Restricted Stock Unit” means the right granted to a Participant under Article 9 to receive shares of Stock (or
the equivalent value in cash or other property if the Committee so provides) in the future, which right is subject to certain
restrictions and to risk of forfeiture.

 
(jj) “Shares” means shares of the Company’s Stock. If there has been an adjustment or substitution with respect

to the Shares (whether or not pursuant to Article 14), the term “Shares” shall also include any shares of stock or other securities
that are substituted for Shares or into which Shares are adjusted.

 
(kk) “Specified Employee” has the meaning given such term in Code Section 409A and the final regulations

thereunder.
 

(ll) “Stock” means the $0.01 par value common stock of the Company and such other securities of the Company
as may be substituted for Stock pursuant to Article 15.

 
(mm) “Stock Appreciation Right” or “SAR” means a right granted to a Participant under Article 8 to receive a

payment equal to the difference between the Fair Market Value of a Share as of the date of exercise of the SAR over the base
price of the SAR, all as determined pursuant to Article 8.

 
(nn) “Subsidiary” means any corporation, limited liability company, partnership or other entity of which a majority

of the outstanding voting stock or voting power is beneficially owned directly or indirectly by the Company. Notwithstanding the
above, with respect to an Incentive Stock Option, Subsidiary shall have the meaning set forth in Section 424(f) of the Code.

 
(oo) “1933 Act” means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended from time to time.
 

(pp) “1934 Act” means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended from time to time.
 

ARTICLE 3
EFFECTIVE TERM OF PLAN

 
3.1. EFFECTIVE DATE. The Plan will become effective on the date that it is adopted by the Company’s stockholders (the

“Effective Date”).
 
3.2. TERM OF PLAN. Unless earlier terminated as provided herein, the Plan shall continue in effect until the tenth

anniversary of the Effective Date or, if the stockholders approve an amendment to the Plan that increases the number of Shares subject to
the Plan, the tenth anniversary of the date of such approval. The termination of the Plan on such date shall not affect the validity of any Award
outstanding on the date of termination, which shall continue to be governed by the applicable terms and conditions of the Plan.  
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ARTICLE 4
ADMINISTRATION

 
4.1. COMMITTEE. The Plan shall be administered by a Committee appointed by the Board (which Committee shall consist

of at least two directors) or, at the discretion of the Board from time to time, the Plan may be administered by the Board. Any director
appointed to serve on the Committee who is not an Independent Director shall abstain from participating in any decision to make or
administer Awards that are made to Eligible Participants who at the time of consideration for such Award are persons subject to the short-
swing profit rules of Section 16 of the 1934 Act. However, the mere fact that a Committee member shall fail to qualify as an Independent
Director or shall fail to abstain from such action shall not invalidate any Award made by the Committee which Award is otherwise validly
made under the Plan. The members of the Committee shall be appointed by, and may be changed at any time and from time to time in the
discretion of, the Board. Unless and until changed by the Board, the Compensation Committee of the Board is designated as the Committee
to administer the Plan. The Board may reserve to itself any or all of the authority and responsibility of the Committee under the Plan or may
act as administrator of the Plan for any and all purposes. To the extent the Board has reserved any authority and responsibility or during any
time that the Board is acting as administrator of the Plan, it shall have all the powers and protections of the Committee hereunder, and any
reference herein to the Committee (other than in this Section 4.1) shall include the Board. To the extent any action of the Board under the
Plan conflicts with actions taken by the Committee, the actions of the Board shall control.  
 

4.2. ACTION AND INTERPRETATIONS BY THE COMMITTEE. For purposes of administering the Plan, the Committee
may from time to time adopt rules, regulations, guidelines and procedures for carrying out the provisions and purposes of the Plan and make
such other determinations, not inconsistent with the Plan, as the Committee may deem appropriate. The Committee may correct any defect,
supply any omission or reconcile any inconsistency in the Plan or in any Award in the manner and to the extent it deems necessary to carry
out the intent of the Plan. The Committee’s interpretation of the Plan, any Awards granted under the Plan, any Award Certificate and all
decisions and determinations by the Committee with respect to the Plan are final, binding, and conclusive on all parties and shall be given
the maximum deference permitted by applicable law. Each member of the Committee is entitled to, in good faith, rely or act upon any report
or other information furnished to that member by any officer or other employee of the Company or any Affiliate, the Company’s or an
Affiliate’s independent certified public accountants, Company counsel or any executive compensation consultant or other professional
retained by the Company or the Committee to assist in the administration of the Plan. No member of the Committee will be liable for any
good faith determination, act or omission in connection with the Plan or any Award.

 
4.3. AUTHORITY OF COMMITTEE. Except as provided in Section 4.1 hereof, the Committee has the exclusive power,

authority and discretion to:
 

(a) grant Awards;
 
(b) designate Participants;
 
(c) determine the type or types of Awards to be granted to each Participant;
 
(d) determine the number of Awards to be granted and the number of Shares or dollar amount to which an

Award will relate;
 
(e) determine the terms and conditions of any Award granted under the Plan;
 
(f) prescribe the form of each Award Certificate, which need not be identical for each Participant;
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(g) decide all other matters that must be determined in connection with an Award;
 
(h) establish, adopt or revise any rules, regulations, guidelines or procedures as it may deem necessary or

advisable to administer the Plan;
 
(i) make all other decisions and determinations that may be required under the Plan or as the Committee deems

necessary or advisable to administer the Plan;
 
(j) amend the Plan or any Award Certificate as provided herein; and
 
(k) adopt such modifications, procedures, and subplans as may be necessary or desirable to comply with

provisions of the laws of the United States or any non-U.S. jurisdictions in which the Company or any Affiliate may operate, in
order to assure the viability of the benefits of Awards granted to participants located in the United States or such other jurisdictions
and to further the objectives of the Plan.

 
Notwithstanding any of the foregoing, grants of Awards to Non-Employee Directors hereunder shall (i) be subject to the applicable

award limits set forth in Sections 5.1 and 5.4 hereof, and (ii) be made only in accordance with the terms, conditions and parameters of a plan,
program or policy for the compensation of Non-Employee Directors as in effect from time to time that is approved and administered by the
Board or the Committee. The Committee may not make other discretionary grants hereunder to Non-Employee Directors.
 

4.4. DELEGATION. The Committee may delegate to one or more of its members or to one or more officers of the
Company or an Affiliate or to one or more agents or advisors such administrative duties or powers as it may deem advisable, and the
Committee or any individuals to whom it has delegated duties or powers as aforesaid may employ one or more individuals to render advice
with respect to any responsibility the Committee or such individuals may have under this Plan. In addition, the Committee may, by resolution,
expressly delegate to one or more of its members or to one or more officers of the Company, the authority, within specified parameters as to
the number and terms of Awards, to (i) designate officers and/or employees of the Company or any of its Affiliates to be recipients of Awards
under the Plan, and (ii) to determine the number of such Awards to be received by any such Participants; provided, however, that such
delegation of duties and responsibilities may not be made with respect to the grant of Awards to eligible participants who are subject to
Section 16(a) of the 1934 Act at the Grant Date. The acts of such delegates shall be treated hereunder as acts of the Committee and such
delegates shall report regularly to the Committee regarding the delegated duties and responsibilities and any Awards so granted.  
 

4.5. INDEMNIFICATION. Each person who is or shall have been a member of the Committee, or of the Board, or an officer
of the Company to whom authority was delegated in accordance with this Article 4, shall be indemnified and held harmless by the Company
against and from any loss, cost, liability, or expense that may be imposed upon or reasonably incurred by him or her in connection with or
resulting from any claim, action, suit, or proceeding to which he or she may be a party or in which he or she may be involved by reason of any
action taken or failure to act under the Plan and against and from any and all amounts paid by him or her in settlement thereof, with the
Company’s approval, or paid by him or her in satisfaction of any judgment in any such action, suit, or proceeding against him or her, provided
he or she shall give the Company an opportunity, at its own expense, to handle and defend the same before he or she undertakes to handle and
defend it on his or her own behalf, unless such loss, cost, liability, or expense is a result of his or her own willful misconduct or except as
expressly provided by statute. The foregoing right of indemnification shall not be exclusive of any other rights of indemnification to which such
persons may be entitled under the Company’s Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, as amended from time to time, or Amended
and Restated Bylaws, as amended from time to time, as a matter of law, or otherwise, or any power that the Company may have to indemnify
them or hold them harmless.
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ARTICLE 5
SHARES SUBJECT TO THE PLAN

 
5.1. NUMBER OF SHARES. Subject to adjustment as provided in Sections 5.2 and Section 14.1, the aggregate number of

Shares reserved and available for issuance pursuant to Awards granted under the Plan shall be 14.8 million, plus a number of Shares (not to
exceed 17.4 million) underlying awards outstanding as of the Effective Date under the Prior Plans that thereafter terminate or expire
unexercised or are cancelled, forfeited or lapse for any reason. The maximum number of Shares that may be issued upon exercise of
Incentive Stock Options granted under the Plan shall be 14.8 million. From and after the Effective Date, no further awards shall be granted
under the Prior Plans and the Prior Plans shall remain in effect only so long as awards granted thereunder shall remain outstanding.
 

5.2. SHARE COUNTING. Shares covered by an Award shall be subtracted from the Plan share reserve as of the Grant
Date, but shall be added back to the Plan share reserve in accordance with this Section 5.2.
 

(a) To the extent that all or a portion of an Award is canceled, terminates, expires, is forfeited or lapses for any
reason, including by reason of failure to meet time-based and/or performance-based vesting requirements, any unissued or
forfeited Shares originally subject to the Award will be added back to the Plan share reserve and again be available for issuance
pursuant to Awards granted under the Plan.

 
(b) Shares subject to Awards settled in cash will be added back to the Plan share reserve and again be available

for issuance pursuant to Awards granted under the Plan.
 
(c) The full number of Shares subject to an Option shall count against the number of Shares remaining available

for issuance pursuant to Awards made under the Plan, even if the exercise price of an Option is satisfied through net-settlement or
by delivering Shares to the Company (by either actual delivery or attestation).

 
(d) The full number of Shares subject to a SAR that is settled in Shares shall count against the number of Shares

remaining available for issuance pursuant to Awards made under the Plan (rather than the net number of Shares actually
delivered upon exercise).

 
(e) Shares withheld from an Award to satisfy tax withholding requirements shall count against the number of

Shares remaining available for issuance pursuant to Awards granted under the Plan, and Shares delivered by a participant to
satisfy tax withholding requirements shall not be added to the Plan share reserve.

 
(f) Shares repurchased by the Company on the open market with the proceeds of an Option exercise shall not

be added to the Plan share reserve.
 
(g) Substitute Awards granted pursuant to Section 13.11 of the Plan shall not count against the Shares otherwise

available for issuance under the Plan under Section 5.1.
 
(h) Subject to applicable Exchange requirements, shares available under a stockholder-approved plan of a

company acquired by the Company (as appropriately adjusted to Shares to reflect the transaction) may be issued under the Plan
pursuant to Awards granted to individuals who were not employees of the Company or its Affiliates immediately before such
transaction and will not count against the maximum share limitation specified in Section 5.1.
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5.3. STOCK DISTRIBUTED. Any Stock distributed pursuant to an Award may consist, in whole or in part, of authorized
and unissued Stock, treasury Stock or Stock purchased on the open market.
 

5.4. LIMITATION ON AWARDS. Notwithstanding any provision in the Plan to the contrary (but subject to adjustment as
provided in Article 14):
 

(a) Options. The maximum number of Options granted under the Plan in any calendar year to any one
Participant shall be for 4,000,000 Shares.

 
(b) SARs. The maximum number of Stock Appreciation Rights granted under the Plan in any calendar year to

any one Participant shall be with respect to 4,000,000 Shares.
 
(c) Restricted Stock and Stock Units. The maximum number of Shares of Restricted Stock, or Shares underlying

Restricted Stock Units or Deferred Stock Units, other than Performance Awards, granted under the Plan in any calendar year to
any one Participant (in the aggregate) shall be for 4,000,000 Shares.

 
(d) Performance Awards. With respect to any one calendar year (i) the maximum amount that may be paid to

any one Participant for Performance Awards payable in cash or property other than Shares shall be $10,000,000 and (ii) the
maximum number of Shares that may be paid to any one Participant for Performance Awards payable in Stock shall be 4,000,000
Shares. For purposes of applying these limits in the case of multi‑year performance periods, the amount of cash or property or
number of Shares deemed paid with respect to any one calendar year is the total amount payable or Shares earned for the
performance period divided by the number of calendar year periods in the performance period.  

 
(d) Awards to Non-Employee Directors. With respect to any one calendar year, the aggregate compensation that

may be granted to any non-employee director, including all meeting fees, cash retainers and retainers granted in the form of
Awards, shall not exceed $750,000, including in the case of a non-employee Chairman of the Board or Lead Director. For
purposes of such limit, the value of Awards will be determined based on the aggregate Grant Date fair value of all awards issued
to the director in such year (computed in accordance with applicable financial accounting rules).

 
ARTICLE 6

ELIGIBILITY
 

6.1. GENERAL. Awards may be granted only to Eligible Participants. Incentive Stock Options may be granted only to
Eligible Participants who are employees of the Company or a Parent or Subsidiary as defined in Section 424(e) and (f) of the Code. Eligible
Participants who are service providers to an Affiliate may be granted Options or SARs under this Plan only if the Affiliate qualifies as an
“eligible issuer of service recipient stock” within the meaning of Treas. Reg. Section 1.409A-1(b)(5)(iii)(E) of the final regulations under Code
Section 409A.
 

ARTICLE 7
STOCK OPTIONS

 
7.1. GENERAL. The Committee is authorized to grant Options to Participants on the following terms and conditions:

 
(a) EXERCISE PRICE. The exercise price per Share under an Option shall be determined by the Committee,

provided that the exercise price for any Option (other than an Option issued as a substitute Award pursuant to Section 13.11) shall
not be less than the Fair Market Value as of the Grant Date.
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(b) PROHIBITION ON REPRICING. Except as otherwise provided in Article 14, without the prior approval of

stockholders of the Company: (i) the exercise price of an Option may not be reduced, directly or indirectly, (ii) an Option may not
be cancelled or surrendered in exchange for Options, SARs or other Awards with an exercise or base price that is less than the
exercise price of the original Option, (iii) an Option may not be cancelled or surrendered in exchange for other Awards if the
current Fair Market Value of the Shares underlying the Option is lower than the exercise price per share of the Option, and (iv) an
Option may not be cancelled or surrendered for value (in cash or otherwise) from a Participant if the current Fair Market Value of
the Shares underlying the Option is lower than the exercise price per share of the Option.

 
(c) TIME AND CONDITIONS OF EXERCISE. The Committee shall determine the time or times at which an

Option may be exercised in whole or in part, subject to Section 13.6.  The Committee shall also determine the performance or
other conditions, if any, that must be satisfied before all or part of an Option may be exercised or vested.  

 
(d) PAYMENT. The Committee shall determine the methods by which the exercise price of an Option may be

paid, the form of payment, and the methods by which Shares shall be delivered or deemed to be delivered to Participants. As
determined by the Committee at or after the Grant Date, payment of the exercise price of an Option may be made, in whole or in
part, in the form of (i) cash or cash equivalents, (ii) delivery (by either actual delivery or attestation) of previously-acquired Shares
based on the Fair Market Value of the Shares on the date the Option is exercised, (iii) withholding of Shares from the Option
based on the Fair Market Value of the Shares on the date the Option is exercised, (iv) broker-assisted market sales, or (iv) any
other “cashless exercise” arrangement.  

 
(e) EXERCISE TERM. Except for Nonstatutory Options granted to Participants outside the United States, no

Option granted under the Plan shall be exercisable for more than ten years from the Grant Date.  
 
(f) NO DEFERRAL FEATURE. No Option shall provide for any feature for the deferral of compensation other

than the deferral of recognition of income until the exercise or disposition of the Option.
 
(g) NO DIVIDEND EQUIVALENTS. No Option shall provide for Dividend Equivalents.
 

7.2. INCENTIVE STOCK OPTIONS. The terms of any Incentive Stock Options granted under the Plan must comply with
the requirements of Section 422 of the Code. Without limiting the foregoing, any Incentive Stock Option granted to a Participant who at the
Grant Date owns more than 10% of the voting power of all classes of shares of the Company must have an exercise price per Share of not
less than 110% of the Fair Market Value per Share on the Grant Date and an Option term of not more than five years. If all of the
requirements of Section 422 of the Code (including the above) are not met, the Option shall automatically become a Nonstatutory Stock
Option.

 
ARTICLE 8

STOCK APPRECIATION RIGHTS
 

8.1. GRANT OF STOCK APPRECIATION RIGHTS. The Committee is authorized to grant Stock Appreciation Rights to
Participants on the following terms and conditions:
 

(a) RIGHT TO PAYMENT. Upon the exercise of a SAR, the Participant has the right to receive, for each Share
with respect to which the SAR is being exercised, the excess, if any, of:

 
(1) The Fair Market Value of one Share on the date of exercise; over
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(2) The base price of the SAR as determined by the Committee and set forth in the Award Certificate,

which shall not be less than the Fair Market Value of one Share on the Grant Date.
 

(b) PROHIBITION ON REPRICING. Except as otherwise provided in Article 14, without the prior approval of
stockholders of the Company: (i) the base price of a SAR may not be reduced, directly or indirectly, (ii) a SAR may not be
cancelled or surrendered in exchange for Options, SARs or other Awards with an exercise or base price that is less than the base
price of the original SAR, (iii) a SAR may not be cancelled or surrendered in exchange for other Awards if the current Fair Market
Value of the Shares underlying the SAR is lower than the base price per share of the SAR, and (iv) a SAR may not be cancelled or
surrendered for value (in cash or otherwise) from a Participant if the current Fair Market Value of the Shares underlying the SAR is
lower than the base price per share of the SAR.

 
(c) TIME AND CONDITIONS OF EXERCISE. The Committee shall determine the time or times at which a SAR

may be exercised in whole or in part, subject to Section 13.6.  Except for SARs granted to Participants outside the United States,
no SAR shall be exercisable for more than ten years from the Grant Date.

 
(d) NO DEFERRAL FEATURE. No SAR shall provide for any feature for the deferral of compensation other than

the deferral of recognition of income until the exercise or disposition of the SAR.
 
(e) NO DIVIDEND EQUIVALENTS. No SAR shall provide for Dividend Equivalents.

 
ARTICLE 9

RESTRICTED STOCK AND STOCK UNITS
 

9.1. GRANT OF RESTRICTED STOCK AND STOCK UNITS. The Committee is authorized to make Awards of Restricted
Stock, Restricted Stock Units or Deferred Stock Units to Participants in such amounts and subject to such terms and conditions as may be
selected by the Committee. An Award of Restricted Stock, Restricted Stock Units or Deferred Stock Units shall be evidenced by an Award
Certificate setting forth the terms, conditions, and restrictions applicable to the Award.

 
9.2. ISSUANCE AND RESTRICTIONS. Restricted Stock, Restricted Stock Units or Deferred Stock Units shall be subject

to such restrictions on transferability and other restrictions as the Committee may impose (including, for example, limitations on the right to
vote Restricted Stock or the right to receive dividends on the Restricted Stock). These restrictions may lapse separately or in combination at
such times, under such circumstances, in such installments, upon the satisfaction of performance goals or otherwise, as the Committee
determines at the time of the grant of the Award or thereafter, subject to Section 13.6. Except as otherwise provided in an Award Certificate
or any special Plan document governing an Award, a Participant shall have none of the rights of a stockholder with respect to Restricted
Stock Units or Deferred Stock Units until such time as Shares of Stock are paid in settlement of such Awards.  
 

9.3 DIVIDENDS ON RESTRICTED STOCK. In the case of Restricted Stock, the Committee may provide that ordinary
cash dividends declared on the Shares before they are vested (i) will be forfeited, (ii) will be deemed to have been reinvested in additional
Shares or otherwise reinvested (subject to Share availability under Section 5.1 hereof) and subject to the same vesting provisions as
provided for the host Award, or (iii) will be credited by the Company to an account for the Participant and accumulated without interest until
the date on which the host Award becomes vested, and any dividends accrued with respect to forfeited Restricted Stock will be reconveyed
to the Company without further consideration or any act or action by the Participant. In no event shall dividends be paid or distributed until the
vesting restrictions of the underlying Award lapse.
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9.4. FORFEITURE. Subject to the terms of the Award Certificate and except as otherwise determined by the Committee at
the time of the grant of the Award or thereafter, upon termination of Continuous Service during the applicable restriction period or upon failure
to satisfy a performance goal during the applicable restriction period, Restricted Stock or Restricted Stock Units that are at that time subject
to restrictions shall be forfeited.

 
9.5. DELIVERY OF RESTRICTED STOCK. Shares of Restricted Stock shall be delivered to the Participant at the Grant

Date either by book-entry registration or by delivering to the Participant, or a custodian or escrow agent (including, without limitation, the
Company or one or more of its employees) designated by the Committee, a stock certificate or certificates registered in the name of the
Participant.  If physical certificates representing shares of Restricted Stock are registered in the name of the Participant, such certificates
must bear an appropriate legend referring to the terms, conditions, and restrictions applicable to such Restricted Stock.
 

ARTICLE 10
PERFORMANCE AWARDS

 
10.1. GRANT OF PERFORMANCE AWARDS. The Committee is authorized to grant any Award under this Plan, including

cash-based Awards, with performance-based vesting criteria, on such terms and conditions as may be selected by the Committee. Any such
Awards with performance-based vesting criteria are referred to herein as Performance Awards. The Committee shall have the complete
discretion to determine the number of Performance Awards granted to each Participant and to designate the provisions of such Performance
Awards as provided in Section 4.3. Any Dividend Equivalents granted with respect to a Performance Award shall be subject to Section 11.1.

 
10.2. PERFORMANCE GOALS. The Committee may establish performance goals for Performance Awards which may be

based on any criteria selected by the Committee. Such performance goals may be described in terms of Company-wide objectives or in
terms of objectives that relate to the performance of the Participant, an Affiliate or a division, region, department or function within the
Company or an Affiliate. If the Committee determines that a change in the business, operations, corporate structure or capital structure of the
Company or the manner in which the Company or an Affiliate conducts its business, or other events or circumstances render performance
goals to be unsuitable, the Committee may modify such performance goals in whole or in part, as the Committee deems appropriate. If a
Participant is promoted, demoted or transferred to a different business unit or function during a performance period, the Committee may
determine that the performance goals or performance period are no longer appropriate and may (i) adjust, change or eliminate the
performance goals or the applicable performance period as it deems appropriate to make such goals and period comparable to the initial
goals and period, or (ii) make a cash payment to the participant in an amount determined by the Committee.
 

ARTICLE 11
DIVIDEND EQUIVALENTS

 
11.1. GRANT OF DIVIDEND EQUIVALENTS. The Committee is authorized to grant Dividend Equivalents with respect to

Full-Value Awards granted hereunder, subject to such terms and conditions as may be selected by the Committee. Dividend Equivalents
shall entitle the Participant to receive payments equal to ordinary cash dividends with respect to all or a portion of the number of Shares
subject to a Full-Value Award, as determined by the Committee. The Committee may provide that Dividend Equivalents (i) will be deemed to
have been reinvested in additional Shares or otherwise reinvested (subject to Share availability under Section 5.1 hereof) and subject to the
same vesting provisions as provided for the host Award, or (ii) will be credited by the Company to an account for the Participant and
accumulated without interest until the date on which the host Award becomes vested, and, in either case, any Dividend Equivalents accrued
with respect to forfeited Awards will be reconveyed to the Company without further consideration or any act or action by the Participant. In no
event shall dividends be paid or distributed until the vesting restrictions of the underlying Award lapse.  
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ARTICLE 12
STOCK OR OTHER STOCK-BASED AWARDS

 
12.1. GRANT OF STOCK OR OTHER STOCK-BASED AWARDS. The Committee is authorized, subject to limitations

under applicable law, to grant to Participants such other Awards that are payable in, valued in whole or in part by reference to, or otherwise
based on or related to Shares, as deemed by the Committee to be consistent with the purposes of the Plan, including without limitation (but
subject to Section 13.6) Shares awarded purely as a “bonus” and not subject to any restrictions or conditions, convertible or exchangeable
debt securities, other rights convertible or exchangeable into Shares, and Awards valued by reference to book value per Share (or net asset
value per Share) or the value of securities of or the performance of specified Parents or Subsidiaries. The Committee shall determine the
terms and conditions of such Awards. Any Dividend Equivalents granted with respect to an Award under this Section 12.1 shall be subject to
Section 11.1.
 

ARTICLE 13
PROVISIONS APPLICABLE TO AWARDS

 
13.1. AWARD CERTIFICATES. Each Award shall be evidenced by an Award Certificate.  Each Award Certificate shall

include such provisions, not inconsistent with the Plan, as may be specified by the Committee.
 
13.2. FORM OF PAYMENT FOR AWARDS. At the discretion of the Committee, payment of Awards may be made in cash,

Stock, a combination of cash and Stock, or any other form of property as the Committee shall determine. In addition, payment of Awards may
include such terms, conditions, restrictions and/or limitations, if any, as the Committee deems appropriate, including, in the case of Awards
paid in the form of Stock, restrictions on transfer and forfeiture provisions. Further, payment of Awards may be made in the form of a lump
sum, or in installments, as determined by the Committee.

 
13.3. LIMITS ON TRANSFER. No right or interest of a Participant in any unexercised or restricted Award may be pledged,

encumbered, or hypothecated to or in favor of any party other than the Company or an Affiliate, or shall be subject to any lien, obligation, or
liability of such Participant to any other party other than the Company or an Affiliate. No unexercised or restricted Award shall be assignable
or transferable by a Participant other than by will or the laws of descent and distribution; provided, however, that the Committee may (but
need not) permit other transfers (other than transfers for value) where the Committee concludes that such transferability (i) does not result in
accelerated taxation, (ii) does not cause any Option intended to be an Incentive Stock Option to fail to be described in Code Section 422(b),
and (iii) is otherwise appropriate and desirable, taking into account any factors deemed relevant, including without limitation, state or federal
tax or securities laws applicable to transferable Awards.
 

13.4. BENEFICIARIES.
Notwithstanding Section 13.3, a Participant may, in the manner determined by the Committee, designate a beneficiary to exercise

the rights of the Participant and to receive any distribution with respect to any Award upon the Participant’s death. A beneficiary, legal
guardian, legal representative, or other person claiming any rights under the Plan is subject to all terms and conditions of the Plan and any
Award Certificate applicable to the Participant, except to the extent the Plan and Award Certificate otherwise provide, and to any additional
restrictions deemed necessary or appropriate by the Committee. If no beneficiary has been designated or survives the Participant, any
payment due to the Participant shall be made to the Participant’s estate. Subject to the foregoing, a beneficiary designation may be changed
or revoked by a Participant, in the manner provided by the Company, at any time provided the change or revocation is filed with the
Company.
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13.5. STOCK TRADING RESTRICTIONS. All Stock issuable under the Plan is subject to any stop-transfer orders and

other restrictions as the Committee deems necessary or advisable to comply with federal or state securities laws, rules and regulations and
the rules of any Exchange or automated quotation system on which the Stock is listed, quoted, or traded. The Committee may place legends
on any Stock certificate or issue instructions to the transfer agent to reference restrictions applicable to the Stock.

 
13.6 MINIMUM VESTING REQUIREMENTS. Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan to the contrary, equity-based

Awards granted under the Plan shall vest no earlier than the first anniversary of the date the Award is granted; provided, that the following
Awards shall not be subject to the foregoing minimum vesting requirement: any (i) substitute Awards granted pursuant to Section 13.11, (ii)
Shares delivered in lieu of fully-vested cash Awards, (iii) Awards to Non-Employee Directors that vest on the earlier of the one-year
anniversary of the date of grant and the next annual meeting of stockholders which is approximately one year after the immediately
preceding year’s annual meeting, and (iv) any additional Awards the Committee may grant, up to a maximum of five percent (5%) of the
available share reserve authorized for issuance under the Plan pursuant to Section 5.1 (subject to adjustment under Section 14.1); and,
provided, further, that the foregoing restriction does not apply to accelerated exercisability or vesting of any Award in cases of death,
Disability or a Change in Control.
 

13.7. ACCELERATION UPON DEATH OR DISABILITY. Except as otherwise provided in the Award Certificate or any
special Plan document governing an Award, upon the termination of a person’s Continuous Service by reason of death or Disability:

 
(i) each of that Participant’s outstanding Options and SARs, or the portions of such outstanding Options and

SARs, as applicable, that are solely subject to time-based vesting requirements shall become vested and fully exercisable as of
the date of termination;  

 
(ii) each of that Participant’s other outstanding Awards, or the portions of such other outstanding Awards, as

applicable, that are solely subject to time-based vesting restrictions shall become vested, and such restrictions shall lapse as of
the date of termination; and
 

(iii) each of that Participant’s outstanding Options, SARs and other Awards, or the portions of such outstanding
Options, SARs and other Awards, as applicable, that are solely subject to performance-vesting requirements or restrictions (the
“Performance-Vesting Awards”) shall be prorated by multiplying the number of shares or units underlying such Performance-
Vesting Award by a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of days elapsed from the commencement of the applicable
performance period through the date of termination, and the denominator of which is the number of days in such performance
period (each a “Prorated Portion”). The Prorated Portion shall not expire on account of the Participant’s termination and shall
remain eligible to vest based upon actual performance over the applicable performance period, as provided in the Award
Certificate or other special Plan document governing the Award.  The remainder of each Performance-Vesting Award (the non-
Prorated Portion) shall be forfeited and canceled as of the date of termination.

 
To the extent that this provision causes Incentive Stock Options to exceed the dollar limitation set forth in Code Section 422(d), the

excess Options shall be deemed to be Nonstatutory Stock Options.
 
13.8. EFFECT OF A CHANGE IN CONTROL. The provisions of this Section 13.8 shall apply in the case of a Change in

Control, unless otherwise provided in the Award Certificate or any special Plan document or separate agreement with a Participant governing
an Award.
 

(a) Awards Assumed or Substituted by Surviving Entity. With respect to Awards assumed by the Surviving Entity
or otherwise equitably converted or substituted in connection with a Change in Control: if within two years after the effective date
of the Change in Control, a Participant’s employment is terminated without Cause or the Participant resigns for Good
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Reason, then (i) all of that Participant’s outstanding Options, SARs and other Awards in the nature of rights that may be exercised
shall become fully exercisable, (ii) all time-based vesting restrictions on his or her outstanding Awards shall lapse, and (iii) the
payout level under all of that Participant’s performance-based Awards that were outstanding immediately prior to effective time of
the Change in Control shall be determined and deemed to have been earned as of the date of termination based upon (A) an
assumed achievement of all relevant performance goals at the “target” level if the date of termination occurs during the first half of
the applicable performance period, or (B) the actual level of achievement of all relevant performance goals against target (measured
as of the end of the calendar quarter immediately preceding the date of termination), if the date of termination occurs during the
second half of the applicable performance period, and, in either such case, there shall be a prorata payout to such Participant
within sixty (60) days following the date of termination of employment (unless a later date is required by Section 17.3 hereof),
based upon the length of time within the performance period that has elapsed prior to the date of termination of employment. With
regard to each Award, a Participant shall not be considered to have resigned for Good Reason unless either (i) the Award
Certificate includes such provision or (ii) the Participant is party to an employment, severance or similar agreement with the
Company or an Affiliate that includes provisions in which the Participant is permitted to resign for Good Reason. Any Awards shall
thereafter continue or lapse in accordance with the other provisions of the Plan and the Award Certificate. To the extent that this
provision causes Incentive Stock Options to exceed the dollar limitation set forth in Code Section 422(d), the excess Options shall
be deemed to be Nonstatutory Stock Options.

 
(b) Awards not Assumed or Substituted by Surviving Entity. Upon the occurrence of a Change in Control, and

except with respect to any Awards assumed by the Surviving Entity or otherwise equitably converted or substituted in connection
with the Change in Control in a manner approved by the Committee or the Board: (i) outstanding Options, SARs, and other
Awards in the nature of rights that may be exercised shall become fully exercisable, (ii) time-based vesting restrictions on
outstanding Awards shall lapse, and (iii) the target payout opportunities attainable under outstanding performance-based Awards
shall be deemed to have been fully earned as of the effective date of the Change in Control based upon (A) an assumed
achievement of all relevant performance goals at the “target” level if the Change in Control occurs during the first half of the
applicable performance period, or (B) the actual level of achievement of all relevant performance goals against target measured as
of the date of the Change in Control, if the Change in Control occurs during the second half of the applicable performance period,
and, in either such case, subject to Section 16.3, there shall be a prorata payout to Participants within sixty (60) days following the
Change in Control (unless a later date is required by Section 16.3 hereof), based upon the length of time within the performance
period that has elapsed prior to the Change in Control. Any Awards shall thereafter continue or lapse in accordance with the other
provisions of the Plan and the Award Certificate. To the extent that this provision causes Incentive Stock Options to exceed the
dollar limitation set forth in Code Section 422(d), the excess Options shall be deemed to be Nonstatutory Stock Options.

 
13.9. DISCRETION TO ACCELERATE AWARDS. Regardless of whether an event has occurred as described in Section

13.7 or 13.8 above, but subject to Section 13.6, the Committee may in its sole discretion at any time determine that all or a portion of a
Participant’s Options, SARs, and other Awards in the nature of rights that may be exercised shall become fully or partially exercisable, that all
or a part of the time-based vesting restrictions on all or a portion of the outstanding Awards shall lapse, and/or that any performance-based
criteria with respect to any Awards shall be deemed to be wholly or partially satisfied, in each case, as of such date as the Committee may, in
its sole discretion, declare.  The Committee may discriminate among Participants and among Awards granted to a Participant in exercising its
discretion pursuant to this Section 13.9.  

 
13.10. FORFEITURE EVENTS. Awards under the Plan shall be subject to any compensation recoupment policy that the

Company may adopt from time to time that is applicable by its terms to the Participant. In addition, the Committee may specify in an Award
Certificate that the Participant’s rights, payments and benefits with respect to an Award shall be subject to reduction, cancellation, forfeiture or
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recoupment upon the occurrence of certain specified events, in addition to any otherwise applicable vesting or performance conditions of an
Award. Such events may include, but shall not be limited to, (i) termination of employment for cause, (ii) violation of material Company or
Affiliate policies, (iii) breach of noncompetition, confidentiality or other restrictive covenants that may apply to the Participant, (iv) other conduct
by the Participant that is detrimental to the business or reputation of the Company or any Affiliate, or (v) a later determination that the vesting
of, or amount realized from, a Performance Award was based on materially inaccurate financial statements or any other materially inaccurate
performance metric criteria, whether or not the Participant caused or contributed to such material inaccuracy.  Nothing contained herein or in
any Award Certificate prohibits the Participant from: (1) reporting possible violations of federal law or regulations, including any possible
securities laws violations, to any governmental agency or entity; (2) making any other disclosures that are protected under the whistleblower
provisions of federal law or regulations; or (3) otherwise fully participating in any federal whistleblower programs, including but not limited to
any such programs managed by the U.S. Securities and Exchange.

 
13.11. SUBSTITUTE AWARDS. The Committee may grant Awards under the Plan in substitution for stock and stock-

based awards held by employees of another entity who become employees of the Company or an Affiliate as a result of a merger or
consolidation of the former employing entity with the Company or an Affiliate or the acquisition by the Company or an Affiliate of property or
stock of the former employing corporation. The Committee may direct that the substitute awards be granted on such terms and conditions as
the Committee considers appropriate in the circumstances.

 
ARTICLE 14

CHANGES IN CAPITAL STRUCTURE
 

14.1. MANDATORY ADJUSTMENTS. In the event of a nonreciprocal transaction between the Company and its
stockholders that causes the per-share value of the Stock to change (including, without limitation, any stock dividend, stock split, spin-off,
rights offering, or large nonrecurring cash dividend), the authorization limits under Section 5.1 and Section 5.4 shall be adjusted
proportionately, and the Committee shall make such adjustments to the Plan and Awards as it deems necessary, in its sole discretion, to
prevent dilution or enlargement of rights immediately resulting from such transaction. Action by the Committee may include: (i) adjustment of
the number and kind of shares that may be delivered under the Plan; (ii) adjustment of the number and kind of shares subject to outstanding
Awards; (iii) adjustment of the exercise price of outstanding Awards or the measure to be used to determine the amount of the benefit
payable on an Award; and (iv) any other adjustments that the Committee determines to be equitable. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the
Committee shall not make any adjustments to outstanding Options or SARs that would constitute a modification or substitution of
the stock right under Treas. Reg. Section 1.409A-1(b)(5)(v) that would be treated as the grant of a new stock right or change in the
form of payment for purposes of Code Section 409A.  Without limiting the foregoing, in the event of a subdivision of the outstanding Stock
(stock-split), a declaration of a dividend payable in Shares, or a combination or consolidation of the outstanding Stock into a lesser number of
Shares, the authorization limits under Section 5.1 and Section 5.4 shall automatically be adjusted proportionately, and the Shares then
subject to each Award shall automatically, without the necessity for any additional action by the Committee, be adjusted proportionately
without any change in the aggregate purchase price therefor.  
 

14.2 DISCRETIONARY ADJUSTMENTS. Upon the occurrence or in anticipation of any corporate event or transaction
involving the Company (including, without limitation, any merger, reorganization, recapitalization, combination or exchange of shares, or any
transaction described in Section 14.1), the Committee may, in its sole discretion, provide (i) that Awards will be settled in cash rather than
Stock, (ii) that Awards will become immediately vested and non-forfeitable and exercisable (in whole or in part) and will expire after a
designated period of time to the extent not then exercised, (iii) that Awards will be assumed by another party to a transaction or otherwise be
equitably converted or substituted in connection with such transaction, (iv) that outstanding Awards may be settled by payment in cash or
cash equivalents equal to the excess of the fair market value of the underlying Stock, as of a specified date associated with the transaction
(or the per-shares transaction price), over the exercise or base price of the Award, (v) that performance targets and performance periods for
Performance Awards will be modified, or (vi) any combination of the foregoing. The Committee’s determination need not be uniform and may
be different for different Participants whether or not such Participants are similarly situated.  
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14.3 GENERAL. Any discretionary adjustments made pursuant to this Article 14 shall be subject to the provisions of

Section 14.2. To the extent that any adjustments made pursuant to this Article 14 cause Incentive Stock Options to cease to qualify as
Incentive Stock Options, such Options shall be deemed to be Nonstatutory Stock Options.
 

ARTICLE 15
AMENDMENT, MODIFICATION AND TERMINATION

 
15.1. AMENDMENT, MODIFICATION AND TERMINATION. The Board or the Committee may, at any time and from time to

time, amend, modify or terminate the Plan without stockholder approval; provided, however, that if an amendment to the Plan would, in the
reasonable opinion of the Board or the Committee, either (i) materially increase the number of Shares available under the Plan (other than
pursuant to Article 14), (ii) expand the types of awards under the Plan, (iii) materially expand the class of participants eligible to participate in
the Plan, (iv) materially extend the term of the Plan, or (v) otherwise constitute a material change requiring stockholder approval under
applicable laws, policies or regulations or the applicable listing or other requirements of an Exchange, then such amendment shall be subject
to stockholder approval; and provided, further, that the Board or Committee may condition any other amendment or modification on the
approval of stockholders of the Company for any reason, including by reason of such approval being necessary or deemed advisable (i) to
comply with the listing or other requirements of an Exchange, or (ii) to satisfy any other tax, securities or other applicable laws, policies or
regulations. Except as otherwise provided in Section 14.1, without the prior approval of the stockholders of the Company, the Plan may not
be amended to permit: (i) the exercise price or base price of an Option or SAR to be reduced, directly or indirectly, (ii) an Option or SAR to be
cancelled in exchange for cash, other Awards, or Options or SARs with an exercise or base price that is less than the exercise price or base
price of the original Option or SAR, or otherwise, or (iii) the Company to repurchase an Option or SAR for value (in cash or otherwise) from a
Participant if the current Fair Market Value of the Shares underlying the Option or SAR is lower than the exercise price or base price per
share of the Option or SAR.
 

15.2. AWARDS PREVIOUSLY GRANTED. At any time and from time to time, the Committee may amend, modify or
terminate any outstanding Award without approval of the Participant; provided, however:
 

(a) Subject to the terms of the applicable Award Certificate, such amendment, modification or termination shall not,
without the Participant’s consent, reduce or diminish the value of such Award determined as if the Award had been exercised, vested,
cashed in or otherwise settled on the date of such amendment or termination (with the per-share value of an Option or SAR for this
purpose being calculated as the excess, if any, of the Fair Market Value as of the date of such amendment or termination over the
exercise or base price of such Award);

 

(b) Except as otherwise provided in Article 14, without the prior approval of the stockholders of the Company: (i)
the exercise price or base price of an Option or SAR may not be reduced, directly or indirectly, (ii) an Option or SAR may not be
cancelled in exchange for Options, SARs or other Awards with an exercise or base price that is less than the exercise price or
base price of the original Option or SAR, or otherwise, and (iii) the Company may not repurchase an Option or SAR for value (in
cash or otherwise) from a Participant if the current Fair Market Value of the Shares underlying the Option or SAR is lower than the
exercise price or base price per share of the Option or SAR; and

 
(c) No termination, amendment, or modification of the Plan shall adversely affect any Award previously granted

under the Plan, without the written consent of the Participant affected thereby. An outstanding Award shall not be deemed to be
“adversely affected” by a Plan amendment if such amendment would not reduce or diminish the value of such Award
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determined as if the Award had been exercised, vested, cashed in or otherwise settled on the date of such amendment (with the
per-share value of an Option or SAR for this purpose being calculated as the excess, if any, of the Fair Market Value as of the date
of such amendment over the exercise or base price of such Award).
 
15.3. COMPLIANCE AMENDMENTS. Notwithstanding anything in the Plan or in any Award Certificate to the contrary, the

Board may amend the Plan or an Award Certificate, to take effect retroactively or otherwise, as deemed necessary or advisable for the
purpose of conforming the Plan or Award Certificate to any present or future law relating to plans of this or similar nature (including, but not
limited to, Section 409A of the Code), and to the administrative regulations and rulings promulgated thereunder. By accepting an Award
under this Plan, a Participant agrees to any amendment made pursuant to this Section 15.3 to any Award granted under the Plan without
further consideration or action.

 
ARTICLE 16

GENERAL PROVISIONS
 

16.1. RIGHTS OF PARTICIPANTS.  
 

(a) No Participant or any Eligible Participant shall have any claim to be granted any Award under the Plan.
Neither the Company, its Affiliates nor the Committee is obligated to treat Participants or Eligible Participants uniformly, and
determinations made under the Plan may be made by the Committee selectively among Eligible Participants who receive, or are
eligible to receive, Awards (whether or not such Eligible Participants are similarly situated).

 
(b) Nothing in the Plan, any Award Certificate or any other document or statement made with respect to the Plan,

shall interfere with or limit in any way the right of the Company or any Affiliate to terminate any Participant’s employment or status
as an officer, or any Participant’s service as a director, at any time, nor confer upon any Participant any right to continue as an
employee, officer, or director of the Company or any Affiliate, whether for the duration of a Participant’s Award or otherwise.

 
(c) Neither an Award nor any benefits arising under this Plan shall constitute an employment contract with the

Company or any Affiliate and, accordingly, subject to Article 15, this Plan and the benefits hereunder may be terminated at any
time in the sole and exclusive discretion of the Committee without giving rise to any liability on the part of the Company or any of
its Affiliates.

 
(d) No Award gives a Participant any of the rights of a stockholder of the Company unless and until Shares are in

fact issued to such person in connection with such Award.
 

16.2. WITHHOLDING. The Company or any Affiliate shall have the authority and the right to deduct or withhold, or require
a Participant to remit to the Company or such Affiliate, an amount sufficient to satisfy federal, state, local and foreign taxes (including the
Participant’s FICA obligation) required by law to be withheld with respect to any exercise, lapse of restriction or other taxable event arising as
a result of the Plan. The obligations of the Company under the Plan will be conditioned on such payment or arrangements, and the Company
or such Affiliate will, to the extent permitted by law, have the right to deduct any such taxes from any payment of any kind otherwise due to
the Participant. Unless otherwise determined by the Committee at the time the Award is granted or thereafter, any such withholding
requirement may be satisfied, in whole or in part, by withholding from the Award Shares having a Fair Market Value on the date of
withholding equal to the amount required to be withheld in accordance with applicable tax requirements, all in accordance with such
procedures as the Committee approves (which procedures may permit withholding up to the maximum individual statutory rate in the
applicable jurisdiction as may be permitted under then-current accounting principles to qualify for equity classification). All such elections
shall be subject to any restrictions or limitations that the Committee, in its sole discretion, deems appropriate.
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16.3. SPECIAL PROVISIONS RELATED TO SECTION 409A OF THE CODE.  
 

(a) General. It is intended that the payments and benefits provided under the Plan and any Award shall either be
exempt from the application of, or comply with, the requirements of Section 409A of the Code. The Plan and all Award Certificates
shall be construed in a manner that effects such intent. Nevertheless, the tax treatment of the benefits provided under the Plan or
any Award is not warranted or guaranteed. Neither the Company, its Affiliates nor their respective directors, officers, employees or
advisers (other than in his or her capacity as a Participant) shall be held liable for any taxes, interest, penalties or other monetary
amounts owed by any Participant or other taxpayer as a result of the Plan or any Award.
 

(b) Definitional Restrictions. Notwithstanding anything in the Plan or in any Award Certificate to the contrary, to
the extent that any amount or benefit that would constitute non-exempt “deferred compensation” for purposes of Section 409A of
the Code (“Non-Exempt Deferred Compensation”) would otherwise be payable or distributable, or a different form of payment
(e.g., lump sum or installment) of such Non-Exempt Deferred Compensation would be effected, under the Plan or any Award
Certificate by reason of the occurrence of a Change in Control, or the Participant’s Disability or separation from service, such Non-
Exempt Deferred Compensation will not be payable or distributable to the Participant, and/or such different form of payment will
not be effected, by reason of such circumstance unless the circumstances giving rise to such Change in Control, Disability or
separation from service meet any description or definition of “change in control event”, “disability” or “separation from service”, as
the case may be, in Section 409A of the Code and applicable regulations (without giving effect to any elective provisions that may
be available under such definition). This provision does not affect the dollar amount or prohibit the vesting of any Award upon a
Change in Control, Disability or separation from service, however defined. If this provision prevents the payment or distribution of
any amount or benefit, or the application of a different form of payment of any amount or benefit, such payment or distribution shall
be made at the time and in the form that would have applied absent the non-409A-conforming event.
 

(c) Allocation among Possible Exemptions. If any one or more Awards granted under the Plan to a Participant
could qualify for any separation pay exemption described in Treas. Reg. Section 1.409A-1(b)(9), but such Awards in the aggregate
exceed the dollar limit permitted for the separation pay exemptions, the Company (acting through the CEO or the Committee, in
the case of executive officers and directors, or the Head of Human Resources, in the case of Participants other than executive
officers and directors) shall determine which Awards or portions thereof will be subject to such exemptions.
 

(d) Six-Month Delay in Certain Circumstances. Notwithstanding anything in the Plan or in any Award Certificate
to the contrary, if any amount or benefit that would constitute Non-Exempt Deferred Compensation would otherwise be payable or
distributable under this Plan or any Award Certificate by reason of a Participant’s separation from service during a period in which
the Participant is a Specified Employee, then, subject to any permissible acceleration of payment by the Committee under Treas.
Reg. Section 1.409A-3(j)(4)(ii) (domestic relations order), (j)(4)(iii) (conflicts of interest), or (j)(4)(vi) (payment of employment
taxes):

 
(i) the amount of such Non-Exempt Deferred Compensation that would otherwise be payable during the six-

month period immediately following the Participant’s separation from service will be accumulated through and paid or
provided on the first day of the seventh month following the Participant’s separation from service (or, if the Participant
dies during such period, within 30 days after the Participant’s death) (in either case, the “Required Delay Period”); and
 

(ii) the normal payment or distribution schedule for any remaining payments or distributions will resume at the
end of the Required Delay Period.
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(e) Installment Payments. If, pursuant to an Award, a Participant is entitled to a series of installment payments,
such Participant’s right to the series of installment payments shall be treated as a right to a series of separate payments and not to
a single payment. For purposes of the preceding sentence, the term “series of installment payments” has the meaning provided in
Treas. Reg. Section 1.409A-2(b)(2)(iii) (or any successor thereto).

 
(f) Timing of Release of Claims. Whenever an Award conditions a payment or benefit on the Participant’s

execution and non-revocation of a release of claims, such release must be executed and all revocation periods shall have expired
within 60 days after the date of termination of the Participant’s employment; failing which such payment or benefit shall be
forfeited. If such payment or benefit is exempt from Section 409A of the Code, the Company may elect to make or commence
payment at any time during such 60-day period. If such payment or benefit constitutes Non-Exempt Deferred Compensation, then,
subject to subsection (d) above, (i) if such 60-day period begins and ends in a single calendar year, the Company may make or
commence payment at any time during such period at its discretion, and (ii) if such 60-day period begins in one calendar year and
ends in the next calendar year, the payment shall be made or commence during the second such calendar year (or any later date
specified for such payment under the applicable Award), even if such signing and non-revocation of the release occur during the
first such calendar year included within such 60-day period. In other words, a Participant is not permitted to influence the calendar
year of payment based on the timing of signing the release.

 
(g) Permitted Acceleration. The Company shall have the sole authority to make any accelerated distribution

permissible under Treas. Reg. Section 1.409A-3(j)(4) to Participants of deferred amounts, provided that such distribution(s) meets
the requirements of Treas. Reg. Section 1.409A-3(j)(4).  
 
16.4. UNFUNDED STATUS OF AWARDS. The Plan is intended to be an “unfunded” plan for incentive and deferred

compensation. With respect to any payments not yet made to a Participant pursuant to an Award, nothing contained in the Plan or any Award
Certificate shall give the Participant any rights that are greater than those of a general creditor of the Company or any Affiliate. In its sole
discretion, the Committee may authorize the creation of grantor trusts or other arrangements to meet the obligations created under the Plan
to deliver Shares or payments in lieu of Shares or with respect to Awards. This Plan is not intended to be subject to ERISA.
 

16.5. RELATIONSHIP TO OTHER BENEFITS. No payment under the Plan shall be taken into account in determining any
benefits under any pension, retirement, savings, profit sharing, group insurance, welfare or benefit plan of the Company or any Affiliate
unless provided otherwise in such other plan. Nothing contained in the Plan will prevent the Company from adopting other or additional
compensation arrangements, subject to stockholder approval if such approval is required; and such arrangements may be either generally
applicable or applicable only in specific cases.
 

16.6. EXPENSES. The expenses of administering the Plan shall be borne by the Company and its Affiliates.
 
16.7. TITLES AND HEADINGS. The titles and headings of the Sections in the Plan are for convenience of reference only,

and in the event of any conflict, the text of the Plan, rather than such titles or headings, shall control.
 
16.8. GENDER AND NUMBER. Except where otherwise indicated by the context, any masculine term used herein also

shall include the feminine; the plural shall include the singular and the singular shall include the plural.
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16.9. FRACTIONAL SHARES. No fractional Shares shall be issued and the Committee shall determine, in its discretion,

whether cash shall be given in lieu of fractional Shares or whether such fractional Shares shall be eliminated by rounding up or down.
 
16.10. GOVERNMENT AND OTHER REGULATIONS.  

 
(a) Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan, no Participant who acquires Shares pursuant to the Plan

may, during any period of time that such Participant is an affiliate of the Company (within the meaning of the rules and regulations
of the Securities and Exchange Commission under the 1933 Act), sell such Shares, unless such offer and sale is made (i)
pursuant to an effective registration statement under the 1933 Act, which is current and includes the Shares to be sold, or (ii)
pursuant to an appropriate exemption from the registration requirement of the 1933 Act, such as that set forth in Rule 144
promulgated under the 1933 Act.

 
(b) Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan, if at any time the Committee shall determine that the

registration, listing or qualification of the Shares covered by an Award upon any Exchange or under any foreign, federal, state or
local law or practice, or the consent or approval of any governmental regulatory body, is necessary or desirable as a condition of,
or in connection with, the granting of such Award or the purchase or receipt of Shares thereunder, no Shares may be purchased,
delivered or received pursuant to such Award unless and until such registration, listing, qualification, consent or approval shall
have been effected or obtained free of any condition not acceptable to the Committee. Any Participant receiving or purchasing
Shares pursuant to an Award shall make such representations and agreements and furnish such information as the Committee
may request to assure compliance with the foregoing or any other applicable legal requirements. The Company shall not be
required to issue or deliver any certificate or certificates for Shares under the Plan prior to the Committee’s determination that all
related requirements have been fulfilled. The Company shall in no event be obligated to register any securities pursuant to the
1933 Act or applicable state or foreign law or to take any other action in order to cause the issuance and delivery of such
certificates to comply with any such law, regulation or requirement.

 
16.11. GOVERNING LAW. To the extent not governed by federal law, the Plan and all Award Certificates shall be

construed in accordance with and governed by the laws of the State of Delaware.
 
16.12. SEVERABILITY. In the event that any provision of this Plan is found to be invalid or otherwise unenforceable under

any applicable law, such invalidity or unenforceability will not be construed as rendering any other provisions contained herein as invalid or
unenforceable, and all such other provisions will be given full force and effect to the same extent as though the invalid or unenforceable
provision was not contained herein.
 

16.13. NO LIMITATIONS ON RIGHTS OF COMPANY. The grant of any Award shall not in any way affect the right or
power of the Company to make adjustments, reclassification or changes in its capital or business structure or to merge, consolidate, dissolve,
liquidate, sell or transfer all or any part of its business or assets.  The Plan shall not restrict the authority of the Company, for proper
corporate purposes, to draft or assume awards, other than under the Plan, to or with respect to any person. If the Committee so directs, the
Company may issue or transfer Shares to an Affiliate, for such lawful consideration as the Committee may specify, upon the condition or
understanding that the Affiliate will transfer such Shares to a Participant in accordance with the terms of an Award granted to such Participant
and specified by the Committee pursuant to the provisions of the Plan.
 

*******************
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The foregoing is hereby acknowledged as being the CommScope Holding Company, Inc. Amended and Restated 2019 Long-Term

Incentive Plan, which was amended and restated by the Board on February 19, 2020, contingent upon approval by the stockholders on May
8, 2020.
 
 COMMSCOPE HOLDING COMPANY, INC.
  

 By: Frank B. Wyatt, II
  

 Its: Senior Vice President, Chief Legal Officer and Secretary
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COMMSCOPE HOLDING COMPANY, INC. Proxy for Annual Meeting of Stockholders on May 8, 2020 Solicited on Behalf of the Board of Directors The undersigned, revoking all previous proxies, hereby appoints Alexander W. Pease and Frank B. Wyatt, II, and each of them, with full power of substitution and power to act alone, as proxies to vote all the shares of Common Stock which the undersigned would be entitled to vote if personally present and acting at the Annual Meeting of Stockholders of CommScope Holding Company, Inc., to be held May 8, 2020 at 1:00 p.m., local time, at WSFS Bank Center, 500 Delaware Avenue, Suite 1500, Wilmington, DE 19801, and at any adjournments or postponements thereof, as indicated on the reverse side and in their discretion upon such other matters as may properly come before the meeting. (Continued and to be signed on the reverse side.) 1.1 14475

 



 
 

 
Annual meeting of stockholders of commscope holding company, inc. May 8, 2020 go green e-consent makes it easy to go paperless. With e-consent, you can quickly access your proxy material, statements and other eligible documents online, while reducing costs, clutter and paper waste. Enroll today via www.astfinancial.com to enjoy online access. Series a convertible preferred stock notice of internet availability of proxy material: the annual report, notice of meeting and proxy statement are available at http://ir.commscope.com/financial-information/annual-reports please sign, date and mail your proxy card in the envelope provided as soon as possible. Please sign, date and mail your proxy card in the envelope provided as soon as possible. 00033033333040303000 0 050820 the board of directors recommends a vote "for" each of the nominees listed in proposals 1 and 2, "for" proposals 3, 4, 6 and 7 and for "every year" on proposal 5. Please sign, date and return promptly in the enclosed envelope. Please mark your vote in blue or black ink as shown here this proxy when properly executed will be voted as directed herein by the undersigned shareholder. If no direction is made, this proxy will be voted for each of the nominees in proposals 1 and 2, for proposals 3, 4, 6 and 7 and for "every year" on proposal 5. The undersigned hereby acknowledges receipt of the notice of annual meeting and proxy
statement furnished in connection therewith, and hereby ratifies all that said proxies may do by virtue hereof. To change the address on your account, please check the box at right and indicate your new address in the address space above. Please note that changes to the registered name(s) on the account may not be submitted via this method. 1. Election of two directors by holders of series a convertible preferred stock: a. Daniel f. Akerson b. Patrick r. Mccarter 2. Election of three class i directors: a. Frank m. Drendel b. Joanne m. Maguire c. Thomas j. Manning 3. Ratification of the appointment of ernst & young llp as the company’s independent registered public accounting firm for 2020. 4. Non-binding, advisory vote to approve the compensation of our named executive officers as described in the proxy statement. 5. Non-binding, advisory vote to approve the frequency of future advisory votes on the compensation of our named executive officers. 6. Approval of the issuance of common shares in connection with certain rights of holders of the company's series a convertible preferred stock issued in connection with the arris acquisition. 7. Approval of additional shares under the company’s 2019 long-term incentive plan. Note: to transact any other business that may properly come before the annual meeting or any adjournment or postponement thereof. For against abstain every year every two years
every three years abstain  for against abstain signature of stockholder date: signature of stockholder date: note: please sign exactly as your name or names appear on this proxy. When shares are held jointly, each holder should sign. When signing as executor, administrator, attorney, trustee or guardian, please give full title as such. If the signer is a corporation, please sign full corporate name by duly authorized officer, giving full title as such. If signer is a partnership, please sign in partnership name by authorized person.

 



 
 

 
Annual meeting of stockholders of commscope holding company, inc. May 8, 2020 internet - access “www.voteproxy.com” and follow the on-screen instructions or scan the qr code with your smartphone. Have your proxy card available when you access the web page. Telephone - call toll-free 1-800-proxies (1-800-776-9437) in the united states or 1-718-921-8500 from foreign countries from any touch-tone telephone and follow the instructions. Have your proxy card available when you call. Vote online/phone until 11:59 pm est the day before the meeting. Mail - sign, date and mail your proxy card in the envelope provided as soon as possible. In person - you may vote your shares in person by attending the annual meeting. Go green - e-consent makes it easy to go paperless. With e-consent, you can quickly access your proxy material, statements and other eligible documents online, while reducing costs, clutter and paper waste. Enroll today via www.astfinancial.com to enjoy online access. Proxy voting instructions company number account number notice of internet availability of proxy material: the annual report, notice of meeting and proxy statement are available at http://ir.commscope.com/financial-information/annual-reports please detach along perforated line and mail in the envelope provided if you are not voting via telephone or the internet. 00033033333040303000 0 050820 the board of directors
recommends a vote "for" each of the nominees listed in proposals 1 and 2, "for" proposals 3, 4, 6 and 7 and for "every year" on proposal 5. Please sign, date and return promptly in the enclosed envelope. Please mark your vote in blue or black ink as shown herethis proxy when properly executed will be voted as directed herein by the undersigned shareholder. If no direction is made, this proxy will be voted for each of the nominees in proposals 1 and 2, for proposals 3, 4, 6 and 7 and for "every year" on proposal 5. The undersigned hereby acknowledges receipt of the notice of annual meeting and proxy statement furnished in connection therewith, and hereby ratifies all that said proxies may do by virtue hereof. To change the address on your account, please check the box at right and indicate your new address in the address space above. Please note that changes to the registered name(s) on the account may not be submitted via this method. 1. Election of two directors by holders of series a convertible preferred stock: a. Daniel f. Akerson b. Patrick r. Mccarter 2. Election of three class i directors: a. Frank m. Drendel b. Joanne m. Maguire c. Thomas j. Manning 3. Ratification of the appointment of ernst & young llp as the company’s independent registered public accounting firm for 2020. 4. Non-binding, advisory vote to approve the compensation of our named executive officers as described in the
proxy statement. 5. Non-binding, advisory vote to approve the frequency of future advisory votes on the compensation of our named executive officers. 6. Approval of the issuance of common shares in connection with certain rights of holders of the company's series a convertible preferred stock issued in connection with the arris acquisition. 7. Approval of additional shares under the company’s 2019 long-term incentive plan. Note: to transact any other business that may properly come before the annual meeting or any adjournment or postponement thereof. For against abstain every year every two years every three years abstain  for against abstain signature of stockholder date: signature of stockholder date: note: please sign exactly as your name or names appear on this proxy. When shares are held jointly, each holder should sign. When signing as executor, administrator, attorney, trustee or guardian, please give full title as such. If the signer is a corporation, please sign full corporate name by duly authorized officer, giving full title as such. If signer is a partnership, please sign in partnership name by authorized person.

 



 
 

 
COMMSCOPE HOLDING COMPANY, INC. Proxy for Annual Meeting of Stockholders on May 8, 2020 Solicited on Behalf of the Board of Directors The undersigned, revoking all previous proxies, hereby appoints Alexander W. Pease and Frank B. Wyatt, II, and each of them, with full power of substitution and power to act alone, as proxies to vote all the shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock which the undersigned would be entitled to vote if personally present and acting at the Annual Meeting of Stockholders of CommScope Holding Company, Inc., to be held May 8, 2020 at 1:00 p.m., local time, at WSFS Bank Center, 500 Delaware Avenue, Suite 1500, Wilmington, DE 19801, and at any adjournments or postponements thereof, as indicated on the reverse side and in their discretion upon such other matters as may properly come before the meeting. (Continued and to be signed on the reverse side.) 1.1 14475

 


